
I-D. PUBLIC OFFERINGS 

IN'l'RODUCTlON 

The only public offerings by the Penn Central follmving the merger 
of the two railroads were a $50 million Pennco debenture issue in 
December 1969 and a $100 million Penneo tlebenture offering in the 
spring of 1970.162163104 The latter offering was never sold. There was 
no requirement that the offerings be registered with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission because the issuing company, Pennco, 
was under the jurisdiction of the Interstate Commerce Commission. 
The Interstate Commerce Commission rules require that companies 
under its jurisdiction make I1pplications t.o the ICC for permission to 
increl1se their debt obligations. The purpose is to determine whether 
an increase in debt is justified in the public. interest. l05 There were no 
rules, however, on the use or composition of any selling literature 
disseminated to the public. loO 

Norml1lly, companies under ICC jurisdiction prepare I1nd distribute 
an offering c.ircular in the general forml1t of a prospectus for a registered 
offering because the civil liability provisions of the Federal seclll"ities 
laws concerning disclosure apply to selling literature used by these 
eompanies. Despite the I1bsenee of a· requirement that offerings be 
filed with, and subject to review by, the SEC the threat of civil lia­
bility forces issuers and underwriters to be cftUtious in their use of 
sl1les literature. 

1i'IFTY ll1lLLION DOl.LAH DEBENTURE OFFERING 

The $50 million Pennco debenture offering was made on December 
16, 1969. The underwriters were First Boston Corp. & Glore, Forgan, 
Wm. R. StalLts, Inc. The debentures were exchangeable for shares of 
the common stock of Norfolk & Western Ry. CO.1

67 The N. & W. 
shares mvned by Pennco had been its most valuable asset both in 
underlying value and production of cash income. Because of the 
exchange feature, these debentures kept their value even after the 
bankruptcy of the railroad. The underwriters have cited this exehunge 
value as one of the reasons why the circular contains no information 
about the Transportation Co. 01' the holding company. The informa­
tion in the circular is limited to the Pennsvlvama Co. and Norfolk 
& Western. " 

'" The Transportation Co. did issue commercial paper which was made available to public investors but 
no offering circular was used or was required by the ICC. 

1113 Both offerings were made [or the stated purpose o[ suppl;~ng funds [or the Transportation CO. 
IDI Penneo made a $35 million private plncement o[ collateral trust bonds in July, 1969. The proceeds were 

suoolied to the parent company. 
I" The Penn Central had to seek and obtain ICC approval to inc.rease debt under the revolving credit 

agreement and the commercial paper authorization as well as [or th~se public offerings. 
lOG The Federal securities laws reauire issuers (except exempted issuers. such as those regulated by the 

ICC) to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission a registration statement contnining ~peeific types 
of information. There arc additional rules governing the distribution of,elling literature to the public. 

10' Exchangeable from Nov. 1, 19iO, to Apr. 15, Wig, at the rate o[ 12.2 sbares of N. & W. for each $1.000 
debenture (Le. at a price of $81.9i pp.r share of N. & W.). 

(108) 
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Despite the fact that investors have been protected by the exchange­
ability provision, the circular presents a misleading picture of Pennco, 
particularly. in connection with Great Southwest. The assets are 
described in the introduction as constituting $922 million in market 
value on December 10, 1969. Of this $922 million the Great Southwest 
stock comprised $435,400,000. 168 The market value of Pennco's GSa 
holding was as large as it was because of failure to disclose the true 
state of affairs at GSa. The overvaluation was known to Glore, Forgan 
because it had been the designated underwriter on a GSa offering in 
October 1969, which had to be abandoned because of the adverse dis­
closure that would have been required. 169 

The circular contained other failures to fullv disclose the affairs of 
Pennco. The apparent dilution of N. & W. stock which had occurred in 
1968 was described at the end of the previous section of this reportYo 

This would require Pennco to free N. & W. stock from pledge or to 
purchase more on the open market. No mention of this additional 
burden was made in the circular and Pennco never informed the 
Pennco preferred shareholders of this apparent dilution. 

The circular mentions a proposed sale of 2 million share's of Penn­
co's GSa stock to three senior officers of GSa for $20 million in 
cash and $16 million in notes. This was a frivolous proposal which was 
was never completed 171 and created a false impression as to the 
possible receipt of cash and as to the value of GSa stock. The circular 
failed to disclose a simultaneous proposal, which was actually carried 
out, to have Pennco accept GSa stock from GSa in exchange for the 
cancellation of a debt exceeding $20 million owed by GSa to Pennco, 
principalll for cash advances which had been made to GSa by 
Pennco. 17

· Disclosure of the exchange might have alerted investors 
to the cash drain from the railroad to the real estate subsidiaries. 

10' Almost all of Pennco's assets were stocks and bonds. The followin(! is a list of stocks and bonds owned 
by P~nneo at Dec. 10, 196U: (l'rom the Penneo circular, footnotes omitted, p. 7.) 

[Doliar amounts in millions] 

SecUlity 

Arvida Corp, common stock ____ ........ _ .. __ .. ______ ... __ 
Buckeye Pipe Line Co., common stock _____________ .. _ .. . 
Detroit, Toledo & Ironton Railroad Co., capital stock ____ _ 
Great Southwest Corp., common stock _________________ .• 
Great Southwest Corp.: 

Shares 

3,529,277 
14,000 

245,329 
22,347,240 

6 percent cumulative preferred stock, series A......... 3,500,000 
7 percent cumulative preferred stock, series B......... 3,650,000 
7.6 perccnt cumulative preferred stock, series C __ ..... 16,410,980 

Norfolk & Western Railway Co.: 
Common stock _____ ...... ____ .. ____ .......... ____ .. __ 1,204,105 
Common stock with exchange rights ...... _........... 400,000 

Philadelphia, Baltimore & Washington Rllilroad Co., 
capital stock. __ ' __ . __ . __ ..... ______________________ ..... 

Wabash Railroad Co.: 
~77, 259 

Common stock_ ........ ______________ .. ______________ 5U5,255 
4).<2 percent preferred stock .... ___________________ .. __ . 101,836 

Other ............•.... _. _. _. __ .. __________ ............... _ .. _ .. _ .... ___ _ 

TotaL __ . __ ' __ . __ . ____ . __ .. ___ . ____ .. ______________ .. ______ ... ___ _ 

'"~ See page 137 et seq. 
170 Sec page 104 et seq. 
'" See page 142 et seq. 
'" See section I-E of this report on Great Southwest for details. 

Estimated 
Book market 
value value 

$22.0 $41. 5 
100.3 101. 8 
25.9 40.7 
5U.l 435.4 

3.5 2.3 
.5 2.8 

2.4 13.8 

67.5 91.8 
52.0 31. 2 

37.2 34.4 

7.3 51. 1 
3.8 6.0 

92.5 69. ~ 

474.0 D22.0 
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Pelm Central avoided disclosing these and other ad verse facts 
about the railroad, Pennco, or GSD in the $50 million circular. As 
described below, it was not quite so fortunate in the next public 
offering. 

ONE HUNDRED :!',;!ILLION DOLLAR DEBENTURE OFFERING 

In 1970, the last vehicle that might be used for an attempt at a 
major financing was the Pennsylvania Co~ The Pennsylvania Co. itself 
had inherent drawbacks as a financing vehicle at this tilne and the 
drawbacks were becoming ever more serious. Debt instruments, in­
cluding that $50 million December 1969 debenture offerin&", contained 
convenlLnts restricting the amount of debt that could be mcurred by 
the Pennsylvania Co. in relation to the assets.173 The borrowings of 
Pennco had lllready increased by $85 million in 1969. At the same time 
the market price of Great Southwest shares, Pennco's principal asset, 
in terms of market price, was steadily declining in late 1969 and 
el1rly 1970. Penn Central management realized that the decline would 
continue as the deteriorating condition of Great Southwest was grad­
ually being perceived by investors. The Penn Central, however, had 
no choice about using Pennco as a financing vehicle because money was 
needed and there were no other means of obtaining that moDtw. 

On February 2,1970, O'Herron cl1lled N. Gregory Doescher of First 
Boston Corp. to inquire about the possibility of a debenture issue for 
Pennsylvania Co. which would include warrants for Penn Central Co. 
stock "and Great Southwest stock owned by Pennsylvania Co. The 
fact that this proposal was coming less than 2 months after Pennco had 
complet.ed a similar offering Wl1S a clear indication of the serious cash 
drain and the limited financing possibilities. Despite this warning, the­
llnderwriters began preparations for the offering. 

WAItRANTS FOR GREAT SOUTHWEST AND PENN CEN'I'RAL STOCK 

One complication ,,"as encountered immediately. Penn Central man­
agement ha.d proposed the use of Great Southwest wn.rrants despite the 
fact that Great Southwest had been forced to abandon a public offer­
ing in late 1969 because of the ad verse disclosure which would have 
been required in a registration statement. Glore Forgan, which had 
been the proposed manager of the abandoned Great Southwest 
offering, knew of the reasons for the abandonment. First Boston, the 
lead manager on the Pennco offerings, did not know about the aban­
doned Great Southwest offering.174 Doescher realized, however, that 
the GSC Wfl,rmnts and the holding company warrants were needed as 
"sweetners" because of the prevailing high interest rate and the fact 
that the Pennsylvania Co. debentures would be less than premi.um 
grade. Doescher understood that these factors might have required an 
interest rate so high that it would be self-defeating in that investors 
would he frightened awa.y by an offering thut had to pay such high 
rates. 

Penn Central had hoped to avoid the disclosure problems by deluying 
registration of thewarrunts until their exercise date on July 1,1971.1i5 

m The common stock of Pennsylvania Co. itself wns pledged as secmity to the revolving credit. 
m First Bost(.n and Glore }'orgoll were the original eomanagers of the $100,000,000 Penneo deiJenture a.' 

they had been on the $Ii~OOO,ooo offering. Salomon Bros. was added at the request of Penn Central. 
___ l~~.ATI!:,?~e ~ri~~~.br~_~~~~:~ d~~~~,!_eb,.:!:.,.1~7 .. ~nS;a::~~::9~O~~~P~!:~!!>!~"t~e~~t-i~~~~~~I~f~W,~,~~~~~t:. 
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For their own reasons Great Southwest and its outside counsel, George 
Davis, were not happy about that approach. Even if registration could 
be delayed, Great Southwest would have a commitment to future 
registration hanging over it. At that time Great Southwest's affairs 
were deteriorating. This made the prospect of even a future registra­
tion unattractive. Glore Forgan shared Great Southwest's concerns. 
In a February 20, 1970, memorandum of a telephone call between 
David Wilson, Penn Central house counsel, and Davis, Wilson wrote: 

According to Davis, General Hodge and Jack Harned of Glore Forgan, either 
severally or jointly, suggested to Davis that he call me with the proposal that 
Davis and I try to sit down with Mr. Bevan at a very early date and persuade him 
not to market any part of a GSC cornman stock offering at tlllS time. In talking 
with Davis, I gathered that at least Harncd (if not Hodge) was present at the 
general meeting in Ncw York on Wednesday, February 18. After some discussion 
neither Davis nor I could understand why the Glore Forgan people did not take 
that occasion to explain the big problems to 1\1r. Bevan. 

Discussions about the problems involved First Boston and their 
counsel as well as Great Southwest, Penn Central and Glore Forgan 
officials. First Boston was supplied with a copy of the dru.ft prospec­
spectus for the abandoned Great Southwest offering. l7G Sullivan & 
Cromwell, counsel to the underwriters, began having reservations 
about whether registration could be legally. delayed. In early March, 
Sulli van & Cromwell sug!!ested that the underwriters seek a "no­
action" letter from the SEC.177 The matter of the registration of the 
warrants became secondary in late :March l1S the underwriters became 
increasingly alarmed about the debenture offering itself and serious 
disclosure problems. Apparently these revelations eliminated the pos­
sibility that the sale of the Great Southwest and the holding companv 
stock would be allowed without registration. The disclosure that 
would have been required would have compounded the disclosure 
difficulties. The warrants were abandoned in curly AprilYs 

DISCOVERY BY UNDERWRITERS OF PENN CEN'l'RAL'S CRITICAL 

PROBLEMS 

Penn Central had decided to have a simultaneous offering in Europe 
of $20 million in debentures of Penn Central International Corp., 
a newly formed subsidiary of Penn Central CO.179 Therefore two 
circulars were belng prepared simultaneously: the Penn co debenture 
circular and the Penn Central Intemational circular. First Boston 
and Pierson, Heldring & Pierson of Amsterdam were the underwriters 

'" From a memorandum of February 24, 1970 from PaulA. Downey of First Boston Corp. to Doescher: 
"Jack Hllrned called today to say thllt lawyers Crom Great Southwest Ilnd the rail,.oad got togetherwitb 

Jack Arning Monday to discuss the problems oC SEC vs. rCC registration. They will mpetagain on Wednes­
day and will determine at that time what route is to be taken. Harned sent a copy of the Great Southwest 
red herring to N G D, which I have intercepted. The next move is still up to the company and there isnothing 
wecan do for the inunediateCuture except familiarize ourselves with Great Southwest." 

111 Counsel Indicated to the staff that statements in Louis Loss' Treatise on the securities laws raised a 
question about the legality oC offering the warrants without registration. 

IlB From a letter cf April 9, 1970 to Hans l\1untinga, cf Pierson, Heldring & Pierson oC Amsterdam, under­
writers for the proposed debenture offering oC Peun Central International Corp., Crom William Williams of 
Sullivan & Cromwell: 

"On MondllY ruternoon Dave Bevan mot with representatives of First Boston, Glore Forgan and Salomon 
Bros. and proposed that the Peun Central and Great Southwest warrants be eliminated Crom the Pennco 
$100,000,000 offering. Fred Smith oC First Boston believes that one of Bevan's motives was to avoid the dis­
closures with respect to Penn Central and the Railroad which he knew, Crom ow' draCt introduction, we 
would have required. I think this also enabled Bevan to avoid some rather difficult prohlems he WIlS en­
countering with Great Southwest's management and counsel and in gctting the Peun Central Common 
stock into Pennco's hand.s on a basis satisfactory to all concerned." 

". Penn Central International, Il Curacao snbsidiary of th~ holding company, had heen Cormer! Cor pur 
poses oC making short-term SwiSS Crane borrowings. The holding company and its subsidimies were used 
because the debt restrictions of lending agreements did not apply to it. See page 101 et seq. for details of 
efforts to obtain Coreign borrowings during this period. 
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on the International offering. The format of the International offering 
circuln.r was focused more on the holding compa.ny and the railroad 
than was the Pennco circular. 

The preparation of the eircu1n.rs proceeded routinely, except for 
the Wl),Trant question, until mid-1.farch. At that time, the under­
writers began receiving materials, including financial statements, 
from Penn Central. The underwriters' counsel hn,d indicated that the 
preparation of financial information should take the SEC standards 
into consideration even though the circulars would not be filed with 
the SEC. Counsel had also asked for cn,sh flow information. The in­
formation began to alarm the underwriters and counsel for the 
underwriters. They were also concerned about whether the company 
was making full disclosure to them. On :March 18 Bevan and O'Herron 
met with the underwriting group working on the domestic issue. 
Bevan stated that budget projections showed break-even results in 
third quarter of 1970 and a profit in fourth quarter. The statement 
was not based on fact. The railroad had already lost as much as wo,s 
projected for all of 1970 and there was no indication of n reVerS!1l. 
The· underwriters knew or should have known that these projeetions 
were not founded on fact because Penn Central did not have esto,h­
lished forecasts or budgets. From the testimony of Doescher: 

Question. Do you remember exploring the budgets of the Transportation Company 
for 1070 and subsequent years in connection with preparing the ci1'cular? 

Answer. I remember trying to. 

Question. YOtl weren't able to do that? 
Answer. As I recall, they did not have budgets, much to our surprise. 

Question. Is that unusual for a large company like that not to have' budgets? 
Answer. Yes. 

Question. Did they give any explanation for not having them? 
Answer. The explanation was that they were in a situation that was simply 

impossible to forecast. 

Question. What was the factor that created the impossibility to forecast; the fact01' 
or fa~tors, ao they explained it'! 

Answer. The size of the railroa.d and the lack of financial controls and then I 
should say that [at the 'March 18 meetingl Mr. Bevan went on to give his own 
description, his own forecast of the r<1ilroad for 1970 which I have testified pre­
viouslyon. 

Question. Did he indicate how he was able to make such a forecast if the company 
itself' could not pull together the neceswry infonnation? 

Answer. Well, he wasn't necessarily separating himself from the company; 
he was saying that, "No, we don't have detailed financial forecasts, but my own 
forecast would be along these lines." 

Two days later on Friday, :March 20, despite the warning signs, 
the senior First Boston officials decided the domestic issue did not 
present serious problems and that although they were "uncomfortable" 
about the international issue, they would go along beeause of its 
small size. 

At the same time that the underwriters were being appeased by 
Bevan, William Williams, counsel to the unclerwTiters on the inter­
national issue, was becoming increasingly eoneerned about what he 
was seein~. He was particularly concerned about the cash situation 
at Penn Central. In light of the excess of current liabilities, debt clue 
within 5 years and the growing losses, Williams concluded that "there 
was a risk. nerhans a si!!nificant risk. that some time within the next 
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1 or 2 years that the railroad could end up in b!mkl'uptcy whether 
they obtained $120 million or not." On March 19 Willin,ms spoke 
with John Arning, counsel to the underwriters on the domestic 
oifering,leo [mel then with tho working group members representing 
the underwritms on the internntionn.l offering. He told the working 
group members to bring to the fl,ttention of the senior underwl'iting 
representatives the advol'se information that W!LS being uncovered. 

The following day, Williams and other members of the International 
offering working group were in Philadelphia for a regular session on 
the circular. As u. routine question in light of large writeoff" in 1969 
the underwriters asked the Penn Central representatives whether 
any additional writeoffs were contemplated for 1970. The comptroller, 
Hill, stated that a major writeoff of track was being contemplated. 
Hill produced a book describing the writeoff plans. He also submitted 
u draft of the 1969 annual report to shareholders which was to be' 
issued shortly and which contained tbe following statement: 

Redesign of System Trackage.- We have launched a project to st.reamline our 
railroad by eliminating :'),800 miles of surplus track from our total of 40,000 miles. 
This could bring benelits of $90 million of equivalent capital and save $9 million 
annually in operating expenses. 

Eff1ciency of our remaining plant will be enhanced through disposition of these 
unneeded freight facilitie~, seldom-used branch lines, excess yard trackage, and 
duplicate lines. 

Williams indicated that the writeoff against eu.rnings thi1.t would 
result should be disclosed in the circulars and that a press release 
should be issued no later than the issuance of the circular if such 
a writeoff was imminent.lsi E. K. Taylor, Penn Central's house counsel 
who was working on the offering, then suggested that this be taken 
up with Bevan. After Hill had briefed Bevan, the working gTOUp 
was called to Bevan's office. Bevan was annoyed about this question 
of disclosure. He stated that much of any writeoff would be covered 
by the merger reserve and would not have to be reflected in earnino·s. 
He said the abandonment plan was subject to constant change. 
When asked why the abandonmept was mentioned in the annual 
report he said he did not know of it and considered such reference 
to be stupid.182 He left the room to consult with Saunders and returned 
to assure the working group that there were no plans for abandonment 
"in the foreseeable future." Williams pressed Bevan on the meaning 
of "foreseeable future." Bevan finally indica.ted that it would not. 
take place in 1970. Hill agreed with Bevan. Williams was troubled 
by the inconsistency of the earlier position of Hill and Bevil-n's 
position. Williams was also troubled by Bevan's evasiveness: 

Question. Did you get the impression that JJ.fi'. Bcvan's an:;wers to your questions 
werc evasive? 

Witness WILLIAMS. Cn.n I let the record speak for itself? 

Qllestion. Well, I'm asking you for an impression, or what was yow' impression, 
in your efforts to obtain Ms answerY 

Witness WILLIAMS. My impression was that on the subject he wn.s being evn.sive 

150 Although the international olTering and the domestic olTering were bping coordinated, separate working 
groups were working on the oUerings. William Williams was COW1EOI to the international group and John 
Arning was counsel to the dOTIlestic group . 

• " Williams was not taking the position that such a writeoff necessmily would be viewed adversely by 
investors, but only that it was something they should know of. . "2 This was typical of Penn Central disclosure. The annual report st.ressed the benefits amI their inune· 
dincy, Disclosure of any adverse impact on the earnings, however, was ignored, ' 
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Question. Did you consider the possibility that perhaps a writeo.ff had benn con­
templated by the Transportation Co., but th(Lt l'vIr. Bevan was now taking the position 
that it wa-s not contemplated so as to avoid a damaging disclosure in the proposed 
offering circulal''1 

Witness WILLIA.MS. Yes, I considered that: 

Mr. Cooper. You considered that as a possib£li.y? 
Witncss WILLIAMS. Yes. 

Williams was receiving an introduction to the Penn Central stand­
ard of disclosure. 

Arning was out of t.he country from March 21 to April 4 during 
which time Williams covered the work on both the Pennco and the 
International offering. On March 23, Williams informed Arthur Dean, 
senior pl1rtner of Sullivan & Cromwell, about what he had told the 
junior members working on the Internationl11 offering, including the 
possibility of bankruptcy of the railroad. Dean advised him to be sure 
the senior underwriting officers were aware of the problem. Williams 
then contacted the senior members to say that Sullivan & Cromwell 
would not go along with the International offering unless the under­
Wl'iters were fully aware of the facts.ls3 

Doescher of First Boston then reviewed the International circular 
and, after speaking with a representative of Pierson, Heldring & 
Pierson, decided to recommend postponing the International offering 
because the "disclosures are very severe and [the underwriters] did 
not want to be in a position of appearing to sell something abroad 
which could not be 80ld at home" according to a not.e made by Doe­
scher. On the 24th and 26th, further conferences involving the under­
writers, counsel, accountants, and officers of Pernl Central took 
place. At about this time, Dean decided to call a meeting of the top 
officers of each of the underwriters to make certain that they under­
stood the facts. The meeting was set for March 31. This was acknowl­
edged to be an extraordinary meeting which resulted in part from 
Williams' growing concern that "someday. this whole thing would 
blow up, and I wanted to maka sure that the firm was focusing on it 
at the stage where we could do something about it, focusing on it at 
the highest levels * * *." 

Bevan was growing increasing concernecl for his own reasons. Every 
probe was uncovering embarrassing information that was contra­
dicting his representations, which he knew were false. On March 27 
Dean met with Bevan at Bevan's request. Bevan criticized Williams 
ancl asked that Williams be removed. In response, Dean noted that 
Williams belonged to a younger generation and that certain duties 
were imposed by a case known as Bar Chris. (Escott v. BarChris Con­
struction Corp. relates to the liability of parties to a registration 
statement when inadequate investigation is done). Dean declined 
Bevan's request to remove Williams. Williams WD,S then called into 
the meeting. . ' 

In response to a question from Williams about income budgets, 
Bevan stated again that the company would lose no more in 1970 than 
in 1969 although he admitted that first quarter losses were consider­
ably greater than first quarter losses in 1969. Bevan also stated that 
there were assets that could be sold. When Williams referred to the 

193 The International underwriting presented particular problems because its only asset, indirectly. was 
the railroad and the offering wonld require extensive disclosure about the railroad. 
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negative pledge in the revolving credit agreement, Bevan said he was 
negotiating with First National Oity Bank to get a release of the assets. 
In fact, however, First National had been foiled only a short time be­
fore in efforts to get additional security on the outstanding loans and 
certainly would not be inclined to weaken its secured position. 

On March 28, 1970 Williams prepared a memorandum to Dean 
outlining some of his concerns about the company. The memorandum 
was to be distributed to the underwriters at the March 31 meeting. 
Summarized below are a number of observations which Williams made 
in this memorandum: 

(1) Williams noted that "substantially all Railroad's system lines are mort­
gaged or otherwisc encumbcred. A significant portion of its investmcnts is pledged 
as security for Railroad's long-term and short-term indebtedness. In particular, 
in April 1969 Railroad entered into a Credit Agreement ("Credit Agreement") 
pursuant to which it pledged all of Pennco's common stock to First National City 
Bank, as Agent for some 48 banks. Indebtedness outstanding undcr thc Credit 
Agreement may be accelerated and the pledge may be forcclosed in the event 
that, among other things, any obligation of Railroad, Penn co, Penndel Co. 
("P~nndel"'), The Pittsburgh and Lake Erie Railroad Co. ("P & LE") or 
the Pittsburgh, Fort Wayne and Chicago Railway Co. ("Fort Waync") for the 
payment of borrowed money, the deferred purchase price of property or the rental, 
charter or hire of rolling stock is not paid when due or is declared due and payable 
prior to stated maturity ,by reason of default or violation of thc terms thereof. 
In addition a maior portion of the properties of Railroad's subsidiaries other than 
Pennco is mortgaged or pledged to secure their indebtedness, and Railroad's right 
to mortgage or pledge certain of its unencumbered assets and the stock and assets 
of certain unencumbered subsidiaries is restricted. 

(2) Williams noted that "Pennco has been used as a vehicle to finance Rail­
road's operations through the issuance of dcbt and preferred stock, the proceeds of 
which are used either to make loans to Railroad or acquire assets from Railroad." 

* * * * * * * In connection with its financing activities Penn co has pledgcd a substantial 
portion of its investments as security for its long-term indebtedness and is com­
mitted to give up a substantial portion of its investments upon cxercise of exchange 
rights by holders of its long-term indebtedness, and preferred stock. In addition, 
Penn co is obligated to deliver a portion of the N & W common stock held by it to 
'N & W exchange for N & W debt, and Penn Central is committed beginning in 
197.5 to deliver N & W common stock upon exercise of exchange rights by holders 
of the preference stock which Penn Central issued to acquire Southwestern and 
Royal. (In fact, the total claims on N & W common stock by way of pledge and 
exchange rights exceed the amount of N & W common stock available to Penn 
Central without going'into the open market.)' 

,(3) If the railroad complied with the SEC line of business disclosure require­
ments, the losses on railroad operat.ions would be shown as being ext,remely large.184 

(4) Penn Central's earnings prospects were uncertain at best despite Bevan's 
assurances. 

(.5) On the weekend of IV[arch 21-22, Penn Central set out to accelerate an 
exchnnge of Wabash stock for Norfolk and Western stock which would produce a 
paper profit of $40 million-45 million in the first quarter. 

(6) Penn Central had arranged financings through Francis and Joseph Rosen­
baum and Francis was a cOllvicted defrauder of the U.S. Government. 

,On, March 30, at 'Villiams' request, First Boston contacted the 
First National Oity Bank to review the credit position of the company. 
First National Oity Bank informed the underwriters that the railroad 
could be in trouble jf there was not a turnaround, that First National 
.had turned down Bevan's request for the $50 million bridge loan 
which later was made by a group of banks led by Chemical Bank, and 
that Executive Jet Aviation was in default of some obligations to the 

,,, Williams also noted that the domestic offering with the warrants "was stlUctured in this way becanse 
Penn Central wished to avoid registration under the Secnrities Act of JU33 at this time." 
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bank. First National indicated it knew of no other defaul ts. The under­
writers made no attempt to conttict Chemical Bank or the commercial 
paper dealer, Goldman, Sachs. 

Counsel for the underwriters called a meeting for the purpose of 
considering the serious questions being raised about the underwriting. 
The meeting took place on March 31, 1970, at 2:30 p.m., in the Qffices of 
Sullivan & Cromwell. Attending along with Dean and Williams of 
Sullivan & CrQmwell were the leaders Qf the investment firms partici­
pating in the underwriting.185 The March 28 memorandum was dis­
tributed. Of particular CQncern was the threat to Penn Central's 
viability: 

The subject of what wOllld happen in the event of a bankrllptc~' in the ra.ilroad 
was discussed. We [counsell read them the relevant provisions of Section 77 of the 
Bankruptcy Act. 

We were asked whether, as a legal matter, Pennsylvania Co. wOllld withstand 
the bankruptcy of the railroad, and we expressed the view that, it would. 

This danger mQst directly threatened the. internatiQnal Qffering and 
it was decided that the Qffering WQuid be PQstpQned. It was next co.n­
cluded that the underwriters would be willing to. state in the pro­
spectus that the warrants fQr Penn Central Co.. stQck were wQrthless. 
After further discussiQn it was agreed that they would prQceed with 
the underwriting wit.h the underst.anding that Sullivan & CrQmwell 
would include any disclQsures needed to protect the unde.rwri tel'S 
from liabilit.y. No. cQnsicleratiQn was given at t.his time 0.1' any Qther 
time to asking 0.1' requiring the cQmpany to. make any public st.ate­
ment about the seriousness Qf the problems. 

The underwrit.ers were running some risk but they were apparently 
unwilling to. be knQwn in the financial cQmmunity as the cause Qf the 
collapse Qf the Penn Central by any move to withdraw. A minute frQm 
the Salomon underwriting cQmmittee meeting Qf April 2, 1970, reflects 
the conclusion of the underwriters: 

l~cnnsYlvania Company o.ffcriny.-John Gutfreund stated that we had a moral 
obhgation t,o do the issue if we get adequate opinion of t.he Company's counsel. 
He stated t.hat we will have to be very careful because of the Company's cash 
problems and large amounts of pledged assets. 

As it result Qf the :March 31 conference Penn Central was caned 
upon to. supply a number of items Qf informa,tion fQr review for possible 
inclusiQn in the circular. One Qf the individuals wQrking Qn the under­
writing indicat.ed Penn Central had some difficulty in producing t.his 
information n,nd SQme informatiQn such [LS cash forecasts was never 
prQduced. It was this individual's view t.hat Penn Centrn.l was simply 
incapable of prQducing some of this infQrmation althQugh it is almost 
unheard of fQr such information to be unitvitilable in companies of 
that size. 

A mitjor hurdle to. the offering was encountered on April 22 when 
Penn Central released its first-quarter results. The results were 
extremely PQQr and tended to confirm the dQwnward plunge of the 
cQmpany. The results shQuld have been a further warning to. the 
underwriters that they were nQt being t.old the whole truth by Bevan 

'" Among those participating were: First Boston Corp. (Emil Pattherg, J .... chairman, Paul L. Miller, 
president. Charles C. Glavin, chail'man or executive committee, N, GI'ego .. y Doescher. vice president); 
Glore Forgan, Wm. R. Staats, Inc. (J. Russell Forgan, chairman, John C. Harned, senior v,ce president); 
83101l10n Bros. & Hutzler (J~hn H. Gutrreund, partne .. ill cha .. ge or syndicate department); 1'ie .. son, Hend· 
nllg & Pierson (Hans Muntmga, the Amsterdam firm's senior representative on this uuderwriting). 
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and that the underwriters were contributing to the facade that Penn 
Central was trying to maintain. The loss was greater than Bevan had 
indicated in the March 18 meeting with the underwriters. From 
Doescher's testimony: 

The actual loss was somewhat in excess of what he had represented to us. 
I recall having been surprised at the amount of the actual loss for the first quarter, 
but on thc other hand I don't attribute that to any particular motivation on his 
part. My recollection of that meeting that we had with Bevan and O'Herron on 
the 18th was that they dealt with us just as honestly as they possibly could in 
term8 of what they knew on the 18th. 

In fact, on :1'.1arch 18 Penn Central management knew almost the 
precise magnitude of the loss that would be recorded in the first 
quarter. 

In the April 22 release, Penn Central management attempted to 
play down the losses, which were lessened on the consolidated level 
by the $51 million profit on the acceleration of the Wabash exehange 
and on the Transportation Company level by the $16,900,000 profit 
on the sale of Clem'field Bituminous Coal to Penneo. The sale of 
Bituminous was a means of getting eash from Pennco in connection 
with proposed debenture offering. The release implied that the losses 
were a result of temporary difficulties such as bad weather and strikes. 
The release also referred to "railroad" losses of $62,709,000 in the 
first quarter. In fact, t.he railroad's operations had lost over $100 
million. 186 The railroad results included nonrailroad items, including 
the Bituminous sfl.le.187 Alt.hough "railroad" may be used merely as 
a term of convenience, it has particular significance in a release of 
th.is kind. 

The ra.ilroad operations were the heart of the company and seriously 
adverse performance directly threatened the survival of the enter­
prise. lss The significance of the railroad losses WitS a cause of their 
being set out for the first time in the offering circular. They were not 
set ou t in the release, however, even though it was reviewed by counsel 
for the underwriters shortly before its issuance. To Doescher the 
problem was solved by financial statements attached to the release: 

In my very recent testimony I went through my thought proce,'ses as far as 
this pre~s release was concerned and they were to the effect that, taken alone, I 
would have con::,idered this second paragraph misleading [the second paragraph 
showed the Tran~portation Company loss], however, as I have indicated before, 
my concern was allayed because the financial statements were 'attached to the 
preES relea;,e and taken in the context of those financial statement~, I don't believe 
this second paragraph was misleading. And after all, a net loss is reported by the 
accountants as a net loss. 

It. is the textual information which is used by the news media. 
Further, even an informed analyst would not have been able to fix 
the loss from rail operations from the statistical information. 

On April 24, 1970, the underwriters met with Bevan and O'Herron. 
The underwriters had already assumed that the Standard & Poor's 
mting would be downgraded from BBB to BB (BBB is the lowest 

I;' The release had a two page statistical presentation at.tnched to the text. A reader could not tell wha t 
lhe IOC3S~S WE're even frOIn thi3 tahle unles.., hf! knew how to realTange certain of the figures. The text, of 
course. was the prinCipal source for newS media. Shareholders did not receive quarterly reports from Penn 
Central. 

lSi rt appears th3t thi.s sale, like the Wah ash exchflnge, was entered into with 3 view toward lessening the 
los.c:;cs in the rust Qunrtpr. 

II! Howard Butcher HI, a former Penn Central director whose customer accounts represented the'largest 
hlock of Penll Cent.ral stock. stated that he started selling off Penn Celltral when he learned from the·offering 
circular for the first time that the raih'oad was losing so much money. 
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rn.ted security of investment grade). The underwriters were attempt­
ing to establish a plice for the offering. In light of Bevan's objections 
to their rating assumption they decided not to set a price. According 
to Doescher: . 

So, it is perfectly natural in that kind of a situation, to avoid the price question. 
What you decide is whether or not you're going to go ahead. 1\11'. Bevan, or the 
Penn Central Transportation Co., at that particular point in time was not in a 
position to be fussy about price. The question was: Could we sell the issue. And 
now let me explain that, what our position was. We weren't virtually certain that 
we could sell the issue knowing everything that we knew as of April 24 and par­
ticularly taking into consideration the bond market. But this was an old and 
valued client, particularly of First Boston and Glore Forgan, and a name of great 
reputation. We were dealing with people of high stature in the business community 
and finally, it wa~ a matter of cash, it was a pro bono publico matter that we do 
everything possible, to see that the railroad obtain its $100 million. And, therefore, 
you find yourself in a position where you are not really in a position to say that­
you don't want to be in a position of saying you can't sell the issue, because who 
knows. There is a saying in the financial community that anything could be sold 
at a price. 

On April 27, the application to the 100 for the offering was filed. 
On April 28, First Boston, using a standard mailing list, sent approxi­
mately 1,300 copies of the circular to members of the selling group, 
selected institutIOns, and certain publications. On April 30 Doescher 
conducted a meeting with the sales depn,rtment of First Boston to 
explain the issue. The offering was directed at institutional buiers as 
is customary for railroad debentures. The reactions to the offering 
were not good. According to Doescher: "[D]uririg this period of time, 
there was-we were not getting any reaction from the standpoint of 
the market. The issue was not taking hold." The institutional market 
was effectively eliminated by the downgrading of Pennco's rating 
from BBB to BB on May 15.189 Despite the rating Bevan told the 
press that "We have every intention of going ahead with the financing 
as planned. The precise date of the offering is being determined and 
will be announced shortly." 

Following the announcement of the first quarter loss a runoff of 
commercial paper had begun. This was disclosed in a statement in the 
text of a revised circular dated May 12.190 The revised circular had 
been made necessary by a change in the terms' of the offering.191 The 
debentures had been made redeemable at the holder's option in 5 
years. The revised circular was sent to those receiving the original 
circular and also to all members of the National Association of Securi­
ties Dealers.192 It is unlikely that this additional circulation would be 
effective or even cause many brokers to read the circular.193 The 

'" Bevan had learned d Standard & Poor's decision prior to the announcement and had arranged a meet­
in!! in an attempt to have the dccision reversed. 

10. The circulars w.re not distributed until May 16. 
10' '1'he revised circulru' was not filed with thc ICC. The ICC had no rules relating to offering circulars 

or to their amendment . 
." Copies cf the May 12 circular were sent to 3,375 N ASD members whe.reas the April 27 circular had 

gone to 700 brokers. 
'" According to Doescher: 
"Q. New would you be able to make any estimate with respect to how many of these broker-dealers [who 

reccivert the circulars] actually do attempt to market this type of an offering? ••• 
"A. This type of an offering or any offering circular to the whole NASD, it will only he a very small-I 

don't think it would be any different than it would be with r • .spect to any offering, I don't think that th.re 
Is any difference between tbis particular offering and any other offering where we circulate to the dealer, 
who arp on the NASD list, and of the 3,300 dealers, that would be 0. relatively small proportion of the 3,300 
who actually reacted to the--

"Q. In terms of numbers. just a rough estimate, would it be 60 brokers. 500 brokers, do you have any 
estimate along that line that might actually make an affIrmative .ffort to sell an underwriting such as this? 

"A. Beyond the list of underweriters [tbe] selling group might consist of 12 or 50 otber NASD members." 
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underwriters learned during this time that Butcher & Sherrerd was 
withdrawing from the underwriting.194 

On May 15, the terms were set at lOX percent interest with a selling 
concession of 1}~ percent and a closing date of June 2. By this time the 
underwriters were able to conclude that the debenture offering would 
not be completed. As Doescher explained: 

Question. Did you say anything to Mr. Reimer [of First Boston]? 
Answer. No. I was beginning to take a rather relaxed attitude about this issue 

lit this point in time. . 

Question. For what reason? 
Answer. Well, we had floated our price ideas on Friday, the 15th and it did 

not appear to have any material effect on increasing the interest in the issue. 

In the late afternoon of May 21 the underwriters were invited to 
Penn Central's New York office. Representatives of Glore, Forgan, 
and Salomon Bros., attended. The underwriters were told that 
Pennsylvania Co. had decided not to go forward with the offering. 
First Bosto~ was notified the mornin~ of the 22d about th~ cancellation 
of the offermg. The three underWrIters then met at Fust Boston's 
office on the morning of the 22d: "I [Doescher] recall that at the 
meeting, it was a general reaction, it was relief that we were off the 
hook, so to speak, as far as the issue was concerned." The underwriters 
agreed that their selling effort was to be concluded at that point and 
that they were not going to announce the conclusion of the offering 
until the company had an alternative plan worked out, probably 
involving a Government loan. From Doescher's testimony: 

Answer. What we discussed in the meeting of the 22d was that we were going 
t·o conclude our selling effort as at that point in time. And also that we were not 
going to officially withdraw the issue until we were notified by the railroad that 
the issue would be withdrawn. 

Question. What was the reason that you were not going to notify-that you were 
not going to publicize the fact that the issue was withdrawn until it was withdrawn 
by the company? 

Answer. The reason was that it would have caused the company problems as 
far as the banks and rest of the financial community was concerned. In \ other 
words, what the company wanted to do was to be able to say they had the loan 
from the Government at the same time that they announced the withdrawal of 
our issue. Had we announced the withdrawal of ollr issue and no other alternative 
had been presented, that would have, in itself, collapsed the house of cards. 

The announcement of the cancellation was made on May 28 and 
appeared on the Dow Jones broad tape at 1:22 p.m. " 

The handling of the Penn co offering is another example of man­
agement's attempts to create a facade to conceal adverse informa­
tion. Throughout the entire spring and early summer of 1970 it was 
the Pennco debenture offering whICh enabled Penn Central to main­
tain a claim of solvency. In fact it was doubtful that the offering 
could be completed. The very fact that the offering was proposed 
almost immediately after the completion of a similar offering indi­
cated the accelerating pace of Penn Central's cash drain and the 
unavailability of other means of financings. At the same time, Penn co 
was deteriorating as a financing vehicle: Its Great Southwest stock 
was declining in value; its N. & W. stock was pledged or escrowed; 
there were restrictions on selling or encumbering its rail holdings; and 
all of Pennco's common stock was pledged to the revolving credit 
lenders. 

'" Butcher & Sherrerd claimed that It had begun seiling out selected accounts based In part on Information 
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Bevan knew of these problems and of the declining condition of 
Penn Central but he was prepared to explain t1way the problems to 
maintain the facade. The underwriters came to realize some of the 
fundamental problems. They also knew or should have known that 
Bevan could not be relied upon. Their reaetion was to avoid a confron­
tation which would publicly have raised questions about Penn Central 
01' the statements or actions of its management. They decided to 
protect themselves by avoiding direct liability to potentlul purehasers 
of the Pennco bonds although it is likely that they never expected to 
have to underwTite the bon2ls. 

"'11ile the underwriters t1nd their cOllnsel resisted the distribution 
of an offering cireular that did not cont.ain what they belirved to 
be adequate disclosure, the placing of the entire focus of, disclosure 
Oil the offering circular does not appear to have been the appropriate 
way to make disclosure of the rapidly deteriorating financial condi­
tion. A more direct method should have been employed. l\'loreover, 
inelusion of disclosures in the circulars \vhieb were dist.ribut.ed to 
broker-dealers and institutional investors resulted in theu: hadng 
ad vanee information coneerning the company whieh in certain in­
stances was used to their advantage and to the detriment of the 
uninformed members of the investing public. . 

An offering circular, p~lrticuln,rly one principally of interest only to 
institutional "investors, does not appear to be the appropriate way to 
make disclosure when the ciTcular contains very signifieant informa­
tion not previously public. A public statement should be made abo~lt 
t.he significant. nonpublic information at the time the cil'culnris dlS­
tributed. No reference to adverse disclosures was cont.aineclin the 
April 28, 1970, news release announcing the application being filed 
with the ICC. 

The limitation of the diselosllres to the offering circulftr a;:;sisted 
Penn CentTUI management in maintaining an appearance of solyency. 
lVlanagement not only avoided bToud disclosUTe of what the under-. 
wTiters \\'ere leaTning, bu t it was even willing to use existenee of the 
debenture offering as a device to screen Penn Central from inquiries. 
In a letter of April 22, 1970, to Saunders, William Lashley, the public 
relations officer, made this suggestion: 

. With refcrencc to my notc about the strong pos:;ibility of requcst.~ for intelyic\y" 
With you, 1\11'. Gorman and 1\11'. Bcvan and perhaps other company officlah; III 
the wake of our news release today [on first quarter re~ultsl, I rccommend the 
following procedure. My departmei1t should tell callers that wc cannot arrange 
interview8 but if we arc givcn dircct questions, my departmcnt ,viii at.tempt to 
get the answers. If this procedure cloes not satisfy sorne of the more insistent "cqtlcsI8, 
do you have any objection (0 ow' sayin(l thai we Q.1'(~ consir/el'cd to be "in j'cgis/I'(tI1:on" 
at this time and are not Fee to talk? ,gS I am reluctant to use this because it will lead 
to more association of the financial result;; wit.h the debenturc isc:U(~, 

lOS Emphasis added. 



I-E. GREAT SOUTHWEST CORP. 

IN'l'RODUC'l'lON 

Although Great South"Test Corp. (GSC) lVas only one out of a 
number of subsidiaries in the Penn Central complex, it played a 
major role in the n.ffairs of Penn Central, including the efforts of 
Penn Central management to conceal the railroad debncle.19G 

First, Great Southwest was the keystone of the railroad's diversifi­
cation effort. It was this diversification which was supposed to make 
Penn Central a growth conglomerate. This prospect and the expected 
railroad improvements were the principal factors accounting for the 
soaring price of Penn Central stock in the premerger and immediate 
postmerger period. Second, the soaring earnings of Great Southwest in 
1968 and 1969 helped conceal the railroad losses. Third, the market 
value of Great Southwest stock was important to the Pennco portfolio 
which, in turn, was important to Penn Ceiltral because Pennco was 
used both as security for railroad loans and as a financing vehicle in 
its own right. At one point, the yalue of PeDllco's holdings of Great 
Southwest based on the quoted market price of Gren,t Southwest 
shares was approximately $1 billion. Even late in 1969 ",hen Pennco 
was used as a public financial vehicle, the Great Southwest stock 
constituted approximately one-haH of Pennco's portfolio lTlt"tl'ket 
\rnlue. I97 Fourth, the public was given the impression that Great South­
west was contributing cash to the railroad, particularly in light of its 
soaring' en,mings. In reality, no cash except nominal dividends in 1968 
and 1969 was coming up and instead substantial cash was being passed 
down to Great Southwest. The history of Great Southwest illustrates 
particularly well the deceptions praeticed by management and the 
eomplex relationships among the different elements ill Penn Central. 

GREA'r SOUTHWEST CORP. 

Great Southwest Corp. was formed in late 1956 by Angus 'Wynne, 
.Jr., to develop the Waggoner Ranch, lying bet,,,een Dallas and Fort 
\V OJ·th, into an inclustrial park. Wynne and his uncle, Toddie Lee 
Wynne, contributed $4,500,000. New York interests, composed prin­
cipally of Rockefeller Center, Inc., contributed the same amount. A 
group of Dallas investors contributed a lesser amount. vVyllne became 
the president and chief executive officer. A public offering: of Great 
Southwest stock was undeI'\uitten in 1960 by Glore, Forgan & Co. 
Part of the proceeds were used to undel'\\Tite the development of an 
amusement park within the indust.rial park. The park, Six Flags Over 
Texas, was built for the purpose of generating cash needed to carry 
the undeveloped land and to pay development costs. The Pennsylvania 
Railroad made its initial modest investment in Great Sout.hwest when 
its pension fund purchased an unsold portion of this public offering 
from Glore, Forgan upon the urging of Charles Hodge, a Glore, Forgan 
partner. 

10' For convenience. unless otherwise indicated, references to Great Southwest include Macco Corjl., 
which was merged into Great Southwest in March 1969. 

'" As will be seen, the market jlrice was greatly inflated as was known by management. 
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In 1964 Angus Wynne undertook to head a Texas pavilion at the 
N ew York World's Fair. Wynne's involvement in the Texas pavilion 
forced him into personal bankruptcy. The 90,000 shares of GSC stock 
he owned had been pledged against loans for the pavilion. When he 
was unable to pay these loans his stock was sold. ·W ynne's return to 
Great Southwest was further complicated because he Was no longer 
on good terms with his uncle who had opposed his involvement in the 
Texas pavilion. To resolve disharmony within· Great Southwf'st,· 
Wynne prevailed on his uncle and the Rockefeller interests to sell their 
holdings to a third party. Wynne then asked Hodge to find a buyer. 

While this was taking place Pennsylvania Co. was beginning its 
diversification efforts, funded to a large extent by moneys received 
and to be received from the disposition of Norfolk & Western stock 
as required by the ICC. Hodge presented the Great Southwest invest.­
ment to the Pennsylvania Railroad and both Bevan and Saunders 
visited the Great Southwest properties. The railroad, through its 
subsidiary, Pennsylvania Co., then acquired over 50 percent of Great 
Southwest stock. Wynne agreed to remain with the company as chief 
execu ti ve.19b 

In discussions between Wynne and Bevan, a mutually agreeable 
policy of expansion was undertaken. The management of the railroad 
wanted further real estate diversification and Wynne wanted to build 
a chain of amusement parks and to pursue industrial development in 
other parts of the country. In furtherance of this policy, Wynne began 
searching for land for development in California through a new Great 
Southwest subsidiary, Great Southwest Pacific. While Wynne was 
looking for individual parcels of land William R. Staats & Co. (then 
being merged into Glore Forgan) brought Macco Corp. to GSC's 
attention. Macco had substantial undeveloped real estate holdings ·and 
also had an established business of single-family dwelling construction. 
Wynne had a high regard for the management of Macco. On his advice 
and following a detailed inspection of the Macco properties by Saunders 
and Bevan, the Pennsylvania Co. in 1965 purchased all of the 
company's stock for $39 million.luu 200 

The investment in IVlacco soon proved to be a bane rather than a 
boon. Macco experienced a serious cash drain, which hy 1967 required 
advances of over $7 million a year from Pennco.201202 Residential 
sales were lagging and the idle holdings of undeveloped real estate 
resulted in heavy carrying costs. 

In mid-1967 Robert C. Baker, who was then general coun~el and 
secretary of Great Southwest, was selected by Bevan and ·Wynne to 
analyze Macco's problems with a view to his taking charge of Maceo. 
Although Baker lacked management or real estate development 

'" See section on Penphil for Wynne's involvement at the time in an investment group including Hodge 
and Pennsylvania Railroad omeers. I" Until the merger of Maceo and Great Southwest in March 1060, Maceo was a 100-percent subsidiary 
of Penneo. 

200 For its active part in the evaluation, develepment, and negotiation of acquisition of Maceo, GSC was 
given an option to acquire 80 percent of the common stock of Macco from Pennco in exchange for 800.000 
shares of GSC. 'I'he option was exercisable within 180 days of the date on which Maceo repaid tile $39,000,000 
advanced by Pennco to acquire Maceo or redeemed preferred stock held by Pennco in subsitulion of the 
539,000,000 indebtedness. 

21)1 The railroad itseU had a pressing need for cash at this time and it looked to Penneo also as a source cf 
cash. The drain to Maceo and Great Southwest accelerated until the banklUptcy of tbe railroad although tbe 
railroad was unable to supply funds after 1969. 

"" The treasurer and comptroller of Maceo, Roy C. Fredrickson, reminded the Macco board or the problem: 
"In the eourse o[ his [financial] report [to the board], Mr. Fredrickson made particular reference to the 
efforts that were heing made by the management to minimize the extent of borrowings needed from Pennsyl­
vania Co. in order to meet the company's cash requirements" (Macco Realty Board Meeting Feb. 22, 1967). 
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experience,203 he gave indications of being an imaginative and ex­
pansiye executive. He begn.n sending Wynne memomndums outlining 
problems and suggesting ambitious. solutions to Macco's problems. 
Baker suggested elaborate administrative procedures (which later 
were to ba,lloon into extremely costly but largely unproductive 
overhead). He also proposed vn.rious methods of restructuring Maceo's 
operations including "* * * den.ls whereby Mn.cco receives prepaid 
interest. This type of transaction can be worked whether it involved 
:Macco land or not * * *." 20-1 The inventive schemes of Baker were to 
prove highly valuable in the short run to Penn Centml although the 
long-run consequences to :Macco and Great Southwest were less 
attractive. 

In late 1967 he became vice president of finance of :Macco and on 
January 1, 1968, president. Baker, in turn, recruited William Ray, 
who had been a bi1l1k offieial in California involved in real estate 
mortgage matters, as :Macco's chief financial officer. During this time 

. Great Southwest Corp. had begun development of an industrial park 
in Atlanta, Ga., imitating the Texas development. These were funded 
internally. During this time, Wynne remained the chief executive 
officer of both Grea.t Southwest and :Macco.205 

GREAT SOUTHWEST AND PENN CENTRAL 

Prior to Baker's arrival at Ma.cco, the performance of the railroa.d's 
diversification program had been modest at best and :Macco, as noted 
above, was incurring serious cash losses. Baker's arrival led to a sig­
nificant change in the "performance" of IVlacco and later GSC. This 
change resulted from the coincidence of three factors. First, Baker 
himself was ambitious and was well aware of Bevan's desire for greater 
reportable earnings performance. Indeed, it was Baker's understand­
ing that Bevan played a role in his being sent to Maceo in 1967.206 , 20i 
Secondly, at about the same time, the need for greater reportable 
earnings from I\1ncco and Great Southwest was increasing as the per­
formance of the Pennsylvania Railroad began deteriorating rapidly. 
This trend was to be drastically acceleru.ted a short time later when the 
Pennsylvania merged with the New York Central. Thirdly, under an 
employment contract which he entered into in 1968, Baker stood to 
receive a percentage of profits from transactions he devised. 

It was not surprising that the Pennsylvania Railroad was able to 
make its desires known to the managements of Maceo and Great 
Southwest. Before and aHar Baker was sent to Macco, Bevan played 
an active role in the companies through which the Pennsylvania had 
attempted to diversify. As a father to the diversification efforts, he be­
came deeply involved both inside and outside of the board meetings 
in the affairs of Macco and Great Southwest. 

203 Baker bad been on tbe legal stall of Great Soutbwest and had advanced to general counsel and secretaJ"y 
prio!' to bis Macco assignment. . 

20' Memo from Baker to Wynne Aug .. 5, 1967. 
," Upon tbe acquisition of Maceo by GSC in 1969, Baker replaced Wynne as cbief executive officer of tbe 

combined companies. 
rOO From Baker's testimony: 
"Q. To your knowledge, did Mr. Bevan bave auy rele in your being transferred from Great Sontbwest to 
~~ , 

"A. Macco was, in 1967, not meeting its projections as to eitber Ineomeorcasb. I waS sen·t out to Maceo at 
Mr, Wynne's direction, I assume at Mr. Bevan's request, In order to, as it was put to me, to try to get a 
bandle on wbat exactly was gOing on and wbat needed to be done." 

20' From Bevan's testimony: 
"Q. Wbat was tbe chief quality that Mr. Baker bad? That you looked for to belp the situation? 

.. ~·~.lle.w3;s-:-h.e u_nde~s.~od legal ma.tters, he was imalrinative snrl r.rPAt.ivp hD har1 .. nPon+ .. 'h~H+_ +- -~ ... 



From Baker's testimony on Maceo: 
"Q'ucstion, Did Mr. Bevan take an activc role in the reorganization of l"Iacco? 
"Answer. I don't quite know how to answer the term 'active role'. He was on the 

board of, directors of Maceo and was responsible for Macco. Kept himself very 
much advised as to what was going on. He didn't actually go out and hire the 
people or fire them, as the case may be. 

"Queslion, D~'dllou or to your lcnow?ed{/c did someone else report to him pcriodically 
what was taking place, what changes were being made? 

"Answer. Yes. 

"Q1J.csl.ion, Did he ever make any suggestions or changes himself in the plan .sub­
?l17:Ucd to him? 

"Answer, He was, you know, active as t.he one the company ultimat.ely reported 
to and would take part in reasonabl~' long director meetings where the company's 
prospects and plans were rather full~' laid out and, you know, of course he made 
certain contributions to those meetings. 

"Question, HTere these meetings other than the board meetings, you mean? 
"Answer, 'Yell, in man~' cases they were board meetings and in other cases they 

were just monthly kind of meet.ings that would take place, wherever the place he 
would designate, The company was a wholly owned subsidiary of the railroad or 
the Pennsylvania Company, So, the company would be rather detailed, not rat.her 
detailed, but completely detailed in terms of its pro:iections and staffing require­
ments and proposed acquisitions and proposed sales." 

Almost every other Penn Central officer in the financial, accounting, 
and related departments became involved in the affairs of Maceo and 
Great Southwest. 

From Baker's testimony: 
At some point in time it seemed like all the administrative' people of the rail­

road came down to look over and make suggestions as to what was happening in 
the subsidiaries. But, principally, we werc involved with Mr. Bevan himself, and 
IVIr. Dermond, 'Yilliam Gerstner-ker, William Cook, who was comptroller, and . . . 
Charles Hill, who was his assistant and then later became comptroller, various 
people on the comptroller's staff, which was a fellow by the name of Dawson and 
Mr. Warner was in charge of taxes back there and he had an assistant by the name 
of Antoine, and there was a vice president in charge of administration, I think 
t.hat wa.,> his title and his name was Fox. Then, there were other people such a.~ 
Robert Loder, and there may well be others that I have omitted. 

The Penn Central accounting department which was responsible for 
producing the consolidated figures for the consolidated financial state­
ments, required monthly and quarterly reports from l\1acco and Great 
Southwest.208 The earnings projections were also continuously re­
viewed and discussed with the management of Maceo and Great 
Southwest by Penn Central employees. These reviews and discussions 
made clear to Great Southwest officials that the railroad needed 
greater reportable earnings and that the need was always increasing. 

. From BfLker's testimony: 
208 Peat. Marwick, Mitchell & Co. were the auditors for Macco and Great Southwest as well as for Penn 

Central. At times the Philadelphia offlceof Peat, Marwick becamc invclvcd in disagreements about booking 
profits for Great Southwest, particularly in light of the poliCies of maximization ofrcported income practiced 
by Penn CentraL On the afternoon of July 25, 1969, after a morning consultation with Saunders, Charlcs 
Hill, the Penn Central comptroller Henry QUinn, the engagement partner on the Penn Central acconnt· 
f1cw to California to consider certain transactions which might result in higher reported earnings for the 
first haH financial statements. The following is Baker's description of this event: 

"In 1969 we had a couple of instances which ga," rise to my statement which is rathcr general, as to the 
possibility that the raih'oad might do something or attempt to do something which would seek treatment of 
the tran.action more favorable to their specific needs at the time than to the company, ' 

"The first such instance arose in 1969 when, after the haif·year profits were over or after the half year was 
over, Charlic Hill and Mike Quinn made a midnight ride out to Macco to sec if there was possibly another 

.$300,000 of earnings. as I recall the number, and attempted to review rather specifically the various account· 
ing treatments of the transactions in order to see if a few more dollars of profit could not be received from 
those transactions. and I took great offense to that because we felt like in this case WP. attempted to arrive 
at the best accounting treatment or the proper accounting treatment on the transactions. 

"There's always an area of judgment in connection with transactions as to allocation of bases and, you 
know, the many and varied other things. 

"w .... rl;rln'. f' ...... 1 ........... 1..'"~ ,..~ ...... nCO ... n .......... foh .. n .. ..:iit ..... C! ...... C! ~ ..... ~n .. " 
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Answer. We made our own projections. Mr. Bevan and the financial staff 
worked with us in reviewing those initial projections and they monitored our 
performance IInder the projection~. We were enconraged to push the companies 
forward as fast as they could reasonably go. 

Question. Did this indication by Penn Central as to earnings, PI'Ojits, goals, becolne 
more iutcnse as time went on, that is, were the goals mis(~d individually [should "cad 
sigmficantly]? 

An~wer. Your question assumes an answer to the previous question which 
wasn't there. 

I think I said the~r never did set our goals for us. They became increasingly 
more interested in profit~, it "eemed to me as time went on. I am trying to answer 
your que~tion, but they did not set specific goals for the company. From the outset, 
Penn Central indicated they wished to maximize their returns on the investment 
and I don't recall what percentage number they \lsed. 

But, in each ca~e the ~llbsidiary companies would present a pro forma or projec­
tions of the coming fiscal year end and that would be gonc over by Mr. Bevan 
and his staff and there would be vario\ls consultations relative to those pro formas 
for thc coming year, and the Great Southwest was encouraged, as was J'\1 a'1: co, 
to attempt to increase profits and increase the cash results. 

Question. Did you ever. discuss these budgets [of Great Southwest) with anyone at 
Penn Centml befol'e they were presented to the Great Southwest boarclf 

Answer. Yes. 
QllCstion. And with whom did you discuss itT 
Allfi\Ver. Primarily with Gerstnecker and Bevan. There was a man in their 

department named Earl [Dermond) who had occasion to review the budgets * * * 
Question. Did they ever discuss the profit performance? 
Answer. Oh, yes. 
Question. TVas this jlLst in terms of how much it was? 
Answer. How much and, "how much can you increase it," yes. 
Question. Were the Penn Central officials satisfied with the profit level that was in 

the budget that they were given for review? 
Answer. Well, I don't know how satisfied they were. They should have been; 

but t.here was always a demand for more-at least a desire for more. 
Not necessarily a demand. . 

Penn Central's interest in the reporting of profits by Great South­
west was more than the simple pursuit of "performance." Penn sought 
desperately to conc~al the disastrous performance of the railroad. The 
profit maximization schemes in 1\1acco and Great Southwest were 
counterparts to concealment efforts being made in other parts of the 
Penn Central system. :Macco and Great Southwest management, 
particularly under Baker, knew what Penn Central management 
wanted and it acted to meet those wants. It should be noted that the 
booming "earnings" performance of Macco in Great Southwest not 
only helped conceal the railroad losses in the consolidated financial 
reports but it also gave the false impression that the railroad's diversi­
fication program was enormously successful in itself. Finally, the 
resulting explosion of the value of GSC stock made Pennco's assets 
balloon in value which aided the railroad in 0 btaining financing from 
banks (to whom Pennco's stock was pledged) and in making sales of 
Pennco securities. 

The intensity of Penn Central's desires for more profits from Macco 
and Great Southwest increased as the fortunes of the railroad declined 
and its losses and financing needs increased. Indeed, after the merger 
of the railroads even Saunders, who had little involvement in the 
affairs .of Macco and Great Southwest, became directly involved in 
seeking grearer profits from the subsidiaries. He began calling Wynne 
and Baker at the end of each quarterly reporting period asking what "hn __ ~~ .. _________ : __ .. _ 1. ___ ..J ..J ____ ..J: __ .. 1._ .... 1. ___ hn : _______ ..J 
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At one point, after the end of the second quarter in 1969, Saunders 
sent Hill (the Penn Central comptroller) and Quinn (a Peat, Marwick 
partner in Philadelphia) to find additional earnings to be included in 
the second quarter report. From Baker's testimony: 

Question. Did either MI'. Hill 01' lYh. Quinn ever indicate that they were making 
this examination at the behest of anyone at Penn Central; that is, any member of the 
seniol' management'! 

Answer. Mr. Saunders was the one that was always calling right at the end of 
the quarter and screaming for a few more hundred thousand dollars profit and 
Mr. Hill worked for Mr. Saunders. 

* * * * * * * 
IVlr. Saunders would call and say, "Can't you close this deal or Can't you do 

something here? And sometimes we could. Sometimes there was a piece of property 
we could sell. 200 

:Amid thi.s constant interaction between Great Southwest and Penn 
Central, one element of the Penn Central organization remained, 
at its own choosing, largely uninvolved in the events taking place. 
The directors of Penn Central received periodic reports from Bevan 
that the earnings were soaring and would continue to soar. Only one 
director, Robert Odell, showed concern. Odell ,vas himself iIlvolved 
in California real estate. In July 1968 he wrote to Saunders to warn 
him of problems :Macco could face and to counsel caution.21o When 
Odell later demanded that the board be furnjshed with information on 
Great Southwest activities, management refused Odell's demands by 
informing the other directors that Odell had a conflict of interest 
because his own [11'm vms involved in >vest coast real estate. l\1anage­
ment also obtained an opinion from Dechert, Price and Rhoads, a 
Philadelphia law firm, stating that the directors would expose them­
selves to liability if they became too involved in Great Southwest's 
affairs. This opinion was circulated to the directors.211 

At the December 17, 1969, board meeting of the Transportation 
Co. managemeht attempted to reassure the directors about Great 
Southwest by having Great Southwest officers make a presentation 
to the board. This presentation has generally been described by 
witnesses as a "slide show" of California and Texas properties. No 

'" Wynne also received thcse quarterly calls: 
"Q. Did Mr. Saunders participate in many cf those discussions about the-[budgetj? 
"A. Yes, every quartcr. 
"Q. Would this have bceu in the context of the board mep.tings? 
"A. No. 
"Q. In what context would it be? 
"A. How much are you going to be able to increase your earniugs primarily. 
"Q. Was this a personal meeting? 
"A. Primalily, a telephone call. 
"Q. Would he call you? 
"A. Yes," 
'" In a letter of July 3, 1968 to Saunders, Odell wrote: 
"DEAR STUART: I am apprehensive about the Macco operations and fear there may be some unpleasant 

surprises latcr 011. Unconfirmed rumors concerning Macco are quite unfavorable. Large investments in 
undeveloped land are very speculative in any market, and expecially nnder present and forseeable money 
conditions. Interest charges and taxes usually double the cost in about 5 years-without development and 
planning, which is always very costly. 

"I am for whatever is good for Penn Central, Pennsylvania Co. and Stuart Sauuders. 
"However, there is so much chance for bad judgment and manipulation in land development projects, I 

feel they should be most carefully watched." (Letter from Odell to Saunders July 3, 1968.) 
Odell was concerned that Saunders would be caught unaware. Unknown to Odell, SalJ.nders was directly 

involved himself in Macco through the extpnsion of his insistence on maximization of reported profits to 
Macco management. Saunders nevertheless reas,ured Odcll of Penn Central's review: 

"Without overdoing it, I think it is safe to my that there is aimost daily commnnication between officers 
of the Penn Central and t,hese companies and finally, which I presume you realize, immediately after we 
acquired Maceo, Peat, Marwick, Mitchell and Co. were engaged as certificd pnblic accountants for them 
and we have had audited statements every year thereafter. I might also say that I, of course, follow the 
activities of Maccc closely as well as that of all of onr other snbsidiaries." (Letter from Saunders to Odell, 
Aug, 15, 1968.) 

211 Skadden, Arps, Meagher & Flom, a law firm working for the board's conflict of interest committee, 
~~,:~~u_~,:~ ~~~t}~:_~~~~ctors did have an obligatiou to become involved, but this view was not made known 



12,7 

significant informa,tion about Great Southwest's condition or affairs 
was presented. This was Odell's last board meeting. After repeated 
attempts to get more information on Great Southwest and to get man­
agement changes, including the replacement of Bevan and Saunders, 
Odell resigned. Penn Central directors have stated that they were 
unaware of most of the significant events in Great Southwest. After 
Odell left the board, the directors ceased further inquiry into the 
matter.212 

PROFIT MAXIMIZATION THROUGH SALES OF BRYANT RANCH, SIX FLAGS 
OVER GEORGIA, SIX FLAGS ,OVER TEXAS, AND OTHER SALES 

As' early as August 1967, in a memorandum to Wynne analyzing 
Macco's situation, Baker had raised the suggestion that :Macco engao·e 
in "blllk" land sales, including prepaid interest arrangements. 213 He 
went even further and stated that the prepaid interest transaetions 
could be effected even without using Maceo lanel. These tax oriented 
transactions were to boost the earnings of Great Southwest and Maceo 
by several hundred percent over the next 2 years. These increases, 
in tum, vvere loudly broadcast to the public as a demonstration of the 
miraculous performance of Great Southwest and the great benefits 
being received by the railroad from its diversification (while masking 
some of the railroad's growing losses). The miracle was made of paper 
and the condition of Great Southwest was in fact declining rather than 
soaring. The principal transactions contributing to the miracle were 
the sales of Bryant Ranch, Six Flags Over Georgia and Six Flags Over 
Tex[Ls. There were other profit ma}..-imization efforts as wp.l1. 

Bryant Ranch was sold by Macco for $31 million in December 1968. 
The sale produced a profit of $9,925,780 for IVIacco. The syndicated 
group of approximately 400 investors (seeking tax shelters) paid 
$6,039,000 in cash. Six hundred thousand dollars of this amount was 
[L clown payment on the principal (leaving a balance of $30,400,000). 
The rest was prepaid interest (tax deductible by the individual 
investors). No principal payments 'were due until 1984. The only obli­
gation of the investors during the years 1969 to 1983 was a yearly 
payment of $1 million in interest payments (which were tax deductible 
to the investors). The interest at the 7-percent rate shown on the face 
of the note would have been $2,128,000 but any excess over $1 million 
was not payable until 1984. The investors had no personal obligation 
under California law to make any payments after making the initial 
cash investment. Macco, however, had an obligation to make recrea­
tional improvements estimated to cost $2 million but which eventually 
cost $5,500,000. Macco had a further obligation to develop lots for 
all 400 investors and to buiJd an access highway at an estimated cost 
of $4 million. Maceo was further obligated to pay other cost of devel­
oping the entire property. 

Baker has stated that it was he who first proposed the Bryant Ranch 
tax oriented syndication. He was vague, however, about how he first 
learned of this kind of real estate trunsaction.214 Baker consulted law 

'" This matter is more Cully treated in the section oC this report covering the role oC the directors. 
'" Memorandum from Baker to Wynne Aug. 5, 1967. 
,It "Q. How did you first become aware of that procedure? 
"A. What do yoU mean? 
"Q. About tbe prenaid interest type of transaction? 
"A, I really don't know. I menno anyhody who is in the investment, you know, actively in the real est.ate 

bUSiness, you know, becomes aware oC the various types of sales that are taking place and the terms. It is 
lust n nart of hp.ine- involved in the active business communitv." 
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linns on the structuring of these tax transactions including a firm 
which had a connection with Property Research, an organization that 
e\Tentually syndicated Bryant Ranch and th.e two amusement parks. 

:Macco at first attempted to syndicate the property through its 
own resources. By early 1968 a plan was formulated for the syndica­
tions and possible investors were being sought. A prospectus was 
prepared in the summer of 1968 216 and investors were given tours of 
the property. By September it was apparent that IVracco would be 
nnable to obtain a sufficient number of investors on its own and 
Property Research was brought into the planning. Wayne Hughes 
of Property Research headed the project for that firm. By the end of 
1968, 15 percent of the syndicated interests remained unsold. The 
transaction was cksed, however, before the end of the year and 
Macco deferred accounting for the 15-percent unsold portion until 
1969. 

The two amusement parks owned by Great Southwest Corp. were 
sold through tax-oriented syndications in 1968 and 1969 (Six Flags 
Over Georgia in December 1968; Six Flags Over Texas in June 1969). 
Limited partnerships were syndicated to investors.216 The limited 
partnership contributed the parks to a second limited partnership. 
A subsidiary of Great Southwest was the general partner and had 
sole and exclusive control of the operation of the parks. 

The Georgia park was sold for $22,980,157 with a downpayment of 
$1,500,000 and prepaid interest of $1,450,000. Annual interest pay­
ments were $1,249,500 through 1974 and $759,500 thereafter until 
2004. Principal payments of $700,000 yearly were to begin in 1974 and 
continue until 2004. The Texas park was sold for $40 million with a 
down payment of $1,500,000 and prepaid interest of $3,932,670. 
Interest payments were $1,221,354 yearly and principal payments 
were $1,094,331 starting in 1971, and continuing until 2005. 

In neither transaction were the investors personally liable for the 
remaining obligations of the contract. Ninety percent of park earnings 
were obligated to meeting interest and principal payluents until 50 
percent of the Georgia park principal or 33}~ percent of the Texas park 
principal had been paid. 217 The amusement parks had been generating 
cash and the syndications caused oilly a minor decrease in cash ·:Bow 
(the cash was returning through interest and principal payments). 
The sale generated profits which were subject to tax but this did not 
directly affect Great Southwest because of the tax loss shelter of Penn 
Central. Payment obligations were incurred, however, because the 
tax allocation agreement with the Transportation Ce. required GSC 
to pay Transportation for 95 percent of the tax savings realized from 
the shelter. 

These syndications were not sales of p'roperty but, were, rather, 
sales of tax and other benefits in exchange for immediate reported 
profits and some immediate cash. Even the inflated profits could not 
continue, however, since GSC had used the best syndication vehicles 
in these initial syndications.218 These profits were, in turn, repeatedly 
and falsely represented to GSC and Penn Central shareholders and to 
the investing public as reflecting enormous and sustained growth. The 

'" This was an intrastate offering and no SEC filing was made. 
!III These syniications W;3re r~gistered with the COlnmission. 
'" 'rhere are other details of the transactions which tend to indicate that GSe continued to be, in practical 

effect, owner and that GSe g,we np certain benefits in order to book a profit. 
'" In early 19iO Baker proposed the pnrchase of property for the pnrpose of syndicating it at great profit. 

Great Southwest management was unable to explain how this could have been achieved and no such sales 
(,01111"1 ht:o ",fiDPt.:.rl 
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price of GSC shares soared 219 and the growth in reported earnings 
helped to mask the losses of the railroacl. 220 The price rise for Great 
Southwest stock was itself an important benefit for Penn Centi'al be­
cause PennCf) owned approximately 25 million shares of GSC. Each 
additionfLI point on the price meant an increase of $25 million in 
Pennco's portfolio (at $40 a share, GSC's peak price, the holdings 
eq nalled $1 billion). Pennco was used to borrow $85 million in 1969 
and was the vehicle for the abandoned $100 million debenture offering 
in 1970. The Pennco common stock was security for the $300 million 
revol ving credit of the Transportation Co. Bevan repeatedly empha­
sized Pennco's portfolio (of which GSC was the principal asset) to 
lenders and to the public. 

Penn Central officers and employees were ,continuously aware of, 
find were consulted about these transactions.221 As stated above, Penn 
Central officers continuously reviewed forecasts and discussed those 
forecasts with GSC officials. In addition, the cash flow impact of 
major transactions was discussed in detail by Penn Central employees 
in Philadelphia. 

The managements of Great Southwest and Penn Central were not 
satisfied with recording profits from the saIes of the amusement parks. 
After the sale of the $.50 million of Penn co debentures in 1969 but be­
fore the end of the calendar year, Great Southwest and its accountants 
decided on a change in the reporting of the income from the sale of 
Six Flags Over Georgia and Six Flags Over Texas. The sale of Six Flags 
Over Georgia in 1968 had been carried as extraordinary income. 222 The 
sale of Six Flags Over Texas in June of 1969 had also been reported as 
extraordinary income in interim financial statements. Before the close 
of the 1969 year, the reporting was changed to show the sales as ordi­
nary income. The ostensible reason for the change to ordinary income 
was that Great Southwest had changed its business and had become 
engaged in the building and selling of amusement parks mther than 
in the building and ownership of amusement parks. At this time in 
late 1969 Great Southwest had begun construction of an amusement 
park in St. Louis to be called Six Iflags Over Mid-America. This park 
was scheduled to open in the spring of 1971. 

No other parks were being built or were in any planning stage There 
had earlier been plans to develop a park near San Francisco but that 
plan was abandoned early in 1969 when local opposition developed. 
When asked to explain how Great Southwest could determine that it 
had changed its course of business the company officers made vague 
references to their hopes or aspirations. They also referred to "studies" 

'" Thc price of Great Southwest shares increased as follows: 

l1iUh {lids: 
lU64 •••••••••••• ____ • __ •• _____ • ____________ . _____________________________ • _ .•.• _ .... _ •• _. ____ • _ _ _ 2~ 

lU65. __ .••••• __ ._ •• _ ••• _. __ • ________________ • ______________________ • __ •• ___ •• ____ •••• ____________ 47!;i 
J!)66. __ ..... _. __ ._ .. _. _____________________ .. ______________________ ._ .. ___ ..... ___ .. _____________ 4% 
J!)6;._ .. _. ___ .. ______ . __________________ . _____________________ . __ ._ .......... ____________________ 4% 
lUGS •••.•• __ • __ • _. ___ • _ •• __ • _______________ • _______________________ ••••••• _ ••• __ • ___ • _ ______ ___ _ _ 13% 
IU6U._ .• __ • _______________ • _______________________________________ ••.•••• __ .• ______ . _________ •• _ _ 417!;i 

'" Tho amount of disclosure ahout these transactions varied from detailed recitations in the syndication 
IlI'ospectllSCg (which were not given to G se or PC shareholders) to conscious and explicit luisrclJrcsclltation 
by Penn Cl~ntrBl oHicials. 

m From Bnker's testimony: 
"~. Do you rec.all every describing these prepaid interest transactions with Mr. Bevan or anyone else 

. at.the Penn Central? 
"A. We discussed them at great length with the IlCople at· Penn Central. 
"Q. Who conducted these discussions, yourself principally or were there other people? 
"A. Well, there were a variety of people involved in the discussions. I had them ",iLh Mr. Bevan and 

Mr. Wyn),e. There were various people on the Peon Ceotral staff thaL were involved." 
Tn The sale of Bryant Ranch also had been carried as extraordinary income in 1968. 
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that had been done. These studies were done principally by Economic 
Research Associates. Booklets supplied by Great Southwest for staff 
inspection show only two studies done at the behest of GrelLt South­
west: one for a park in Virginia and the other for one near Toronto. 
The Virginia feasibility study was not done until March 1970, and the 
study for the park in Toronto was couched in terms of financing the 
park for ownership by GSC, not for selling the parle Both studies wero 
limited to preliminary feasibility studies and in no way indicate any 
consideration of going forward with such parks. 

Considering the magnitude of the change in the reporting of income 
involved in switching from extraordinary to ordinary income it !Lppears 
that only superficial consideration was given by the company or its 
accountants to the validity of such a ch:1nge. In 1969 alone, tho profit 
from Six Flags Over Texas accounted for $27.6 million out of the· 
$51.5 million profit booked for that year by Great Southwest. As 
indicated by the construction program of Si..'C Flags Over Mid-Ameriea 
no income from the sale of an amusement park could have been booked 
in 1970. All of the Great Southwest witnesses were unable to recall 
any review by the Peat, l\1arwick officials of the plans Great Southwest 
had for the future development and sale of p!Lrks. 

SOME OTHER METHODS OF PROFIT l\1AXIiVIIZATION 

The principal surge in the income of Great Southwest in 1968 and 
1969 resulted from the syndication sales of assets including Bryant 
Ranch, Si..'C Flags Over Texas and Six Flags Over Georgia. Profits were 
also being maximized by the acceleration of sales of developed re:11 
estate located in the industrial parks. This activity began in 1968 and, 
like the syndications, was linked to Penn Central's desire to be able 
to record greater profits from its subsidiaries to mask the severe losses 
from the operation of the merged railroads. 

In its industrial parks in Texas and Georgia, Great Southwest pre­
pared raw land for use by industrial and commercial firms. A portion 
of this land was inmlediately sold to produce cash for further develop­
ment. Another portion was leased in order to provide a permanent 
flow of income. This was part of a longstanding program at Great 
Southwest.223

• 224 Following the merger of Macco and Great Southwest 
in March of 1969, which elevated Baker and Ray to control, a decisive 
change in industrial real estate policy took place. Emphasis was on 
selling land rather than on a balanced program. This resulted in a 
surge in reported profits, since in earlier periods only a portion of the 
developed land was sold. It also reduced the ratio of leased property 
in Great Southwest's portfolio which ,vould have an adverse effect 
on long-term prospects. In fact, it was a trade off of long-term benefits 
for short-term profits. 

m "But you have to w~igh all those reasons, when you make a sale, as to whether you want the profito!" 
you want to keep th(Ot arumal income. We had been working [or a long time to get our lease income up to 
a million dollars a year in Great Southwest Industrial District, Mark I, and we had." (From Wynne's 
testimony.) 

,,. William Dilliard, a Great Southwest officer who bad responsibility [or all industrial park development 
prior to March, 1969 described the policy: 

"One thing here was that the goals and objectives o[ the company were dilIerent at the time [a couple of 
years plior to March 1969) In other words, they [Great Southwest.) were not trying to sell as mueh land 8S 
they could possibly sell. The idea was to develop land, build buildings, lease the buildings; build up an 
investment port[olio that would produce investment income, pay alI the mortgages, so down the road Ihe 
mortgages were paid off. The revenue would CaITY the overhead o[ the company. So you make-when you 
take a leasing route, your profits-stated profits are much less than if you take an outright sales route. 

"Q. What was the, say, percentage ratio between leasing and sales during that time? 
"A. I'd say about fiCty-I believe about fifty·fifty. In the early years, in order to get the property 

started. 'va han t.o ~p.1I1R.nrl to n~p.l~ R.nn npnnlp ,..~lIprl invpc:tnT_hl1Hr'lDrc: tn 1'T1at.-p it ath·"' ..... tiT7O QnA .,,11 " 
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The industrial park profits from land sales increased from approx­
imately $2 mil1ion in 1968 to $3,700,000 in 1969 and the profit goal in 
1970 was $4,600,000.225 These increases were attributed to the change 
from leasing to sales.226 

There was also constant pressure on the sales manager of the indi.ls­
trial parks to produce maximum profits by accelerating the sales of 
specific projects into an earlier reporting period according to William 
Dilliard, a Great Southwest official in charge of industrial park 
development: 

Question. Did YOH ever leaTn, say that Penn Central had wq,nted Great Southwest 
to perform better in any pal·ticula,' quarter and that therefore was the cause of . . . 

Answer. This was my understo.ndillg. I had heo.rd that that was tlie case. 

Question. Now, how did you hea,' thatr Was it just a rumor, 0" did somebody tell Y01t'l 

Answer. Well, usua1l3' my superior would ask me, could I make more profit or 
push it into this thing, and I would imagine that they would say, well, the owners 
of the Penn Central, or the boss wants us to do better. 

Question. Is that what they would tell you? 
Answer. Yes, I believe so. Tho.t's the way I reco.ll it. 

Question. Can you recall any specific individual . . . 
Answer .... I would hear through William Ray or Hans Zwyter [o.n assistant 

of Ray] or one of his assisto.nts that if we needed to get pushed up or try to come 
in with higher profits for that period of time, could I do it. 

An increased rate of sales, of course, is not improper conduct. 
Where, however, projects are taken from future dates for the purpose 
of boosting profits in a particular quarter, a false impression of mcreas­
iug activity and profit can be given. It appears that this was the case 
with many of GSC's transactions. It is clear that the desires of Penn 
Central management for more income were well known at all levels in 
Great Southwest and that these syndications and accelerations were 
undertaken to book increased profits without full disclosure of the 
purpose or long range impact of this conduct. 

TAX ALLOCATION AGREEMENT 

Among Penn Central's "assets" was an enormous tax loss carry­
forward. Both the Pennsylvania and the New York Central had 
extensive perbds of losses and the performance of the merged railroad 
added vastly to the losses. Because of this loss carry-forward Penn 
Oentral and its consolidated subsidiaries, including Great Southwest, 
paid no Federal taxes. 

Prior to the merger of the New York Central and the Pennsylvania 
railroads, several of the New York Central's subsidiaries had entered 
into tax allocation agreements with that railroad. These tax allocation 
agreements sought to obtain for the parent company a portion of the 

'" Total profits from industrial park operations (including Texas aud Georgia and including buildings): 
1~&L ........... ____________ ..... ____ .. ____________ . _____ , ___ __ _ ____ _________ ______________ _ $748, 9~; 
J!J65 ____ •• ______________________ ••• _____________ • __ •• _______________ • ________ . _______________ 1,304,413 
In66 _____ ... _________________ .... ______________ . _ ... __ . ______________________________________ 2,192,730 
HI67 _______ • _. _. _______________ ••• _ .•• _________ .' __ •• _. _____________________ . ________________ 2,358, 7U2 
1968 __ . __ ' _. _. ___ . _______ . ______ . __ ...... _ .. __________ ... _ .. __ . ______ . __ .. __ . _. _. ____________ 6,62.3.263 
1909 (6 months) _______________ ... _. _. _________ ...... _____________ . ___________________ . ______ 3,651,389 

~a From Dilliard's testimony: 
"Q. Is that ditfcT('nce in the profits plimarily from tbis cbangc to sales? 
"A. T would think SQ, yes. 
"Q. You're doing essentially the same developing at tbe same rate, is that con'ect? 
"A. Yes, tbat's right. And we began to sell nlore properties tbau we sold before .... 
"Q. But it wasn't because the whole tempo of the de"l"elopment was increasing was it? 
"A. No, I tbink a lot of it had to do with the change in policy." 
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tax savings enjoyed by the subsidiary because of the tax losses of the 
parent. Typically, the agreements required that the subsidiaries pn,y 
the parent a percentage of the t1LX saving. These agreements were 
entered into only with subsidiaries which had minority shareholder 
interests because only the minority interest portion of the tax savings 
was not recovered by the parent. The cases on such agreements indi­
cn,te that tax allocation agreements are legal when they fairly adjust 
the benefits between the parent and the subsidiary. The question of 
fairness is not l11ways easily resolved. 

On October 28, 1968, at the insistence of the Penn Central officials 
Great Southwest entered into a tax allocation ugreement with Penn 
Central (the Transportution Compuny a.fter October 1, 1969).227 Under 
the agreement Great Southwest was obligated to ptty to Penn Central 
95 percent of the taxes it would pay if it were filing separu.tely. Tax 
allocation agreements are not uncommon between subsidiaries and 
their parents. The relationship between Great Southwest and Penn 
Central was uncommon, however. Great Southwest had undertaken 
ru.pidly to expand reportable earnings for the purpose, to a large ex­
tent, of helping to cover Penn Central's ruilroacL losses. Under Penn 
Central's tux shelter, the booking of these profits had no adverse tax 
consequence. Under the tax allocation agreeme~J.t, however, Great 
Southwest was in apprQ),:imately the same position it would have been 
if it had to pay taxes. In such a "ituation, Great Southwest woul(l 
normally have avoided transactions such as the sales of the amuse­
ment parks which created large tax liabilities, at least in a.ccounting 
terms.228 Great Southwest could have deferred taxes or utilized tn,x 
shelters if it were not for Penn Central's need for earnings and "per­
formance" from Great Southwest.229 

As a solution to this problem, Great Southwest almost from t.he 
beginning sought to have Penn Central eliminate the tax allocat,ion 
agreement so that Great Sout.hwest would not have to incur lnrge 
tax liabilities while pursuing the maximization of reportable profit. 

Bevan, however, remained adamant about the continuation of the 
agreement. 230 Bevan's interest. was not related to any prospect Penn 

:1:!7 At the tinle, Great Southwf.'st was attempting to conclude the synrliClltNl sales of Bryant H::ll1ch find 
Six Flags Over Georgia. 'Penn Ccntrullnanagenlcnt had participated in evaluating, a.nd wus aWare of. t,)lL'SC 
pending transactions. 

:!!S Neither the agrcenlent nor the tax rules rCfluirc paynlp.nt of ta:ws at the tillle the profit is booked; 
payment is marlc only as thl~ profit is 9.CtuaHy rpceived. Great Southwest was required hov,,"evcl' to make an 
ar.c·\unting nrovisicn for the total expectcriliahility. 

:!19 From WynnlJ's tcstinlOllY: 
"Q .. Did you ever dis~uss wit.h 1"1r. Bevan whether. if it wl'ren't. for the interest of Penn Central in 

Great Southwest, that Great So·uthwrstmight haye done things diITerent.ly that woulon·t have ineurr"cI 
as luuch taxes? 

A. Oh. yes. 
Q. Do you have that view, yoursel[? Appar!'nlly, it was expressrcl by a view that Mr. Baker harl macle. 
·A. Oh, yes, Certainly. As a matter o[ [act, j[ we had be.en operating without the t"x shelter, tht're nrc 

a number o[ things that we could have done to obviate taxes that we did not do, Ami this was'pointed 
out to him [rom time to time. 

r c3n't give yoU a "oncrete example o[ whnt I'm talking about now. but it would have been the sale 
and/or lease o[ real estate ruther than sale, and realizing a profit taken over a peliod o[ time mtlll'-r than 
all at once. 

Froln Baker'S testhnony: 
A. It seemed unfair to us to have to pay [or a tax effect [through the allocation agreement] when we, 

meaning the Great Southwest Corp .• ha:\ no control over its own tnx return. 
Q. What do you mean by that? 
A. Just what I said. We were filing a consolidated return and if we were not to be provide!1 with n 

pat·p.nt tax shelter, then, we should have had the opportunity to create our own to such an (\xtl'nt that 
such creation made good bUSiness sensp. 

,,. The Transportation Co. (company only) rec~ivcd an additional, i[ relatively small. boost in income 
through the reportable profit maximization efforts o[ Oreat Southwest. The profits o[ Great Southwest 
were inclu'lea in the results of Penn Central (consolidated). Because o[ the tax allocation ogreement, how· 
ever. the Transportation Co. (company only) was ahle to record amounts due under the tax agreenll'lI t os 
incOllle. 
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Central might have had of reCelvmg cash from Great Southwest. It 
is doubtful whether Penn Central ever expected to receive payment 
from Great Southwest under the tax allocation agreement. 231 Indeed, 
the cash dra.in at Great Southwest was large and growing larger COB­
standy and Pennco itself was supplying substantial amolmts of cash 
to Illeet Great Southwest's needs. 

By September 1969, Great Southwest management had decided to 
make another attempt to persuade Bevan to cancel the tax nllocation 
agreement with Great Southwest. Baker worked with Byron vVilliams, 
a Great Southwest lawyer, in preparing a memorandum to be llsed as n. 
basis for discussing cancellation of the agreement with Penn Central 
officials. The memorandum was written from Baker to Be\-nn and 
dated September 12, 1969. This memorandum was sho,,-n to and dis­
cussed with Wynne. It was then used in a meeting It short time later in 
Bevan's office. The bulk of the memorandum is in~ the general form of a 
brief on the cases governing tax allocation agreements between parents 
and subsidiaries. The principal rule governing such agreeml'nts, the 
memorandum asserts, is that both parties be treated fairly. A descrip­
tion of benefits to be received by Penn Centml shareholders upon 
termination of the agreement is discussed in the context of the stated 
rule. 

The memorandum concludes with an indirect threat present.ed in 
the guise of a further discussion of the fairness of the arrangpmen t 
between the parent and the subsidiary. The threat also re\-eals GrefLt 
Southwest's true motivation for fLccclerating the pa.ce of recorded 
profits: to make Penn Central look better even at the possible expense 
of the interests of minority shareholders of Great SOllth,,-est. . 

Set forth belo\\' are the relevant portions of the memornndmn. The 
memorn.ndum is quoted extensively because it ::;ets forth t.he entire 
JIll1tter of the relation of GSC's earnings to Penn Central desires. 

The next factor bearing upon whether our execution of this agreement is a 
reasonable exercise of business judgment, and whether Sl1mc is fLtir t111d just to t.he 
minority shitreholders, is aguin illustrated by a pas~age frum the Sullivan LC: 
Cromwell Opinion which directly quotes an observation by the court in the 
Cu.~e suit, noting thlLt a majority :shareholder if< required not to "u~e its power tC) 
gain undue advantage at the eXiJens'3 of the minority * * * and to follow a 
cOllrse of fair dealings toward minority shareholder:> in t.he way it, [mana.ges] the 
corporation's busine~s." I am confident that you realize I person<Llly am Bot 
about to criticize Penn CentraJ's management of GSC, vis-a-vis the minorit.y 
,;hareholder or otherwise, to accuse it of being unfair to us 01' them, (II' to aeclI"c 
iI, of trying to take any undue :1dvantage. However, issUf'!s such as the>lc do get 
examined in the context of as'5ertioJl~ that can be made by a disgruntled minority 
~hareholder, possibly in LL shareholder's deriviltiv, action, a.nd, i1S a.lwa.y" in such 
~ituati()n~, with the benefit of 20/20 hindsight. 

-:31 From Baker's testilnonv: 
(l· What cash ilnpact dirt the allocation ngrcenwnt have 011 Cheat Southwest? 
A. It would have a suhstantial cash impact, if we had eve,' milde any cash payments ullder it. 
Q. Was this a concel'l1 to Ureat Southwest management? 
A. It certainly was. 
Q. Was this mentioned or brought up in discussions with the Pmlll Central officials? 
A. Very much so. 
Q. What was theil' response to you concerning this? 
A. Well, they said that we will work out something when the time ('omes. 
Q. Do you know what the officers meant when they said, the Penn Central officers, when they said, 

we will work sonlething out when the t.ime comes? 
A. No. Please let me-I don't mean to nmke that statement as. you know, this is exactly what they 

said in response to our quest.ion about what happens when we have to 111B,ke paYlllCnts. It \,,-US just 
something that was pushed off into the fu\ure by the Penn Central Company. 

The umOWlts first payable under thp. agreement were "forgivpn" on the I~t dr.:,- of 1069 in all ex('han~~ of 
1I.,wly issue:l Great Southwest stock for debt owed by Great Southwest to Penn eo. See page 1~3 (or further 
dcs"liption o( the exchange. 
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Any such litigation would presumably be predicated upon an assertion by such 
a shareholder that the alleged 5 percent tax saving afforded asc by filing con­
solidated Federal income tlLX returns with the Penn Central group, and utilizing 
the group's tax loss carryovers, is more than offset by the tax liability incurred 
by asc in failing to avail it~elf of all possible tax savings in an effort to produce 
needed profits for its controlling shureholder. In any such suit, I would certainly 
testify that I have always been advised by officers of the Penn Central that I 
had a duty to avail myself of all tax minimizing devices possible, and that I have 
certainly never been coerced to produce profits at the expense of tax savings. 
However, and by the same token, I would have to admit under oath that asc 
has always had, and we certainly value, an excellent day-to-dlLY working rela­
tionship with our Penn Central parent, take great pride in our contributions to 
its earnings, and consistently make every effol"t possible to increase that contri­
bution. While such evidence should conclusively show that thc Penn Central has 
never forccd asc, through its majority control, to pl·oduce profits against the 
best interests of the subsidiary's minority shareholders, I can nevertheless foresee 
a judge and/or jury concluding (with that famous 20/20 hindsight) that we, as 
officers and directors of asc, had been guilty of a conflict of interest between our 
majority and minority shareholders, to the detriment of the minority. A perfect 
example of a transaction which might give rise to such a conclusion is the sale 
of the Geprgia and Texas amusement parks. Although both salcs made excellcnt 
sense, for all the reasons previously advanced to you, and while I have no reser­
vations about their economic validity, a disgruntled minority shareholder could 
nevertheless easily argue that GSC, at the direct instance of the Penn Central, sold 
two of its substantial and profitable assets· solely to produce substantial profits for 
its majo/·ity shareholders within given financial periods. 232 In making the sales, and 
as a necessary considemtion to the investing syndicates for achievement of such 
substantial profits, asc gave up all depreciation which had theretofore been 
available to offset the income from such profitable and productive assets. There­
fore, and again with the benefit of 20/20 hindsight a group of minority share­
holders could well argue that, not only was asc's income from such assets re­
duced, but there was no longer available any depreciation whatsoever to offset 
such income; the result being that every dollar of the substantial tax savings that 
would otherwise be lost to the Intcrnal Revenue Service by asc (on a separate 
return basis), now amounts to a loss of 95 cents to Penn Central, at least in the 
form of an account payable (on a consolidated return basis), as a result of the tax 
allocation agreement. (Without even considering the large tax liability generated 
by the sales themselves.) 

The threat is only thinly veiled and its presentation brought a hostile 
response from Bevan. Was Baker prepared to say that these trans­
actions were done by Baker to please Penn Central at the oxpense of 
Great Southwest minority shareholders, Beven inquired. Baker was, 
of course, not willing to make such a statement. Bevan's point was 
clear: if Penn Central had hnrmed minority shareholders of GSC, so 
had the management of GSC. 

Baker also noted in his memorandum thnt Pennco was only hurting 
Great Southwest by burdening it with a debt to Pennco and that, in 
any event, Pennco could not reasonably expect to have Great South­
west pay the debt: 

As I noted earlier, if called upon immediately to pay its full account payable to 
Penn Central, arising from the tax allocation agreement, asc would be unable to 
do so, because it just does not have the cash. By the same token, we are expected 
to independently finance our own operations insofar as possible, but, at the same 
time, our ability to do so is lessened by the fact that our balance shcet must show 
this resulting substantial account payable to our Penn Central parent. Again 

. theretofore, I personally question whether, in the exercise of reasonable business 
judgment this is proper utilization of group f1l1aneial resources. 

Baker concluded the memorandum with the observation that pro­
posed tax law changes would make Great Southwest's position even 
more difficult under the tax agreement. One change, a then recent 

232 Enlphasis added. 



change in deduction of prepuid interest, was seen us bearing on Great 
Southwest's way of doing business: 

While it cannot be termed new tax legislation, the recent change in the IRS 
ruling on deduction of prepaid interest has already adversely affccted GSC's ability 
to make and consummate certain profitable real estate transactions, both as 
vendor and vendee. 

The "certain profitable reul estute transuctions" iilcluded the large 
syndication sules thut accounted for most of the spectucular rise in 
Grout Southwest's earnings. The diffieulty in completing further deals 
of that sort would not have any relation to the tux agreement but it 
would affect Great Southwest's abilty to continue its growth rate in 
earnings. 233 It appears that the reference to this difficulty appears 
principally to inform Bevan that Great Southwest management could 
not hope to repeat past performances regardless of the pressure from 
Penn Central. Indeed, despite continuing pressure and frantic efforts 
by Baker, Great Southwest was not able to find other deals. 234 

The tax agreement was not cancelled but Great Southwest was 
never required to pay any cash. On the last day of 1969, Pennco 
accepted GSC stock in exchange for debt arising out of the agreement 
and for debt existing from previous cash advances from Pennco to 
GSC. The tax agreement did not affect activities because Great 
Southwest had already sold its principal assets and the changes in the 
tux ruling mude these and other schemes more difficult to complete. 
At this point Great Southwest was well on its wuy to generating its 
own tax losses. 

OFFICER EMPLOYMENT CONTRACTS 

When Macco was acquired by Penneo, the principal officers wele 
required to enter into employment contracts providing for their 
exclusive employment and for additional compensation when ]\tracco's 
earnings exceeded certain amounts.23o The terms for compensation 
were based on the performance levels of :Macco which were projected 
at the time of PeImco's acquisition of the company. No employment 
contracts existed for Great Southwest officers. 

By the late spring of 1968, man.y of the original officers of Macco 
had left. They had been replaced by Baker and his appointees. At 
the request of Pen.n Central, Baker, Ray, Wynne, and Caldwell 236 

executed employment contracts on June 3, 1968. The contracts pro­
vided that Wynne would receive as additional compensation over and 
above his regular salary, 3 percent of the net income before taxes in 
excess of $10 million; Baker would receive 2 percent of such an amount 
and Ray and Caldwell would receive 1 percent.237 Based on 1968 
results Wynne earned $299,027, in udditionul compensution; Baker 
earned $199,158 and Ruy und Cald,vell euch earned $99,675.238 

In the yeurs preceding 1968, there appeared to be little likelihood 
that the employment contracts would require any payments. The 
results for Macco and Great Southwest even when combined were well 
below the $10 million threshold. 

"'In October ID69, GSC had to abandon a proposed publir. offering because, among other things, it 
would have had to disclose that tax chauges made it unlikely that its profits could continue. 

'" The last such deal was Six Flags Over Texas which was sold at the cnd of the second quartor in !U6n. 
This sale coincided with the highest price for Great Southwest stock (40). From t.hat point the value steadily 
declined to In at year end and to 5 at the bankruptcy of the railroad. 

'" Wynne was to receive 3 percent of earnings in .. xcess of $10 million and four other officers would each 
rec~ivc 1 percent of such earnings. Wynne was an officer of both ]\faceo and Great Southwest. 

:3, Wynne and CaldWell had previously been Macco employees under contract. 
"" The contract period w.as from Jan. 1, 1968, to Dec. 31,I!Ji2. 



1964________________________________________________________ $928,857 
1965________________________________________________________ 1, 91~ 974 
1966 ____ ~___________________________________________________ ~ 73~ 631 
1967 ________________________________________________________ 6,711,616 
1068 ________________________________________________________ 2~ 42~ 215 

Baker and Ray have stated that they were reluctant about entering 
into these contracts because they disliked the requirement of exclusive 
employment for the duration of the contract. However, at the time 
they entered into the contract, the idea of syndication was well 
developed and much planning had been completed. They would 
have known of the benefits they could reap through syndications. It 
appears that Bevan had determined that the bonsues would be worth 
the price in the encouragement they would give Baker and Ray to 
push for profit maxi!Jlization. , 

The size of the remuneration being received by the officers for 1968 
alarmed Saunders when he learned of it. He was particularly concerned 
by the possible reactions of Penn Central directors if they were to 
learn of this generous remuneration.239 Gerstnecker was assigned the 
task of negotiating a new employment contract. New contracts were 
entered into on June 4, 1969. In settlement of the previous contracts 
Wynne was paid $3 million in cash. Baker was to be paid $2 million 
over 10 years and Ray and Caldwell were to receive $1 million each 
over 10 years. The new contracts provided additional compensation 
for Wynne, Baker and Ray of 3, 2, and 1 percent of earnings of the 
combined l\1n.cco and Great Southwest entity in excess of $35 million 
in 1969; $40 million in 1970; $45 million in 1971 fmd $50 million in 
1972.240 The contracts were to expire on December 31, 1972. The 
additional yearly compensation was limited to $125,000 for Wynne; 
$100,000 for Baker and $75,000 for Ray.21l 

. Disclosure abou t" the agreements was a concern shared by Saunders 
and others at Penn Central. Great Southwest itself could look forward 
to disclosure in a prospectus for a public offering then being planned. 
Gerstnecker informed Bevan that the settlement as worked out would 
avoid the more damaging aspects of disclosure: 

If approved by the Board of Great Southwest, it [the termination. and new 
agreement] will, of course, become an accomplished fact and can and will be 
discussed in only general terms in any future prospectus with the settlement 
agreements being only a historical fact which will have re::mlted from the merger 
of two companies and the new contracts having a ceiling on compensation to 
the extent of no more than t,,,iee of t.heir base salary}42 

Saunders was also concerned with whether the new agreements 
\Voultl insure the continued performance of the GSC management: 

I under"tand l\-1r. Ger::;tllecker believes, and I gather you also agree, that 
the new >lettlement and agreement will provide sufficient inl:enLive for these 
officer:; to maximize ellrning:3.243 

As with many of Penn Oentral affairs in these years, attempt.s to 
conceal one aspect of the activities created a chain reaction which 
itself hlld to be covered over as best as possible. With the employment 
contracts, the initial incentive payments exceeded propriety when 

:!JII The Penn Central directors were unaware of the compensation being paid or the amount paid for 
renegotiation. Most of the directors admitted to surprise or shock wheIl informed of the magnitude of the 
cOllloen3ation nod s~ttlem~nt. 

"'-Base .,alarics were $125.000. $100,000, and $75,000 for Wynne, Baker. and Ray respectively. 
'" Caldwell was to receive a base salary of $55,000 plus compensation of 1 prrcent of the exCCSS of Maceo 

i'nrning~ only. 
'" MemoranrlUlll from Gerstneckpr to Bevan, May ~. 1009. 
'" Memorandum from Saunders to Be'n\ll, June 2, 1909. 



Great Southwest and 1\1acco engaged in schemes to maximize repor-te(l 
earnings. Costly settlements then were entered into to limit. the 
exorbitant compensation. The terms were described in the April 22, 
1970, Great Southwest proxy, but as Gerstnecker observed, Great 
Southwest was able to descdbe it in terms that were historical and 
whose impact was unclear to one who did not know of the full circum­
stances or the true nature of the earnings on which the compensation 
was based. In fact, the settlement was made necessary because of the 
Macco "earnings" surge which was caused principally by the Bryant 
Ranch trn,nsaction.~0!4 1\/In,cco never repeated such a sale so it can be 
said that IVIacco paid the principal officers $7 million for producing a 
booked profit of $10 mi1lion.~45 Penn Central shareholders were not 
informed of this cost of pl'oducingthe Maceo "profit" and the Penn 
Centrn.l directors remained ignorant of the matter. 

ABANDONMENT OF PROPOSED OFFERING OF GREAT SOUTHWEST S'rOCK 

By the late spring of 1969 plans were being made for a public offering 
of Great Southwest stock. At the annua.l shareholders meeting in 
p:p.iladelphia on May 13, 1969, Bevan told the Penn Central share­
holders: 

In this conncction, and I think this is important, we anticipate in all probability 
~elling a relatively small portion of our Great SouthweHt stock this year. This will 
allow u~ t.o reconp a part of our investment, but what is probably more important, 
it will abo create a floating supply of Great Southwcst co 111m on stock and a good 
market for that company';; stock. At thc samc time it will enable Great Southwest 
to finance its futurc necds through the use of convertible issues or through the 
~ale of stock in the market, thereby agaili enhancing itl> potential and ability to 
grow in thc future. 

At a. boa.rd of directors meeting of Great Southwest Corp. on June 4, 
1969, the directors approved the preparation of a draft of a registration 
statement under the Securities Act qf 1933, in connection with a 
proposed issunnee of 1 million shares of preferred stock and an addi­
tional offering by "certain shareholders lin reality Pennco 1 of shares 
of common stock of the corporation held by them." . 

By October 1969 the offering had taken the form of a sale of 700,000 
shares of GSC cumulative preferred stock fer $35 million together 
with a secondary offering by Pennco of 500,000 shares of Great South­
west stock from its holclings. 246 The origin of this proposed offering is 
not clear, but it appears t.o lie with Penn Central management.247 m 
As Bevan told the stockholders, Pennco could recoup part of their 
investment and [t\soere[tte a larger market for the stoCk.249 The offer-

!H ~(I~ pag(~ ] 27 . 
us The fo1l"JTtula uc:cd by Penn C('.Ilt.ra,11nano.gcmcnt was purportedly ba.sed OIl projretrrl increa~ing proHt.s 

through the years of the contrart. Penn Central managenlent, hcwevrr. was aware of the kind of trail;;portu­
lion that had produt'cd the "enl'nin~5" surg~ and nlust have known that there was no hope oC continuing 
thr. charade, parti~ulal'ly ill light or Grent Southw'3st's critical cash problems. 

'" It appoars that the oITering was dplayed in part hy possihle problems under Sec. 16 of the Exchange 
Art "ccau,n of other recent transactions in GSC stock by Pennco. . 

'" 1I10:;t of the parties to the offering gave vague answers about the origin and demise of the offering despite 
the cxleasiv(' ,"'ork done and the. sudden termination. 

213 From Baker's testimonv: 
A. This was something that the railroad speCifically wanted done in terms of this ofiering. 1 don't 

think anybody at Great Southwest was very much in favor of this kind of olTering, because of tbe dim· 
('ulties it presented to us nlanagenlent-wlse. 

Q. Who at Penn Central wac, the individual or who were the individnals? 
A. !\ir. Bevan was the only ene we reported to. 

'" As B •. van spoke to the shareholdprs, GSa stock prices (high bids) were touching record levels: 
106t-2~~; 1965--4\1; 1~65-4%; 1957-4%: 1968-13%; Jan. 2, 196U-13.7; May·13, 196U-40.25 (record 

high hid); May 10, lOGV-33.~5; Dec. 31. 1!ItiU-16. 
Adjusted to take into account a 10 for 1 ~plit on Apr. 11, 1969. 
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ing of cumulative preferred would, of course, pr.cduce badly needed 
cash for Great Southwest. This motivation would grow greater later 
in 1969 when the railroad itself increasingly began to rely on Pennco 
to meet the railroad's desperat.e cash needs. There was "ne major 
obstacle to satisfying the desires of Pennco and Great Southwest: 
the offering would have to be made by means of a prospectus which 
met the disclosure requirement of the Securities Act. 

In light of the 'way the affairs of the company were being conducted 
by the managements of Penn Central and Great Southwest, it was 
inevitable that the price of full disclosure would be very great. In­
deed, it would appear that from the beginning the price would have 
been more than Penn Central or Great Southwest could pay. Full 
disclosure about the affairs of Great Southwest would certainly cause 
a drc'p'in the market price of Great Southwest stock. Pennco's most 
valuable asset in mld-1969 was its approximately 25 million shares 
of Great Southwest stock (when valued at market price). Pennco, 
in turn, was about to be used as a financing vehicle for the railroad. 
Every drcp of one point in the price of Great Southwest decreased 
the value of Pennco's portfolio by $25 million and such a market 
decline would clearly threaten the ability of the railroad to use Pennco 
as its last source of cash. 250 251 

By the end of September, a draft prospectus was in existence and 
was being reviewed by Penn Central counsel. The offering was almost 
ready for filing of a registration statement with the Commission. 
Wynne told the Great Southwest directors on September 23, 1969, 
that the company llanned to file the registration statement within 
the next 10 days. draft prospectus bears a proof date of October 
13, 1969. This was the last draft that was printed. At this time John 
Harned of Glore Forgan, the underwriters for the proposed issuance, 
was in Dallas for the final arrangements. Harned, who had been 
involved in the initial planning in the summer, was becoming in­
creasingly concerned about the kind of disclosure that would have to 
be made. Most of Great Southwest's earnings had come from the 
selling off of their principal saleable assets and there was considerable 
doubt as to whether this activity could be continued.2S2 253 Harned 
was particularly concerned about the impact that disclosure would 
have on the market price of Great Southwest stock: 

I had analyzed the company in great detail of the Great Southwest, in great 
det.ail, and I had come to the conclusion if the company were to make full dis­
closures of the business as it was then operated, then, in my judgment the more 
sophisticated community would tend to discount the earning power they had 
and there would be a serious seHoff of the stock in the company. 

'50 The market value of Pennco's portfolio was also important in connection with existiug financings. In 
connection with certain borrowings the lenders had been as.W'ed through deht coverage provisions that 
Pennco's assets would not drop below a certain percentage of the outstanding debt. A serious decline in the 
market price of Great Southwest stock could create difficulties under tbese coverage provisions. 

", In the last week of 1969, after GSC stock had been in constant decline, several members of Pennhil 
(including the two officers in Penn Central's Securities Department) began buying GSC stock. Their 
pW'chases constituted most of j,he buy side that week and it is possible that this was an effort to hold UlJ 
the price of GSC a. of the last day of the year against a time when Penn Central migbt need to cite Penneo's 
portfolio market value as of year end. The buyers denied any such effort. 

'" The sale of Six Flags Over Texas in June 1969, was the last major sale that GSC W[lS [lble to mal'e 
despite what GSC management [lclmits were feveri'h efforts to devise further sales of property. 

'53 There were other activities which presented disclosure problems, but the dubious nature of most or 
GSC's earnings was a decisive problem of disclosure ror GSC. 



Harned calculated the consequences to Pennco of a selloff as follmvs: 

Value o( 
Pennco holding Loss to Pennco 

Prico: 20 ________________________________________________________________ _ $488,980,000 _________________ _ 
15 ________________________________________________________________ _ 366, 735, 000 $122, 245, 000 10 ________________________________________________________________ _ 

244, 490, 000 244, 490, 000 

Ho,rned estimated that there would be a sell-off to between 10 and 
15_ Thus Pennco faced an asset loss at market value of up to 0. quo.rter 
of a billion dollars_ This would occur at a time when Pennco was 
planning a public financing and while all the common stock of Penn co 
was pledged on a $300 million rev()lving credit line_ 

Harned and other members of the group working on the prospectus 
were at the Dallas home of George Davis, GSC's outside counsel, 
for an evening work session, when Harned expressed his feeling that 
the offering should not be made. After some discussion, Harned then 
flew to California to tell Baker of his conclusions_ Baker acquiesed_254 

Harned then returned to N ew- York where he told O'Herron about the 
disclosure problems and the effect this disclosure would have on the 
price of the stock. By this time, Harned had obtained the concurrence 
of other senior Glore Forgan officials in his reeommendation_ 255 The 
offering was dropped aud no further information was put forth by 
Great Southwest or Penn Central on this sudden demise or the 
reasons behind it. Harned's forecast of a sell-off was accurate, although 
the period of the sell-off was extended because accurate information 
merely seeped into the marketplace_ By year end the price was 16; 
by the end of March it was 14 and at the end of May it was six_ It is 
clear that the managements of Great Southwest and Penn Central 
realized that the true nature of Great Southwest's earnings, activities, 
and prospects were shockingly less than what was being actively 
represented to the investing public_ For management the registration 
·statement was the moment of truth_ The managements avoided that 
moment, and continued a calculated course of deception. 

In addition to information concerning the inflated and short-lived 
earnings, the prospectus would have contained a considerable amount 
of additional adverse information_ The draft prospectus disclosed the 
.extent of the railroad's ciLsh contribution, through Pennco. This cash 
was needed to meet the severe cash drain at Great Southwest_ Loans 
from Pennco to GSC and :Macco were: 

Percent 
1966--$2,990,000__________________________________________________ 6 
1967--10,400,000_ __ _ _ __ __ _ _ _ _ __ __ _ _ _ _ __ _ _ _ __ __ _ __ _____ ____ ___ ___ __ 6% 
1968--7,400,000 ___________________________________________________ . 6~~ 

1969-5,200,000_ ___ __ _ ___ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ __ _ __ _ __ ___ __ _ ____ _ _____ __ __ ______ 8}~ 

(9 months) 

2S' Davis and members o( GSC management tended to be vagne on the reasons (or the abandonment of 
the offering_ They indicated that the principal reason was that the offering was "premature." 

,,, Charles Hodge, a partner of Olore Forgan and a director o( OSC, was not available for consultation 
during this period. 
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The company received additional cash through purchase of securities 
by the parent: 

Date PW'chaser Secmity Al1l0unt 

Since 106('-- _________ PCTC Pensionl'un(L ______ Unsecured note ___________________________ $2,500,000 
July 15, 1066 ________ Penneo ______________________ 3,500,000 shares series A 6 percent cwnula- 3,500,000 

tive preferred. 
Oct. 0, 1967 _________ PCTC ______________________ 500,000'shares series A senior oy.! percent 500,000 

cumulative preferred. 
Do ______________ PCTC Pension FWld _______ 2,000,000 shares of series A senior 6y'! per- 2,000,000 

cen t cumulati ve preferred. 
Do ______________ Buckeye Pipeline Annuity 250,000 shares series A senior Gy'! percent 250,000 

Plan. cumulative preferred. 
Do ______________ Penn Central Employees _____ do_____________________________________ 250,000 

Mutual Savings 
Association. 

The prospectus hinted that the flow of cash from the railroad might 
not continue indefinitely: 

To the extent that it has been unable to obtain outside financing, the company 
in the past has obtained funds from Pennsylvania Co. and its affiliates. The 
company may not be able to obtain similar loans in the future and accordingly, 
will be required to obtain all its financing from lenders not affiliated with the com-
pany. . 

The prospectus also indicated that GSa faced $80 million of 
scheduled debt payment in 1970 and that 52 percent of GSa's stated 
assets were receivables, almost all of which were from bulk land sales. 

The prospectus also outlined the option which GSa had to acquire 
:Macco and the benefits which accrued to Penn co when GSa acquired 
Maceo in 1969 through negotiation with Pennco and n.ot through the 
option.256 Pennco received $274 million worth of GSa securities in 
exchange for Macco. If GSa could have exercised its option, it could 
have obtained 99 percent of voting control of Macco for $61 million 
according to calculations in the draft perspectus. The terms of the 
option provided thl1t it could be exercised after :Macco repaid to Pennco 
the original purchase price ($39 million). The prospectus stated that 
the option had not been exercised because (1) GSa or Macco might 
not have been able to obtain the financing; (2) that GSa could not 
have compelled Macco to repay the Penn co debt; and (3) that Maceo 
could not have required Pennco to accept repayment (the debt had 
been converted to preferred stock.) 

In connection with the acquisition of Macco by GSa in 1969, a.s just 
described, Glore Forgan received 641,450 shares of GSa (valued at 
$11,500,000 on IVIarch 21, 1969 market price). This, too, appears to 
have been a favorable adjustment of earlier agreements, according to 
the draft prospectus. When Macco was acquired by Pennco, in 1965, 
Glore Forgan received 10,000 shares of Macco (10 percent of the out­
standing common stock) for $10,000. At the same time, Glore Forgan 
gave GSa an option to purchase the 10,000 Maceo shares for 100,000 
GSa shares after Macco had repaid Pennco the $39 million which had 
been advanced to permit the original acquisition. In the 1969 agree­
ment which joined GSa and Macco it was stated that GSa released its 
option to purchase !vfacco shares from Glore Forgan in exchange for 
Ulore Forgan voting its Macco stock in favor of the merger. In nego­
tiation, Glore Forgan received 641,450 shares of GSa in exchange for 

'" The option was granted because GSC had found and evaluated Maceo before its acquisition by Pennco. 
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i~s Macco warrants.257 According to the description in the draft pro­
spectus, if GSC had been able .to exercise the original option it would 
have paid Glore Forgan only 100,000 shares (valued at $1,500,000) 
rather that 641,450 shares (valued at $11,500,000). Approximately 
600,000 of the shares received by Glore Forgan, were distributed to 
Glore Forgan officers. 

The prospectus also reveals that after GSC's annual report for 1968 
was issued, but prior to filing tax returns, GSC changed its income re­
porting so that earnings previously reported on the installment basis 
were reported as 1968 taxable income.258 Net earnings for 1968 were 
increased $7,036,508 above the previously reported·amounts. This in­
formation appears as a footnote to the financial statements. It appears 
that this change in reporting was expressly undertaken to permit 
higher earnings reports to ptospective investors.259 

The draft prospectus also provides some information on individual 
development projects. A careful reading informs the reader that GSC 
had obligated itself for substantial development costs and that some 
land had serious hindra.nces to development. 

The prospectus itself, as it appears in draft form, would not have 
disclosed the true condition of GSC, including Penn Central's domi­
nant role and the plan of maximizing reportable earnings, but it gives 
hints of problems at Great Southwest. 26o GSC and Pennco could not 

. have afforded to tell even what was in the draft prospectus. GSC and 
Pennco failed to disclose the abundance of adverse information known 
at that time. The cancellation of the offering is a clear demonstration 
of the knowing and willing concealment of adverse information by 
Penn Central and Great Southwest. 

FAILURE OF ALTERNATIVE EFFORTS To SELL GREAT SOUTHWES'l' STOCK 

The forced cancellation of the proposed public offering put pressure 
on Great Southwest and Pennco. Great Southwest had an urgent need 
fol' cash and Pennco needed reportable profits. The first alternative 
effort was a private placement by Great Southwest. GSC officials 
tn,lked with several prospective buyers, including Bethlehem Steel 
Corp., but it was unable to find any buyers. Great Southwest's 
financial plie:ht worsened. 

Penn co stIll sought desperlttely to record gltins for the sale of some 
of its Great Southwest stock. Such a sale was needed to boost the 
reported profits of Pelillco,which had become the prime financing 
vehicle/61 and to boost the profits in the consolidated reports. It would 
also create the illusion for potential GSa investors that Great South­
west stock ,vas desirable. The only avenue that could be found was a 
sale to the principal officers of GSC, Wynne, Baker and Ray. These 
officers were to purchase 1 million shares from Great Southwest for 

'" Glore Forgan's interest' in Maceo had been converted from ~hares to wan'ants in 1967. 
'" :'.lacen was not covered by the. tax allocation agreement in 1968 and did not dednct taxes from earnings 

hccause of the 113rent's loss c3lTy·f)rward. 
2~1l ;\1emorandum from Bevan to Saunders, Sept. 11, 19G!l: 

With respect to yom memorandum of September 10 about the tax elections of Maceo: 
Messrs. Warner, Hill, Wilson, and myseU met this afternoon and are unanimously of the opinion 

that we should go along with the Macco management's recommendation. This will add almost 
$0.50 a share to the reported earnings for I, .. t year, and merely on a basis of 10 times earnings will 
add $5 a share to the value of any stock sold, and if it goes to 20 tim'lS eamin~s it would add $10 a 
share. Our capital gains [from Pennco's participation in the sale of GSC stock] would be enbanced 
by this amount .. 

". The prospectus was not filed with or reviewed by the SEC. 
'" A proposed sale of GSC stock to GSC officers was mentioned in the Dec. 16, 1969. circular for the 

.!SO.ODO.OM Ppnnp.n (1 phpnhu-p nff",,";nrr 
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npproximately $:tlJ million. A refinement of the proposal called for 
the purchase of an additional million shares. Despite much activity, 
the scheme was not promising. Neither Baker, Ray nor Wynne had the 
resources to make this purchase. 262 Even if resources could have been 
made available, it is doubtful that Baker and Ray ever would have 
committed themselves to such a dubious investment under terms mak­
ing them personally liable for the purchase price. 263 

The scheme appears to have been developed by Bevan nnd Wynne.264 

Wynne had helped found GSC nnd had lost his stock in his personal 
bankruptcy in 1964. Since that time he had been making purchases of 
the stock. Wynne apparently sought financing from several companies 
and individuals of his acquaintance but was unsuccessful. 

At Penn Central, approval for the sale had been obtained from the 
Pennsylvania Co. board and the Transportation Co. board had been 
informed of the proposed sale. A considerable amount of planning for 
the transaction had been done by the Penn Central staff and an opinion 
letter as to a fair price for this non-arms-Iength transaction had been 
obtained from Salomon Bros. The existence of the proposed sale was 
reported in the $50 million Pennco debenture offering circular. The 
timing was important because Penn Central wanted the transaction 
completed for reporting in 1969's results. O'Herron described the 
program on the sale in a memorandum to Bevan on December 24, 
1969: ' 

3. The irrevocable note must be signed and dated prior to December 31 and the 
stock certificates delivered to Messrs. 'Wynne, Baker, and Ray in exchange for the 
note prior to the year end. 

4. The note should be paid a few days before the date in January at which 
time Penn Central's earnings for the year are released. Therefore, for purposes 
of discussion we have set January 20 as the maturity date for the note. Assuming 
the note is paid on January 20, the profit and the transaction can be reflected in 
1969 earnings. 

5. PMM takes the position that in order to reflect the profit in 1969, the stock 
certificates must be delivered to Messrs. Wynne, Baker, and Ray without any 
strings attached. For example, a profit could not be booked if the profit was 
placed in escrow together with the irrevocable note. 

The push for the completion of this scheme, which was never more 
than fantasy, reflects the desperation of Penn Central to generate 
reportable profits and to salvage seme demonstrn,tion that Great 
Southwest stock had some value. From a touted "billion dollar" 
asset Great Southwest stock had become something that first could 
not be sold publicly without making matters worse through disclosure; 
that later could not be sold privately; and that, finally, could not be 
sold to its own management. 

Bevan made one other attempt to utilize Pennco's Great Southwest 
stock in financing. The $100 million Pennco debenture offer in 1970 
was originally to have warrants attached fOl' the stock of GSC and the 
stock of the holding company, Penn Central Co. Bevan attempted to 

'" From tC3timony 01 Wynne: 
A. I can't envision myselll'aising any $20,000,000, and I know that the other two peoplc didn't have 

any money so that seems like a rather lar-letched idea to me. 
m From testimony 01 Ray: 

Q. Wnuld you ha'7c been willing to buy this stock, aside lrom any direct or indirect pressures that 
might havc becn put 011 you, il finaucing could have been obtained? 

A. No, I thought it was gooly. 
Q. no you know whether Mr. Bakel' or Mr. Wynne shared your views on this? 
A. I think Mr. Baker did. 2" Wyune testificd that he had difficulty even recalling whether such a proposal had been made even 

aft.er being shown a memorandu'n 01 a telephone conver'XItion on the subject naming him as one 01 tbe 
part.icipants in the convcrsation. Bevau testWed that it was Wynne's idca. 
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use the GSC stock in this way based on the assumption that no reg­
istration with the Securities Exchange Commission would be required 
at the time of issuance, since the warrants would not be exercisable 
for 2 years. This pl::m shortly ran into difficulties. The initial dif­
ficulties were presented by counsel for the underwriters and by George 
Davis, the outside counsel for Great Southwest Corp. Davis was of 
the opinion that the issuance of these warrants would require im­
mediate registration.265 Davis spoke with David Wilson, Penn Cen­
tral's in-house securities counsel on February 20, 1970, and asked 
Wilson to intercede with Bevan to explain the problems of the is­
suance of these warrants to Bevan. At that time Davis raised the 
same problems that he had when the October 1969 issue was aban­
doned; namely, the disclosures about the condition and activities 
of Great Southwest Corp. In a memorandum of the February 20, 1970, 
telephone conversation, Wilson stated: 266 

According to Davis, General Hodge and Jack Harned of Glore, Forgan, either 
severally or jointly, suggested to Davis that he call me with the proposal that 
Davis and I try to sit down with Mr. Bevan at a very early date and persuade 
him not to market any part of a GSC common stock offering at this time. I then 
proceeded to carry out the request of O'Herron and asked Davis what he planned 
to advise the board and management of GSC about the advisability of full dis­
closure of that company's affairs at this time. He replied very briefly that he would 
advise them to the same effect as he did last year when he persuaded them to 
abandon then current plans to register a GSC common stock offering. Among the 
reason::; for his negative advice were (1) the current absence of any real cash earn­
ings by GSC, (2) the tentative, conditional and rather silly nature of a lot of pend­
ing GSC transactions which would not have to be so described after 1 or 2 years 
from now, (3) some fairly questionable features about inside interests in qsc, its 
mergers, and so forth, which might not have to be explained in the future, (4) the 
inevitably depressing effect of these disclosures on GSC stock prices, and (5) con­
siderations of a similar nature. 

In subsequent meetings with the underwriters, principally First 
Boston Corp.,. the need for immediate registration was not agreed 
with by all parties. Davis testified that at one point he stated he would 
seek an injunction to prevent Pennsylvania Co. from issuing the war­
rants without registration. The underwriters were becoming granually 
concerned about this and other disclosure problems and were consider­
ing the possibility of seeking It "no action" letter from Securities and 
Exchange Commission about the need to register these warrants. 
Finally it became understood among the parties that registration would 
be required. The plan for having warrants was then abandoned. 267 

EXCHANGE OF GREAT SOUTHWEST STOCK FOR DEBT 
OWED '1'0 PENNSYLVANIA Co. 

By December 1969, Great Southwest's debt to Pennco arising out of 
cash advances and obligations under the tax allocation was $25,210,977. 
This presented several problems to Penn Central and Great Southwest. 
esc did not have the cash needed to pay the debt and, indeed, had a 
desperate need for additional cash. Not only was GSC unable. to pay 
the debt, hut its o\vn financing efforts might be hurt by having this 
debt obligation on its balance sheet. For Pennco, the matter could be 

2'"' Aside from the interpretation of the legal proviSion, Davis was aware of the serious disclosure problems 
OI1c\ was concerned about baving a fixcd commitment to register even at a future date. 

to, Davis testified that he was unable to recall discussions with Wilson on this matter. Wilson's memoran­
dUIII appears to be an accw-ate presentation, however based on the circumstances and other testimony. 

'51 For fw·ther infonnation on the warrants and other disclosw·e problems with the Pennco offering see 
the section of this renort on nllhlin nfl'pl',ntHl' 
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embarrassing because it reflected the cash drain to GSC and GSC's 
inability to pay. An exchange of the debt for newly issued GSC stock 
was effected on December 31, 1969, after hectic preparations. The ex­
change price was $18 per share for 1,400,609 shares. The sales price 
exceeded the market price on December 31, 1969. 

At the time the exchange occurred, Pennco had warrants to purchase 
2,102,110 shares of stock for $2.17 per share. Management was unable 
to explain why these warrants were not exercised before the purchase 
of shares for $18. It appears that the sole pm·pose of the exchange was 
to conceal the cash losses of Great Southwest. 

In a January 21, 1970, release by the Penn Central the exchange was 
IJictured as 8: result of an orderly growth plan. The release quotes 
Bevan as saymg: 
... the projection of future growth for Great Southwest justified an increase 

in· that company's total capital and the exchange of debt for stock was the first 
phase of a long term financing program. 

The release failed to disclose that Penn co had been trying without 
success to sell Great Southwest stock to third parties for cash. Also, 
Great Southwest did not have an established long term financing 
program. It had begun borrowing very large amounts of unsecured 
short term funds from European lenders at high interest rates and had 
discussed the possibility of long term European loans. These loans, 
however, depended upon the continued appearance of sound financial 
health of Penn Central to whom the lenders looked for security. The 
transaction and release are misleading because they convey the im­
pression that the exchange was motivated by positive factors whereas 
it really resulted from the inability of GSC to repay the moneys 
advanced to meet its continuous and serious cash drain. 

GREAT SOUTHWEST FINANCING AFTER ABANDONMENT 
OF THE PUBLIC OFFERING 

As Penn Central's cash problems grew more critical in 1969, it be­
came less able to continue supplying cash to Great Southwest. At the 
same time, Great Southwest's needs were increasing rapidly. The 
corporate overhead had ballooned; carrying and development costs 
were increasing; debt was coming due; and some planned acquisitions 
required cash. Great Southwest's "earnings" boom of 1968 and 1969 
did not produce cash equivalent to the magnitude of the reported 
"earnings. " 

Great Southwest could not easily obtain money. Ray had limited 
financing experience and the banks where GSC traditionally had 
entree had reached the limit of their lendine: authoritv. Great South­
west's traditional bankers would not accede to Ray's demands that 
they free assets by changing the loans to an unsecured basis. 268 This 
was part of a master plan of Ray's to have one subsidiary of GSC 
borrow money on an unsecured basis for the purpose of supplying all 

, .. With Wynne along, Ray approached First National Bank of Dallas and Republic National Bank in 
Fort Worth. Both had an officer on GSC's board and had provided the prinCipal bauk lines. Ray wanted 
the banks to release the collateral. His demands created increasing bostility between GSC and its bankers. 
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the financing needs of other subsidiaries. It also reflects the scarcity of 
pledge able assets. Some had counseled Ray to develop a secured line 
of credit with a group of banks. 

The requirement of security presented problems to Ray, however, 
and when he was unable to come up with immediate financing, he 
turned to Provident Bank in Philadelphia. 

Provident was more closely linked to Penn Central and its manage­
ment than any other bank in the country.269 By December 1969, 
GSC had already borrowed $3 million from Provident. At that time, 
Ray obtained an additional $5 million for 90 clays by personally con­
tacting William Gerstnecker (formerly Bevan's assistant), at that 
time, head of a Provident subsidiary and still a GSC director. Ray 

'found that this kind of banking was not complicated as negotiation 
with banks where GSC's entree was more limited. 

From Ray's testimony: 
It was certainly not time-consuming. They were very accommodating about the 

whole thing. There was a call from New York and I went over t.here and effected 
the transaction in a very short period of time. 

The Provident loan was only a stopgap measure. Ray was also 
talking with other Penn Central bankers. According to Ray, Chase 
Manhattan Bank agreed to provide a line of credit from which it 
retreated when Penn Central's problems started becoming evident to 
the bankers. In any event, Chase's foreign department provided Ray 
with introductions in Europe and Ray hired a Chase employee, 
James Hi:ruoff, to help Ll,ise money. Ray had no experience in foreign 
borrowing. 

GSC's foreign borrowing actually did not come from contacts 
supplied by the New York banks. Ray had met Albert Gareh through 
a promoter in San Diego who had walked in the door at GSC. Gareh 
headed aNew York firm, Pan American Credit Corp., which acted 
as a broker for foreign lenders. Ray called Gareh in Paris to ask for 
his help. Ray then flew to Switzerland and, through Gareh, met 
offipials of UFITEC, a group of Swiss lenders, including Messrs. Vander 
Muhl, Swek, and Zilka. On December 19, 1969, GSC borrowed 
$2,676,295 in Swiss francs from UFITEC on aI-year unsecured note as 
introductory borrowing. GSC then established a foreign subsidiary, 
Great Southwest Overseas Financial Corp., in Curacao for tax pur­
poses to handle additional borrowings. Most of the loans from UFITEC 
had maturities of 1 year. In April, GSC began borrowing from another 
company ,vith European sources, Merban Corp. These negotiations 
were handled principally by Himoff and the maturities were 6 months 
at 1}~ percent above the Eurodollar rate. In all, GSC borrowed over 
$43 million in approximately 5 months before news of Penn Central's 
problems halted the flow of funds.270 None of the loans were secured. 

'" Bevan and othcr Penn Central officers wer" on Provident's board and its loans to PC and related 
entities of $20,023,479 on Feb. I, 1970, exceeded the bank's legallendlng limit of $9,200,000. The bank main­
tains that the limit applies to each subsidiary separately. In any event, the loans to PC exceeded 20 percent 
01 tho bank's net assets. 

17' See table on p. 146. 
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It appears that these borrowings had been made in a desperate 
effort to meet GSC's tremendous cash needs.271 The company was 
unable to expand U.S. bank lines because of antagonism between Ray 
and the bankers and because the company had few assets free for 
pledging. The cost for running the complex set up by Baker and Ray 
was soaring and development costs under contracts had to be met. 
Ray was even considering an attempt to raise eash in Asian money 
markets. 

Ray has maintained that he had tentative commitments for 
medium- and long-term foreign borrowings from reputable lenders to 
replace the short-term borrowing. It is unclear whether these loans 
could ever have been completed. It seems clear, however, that the 
loans could only be made under the umbrella of a healthy Penn Central 
because the lenders looked to Penn Central to back up the loans. 
From Ray'S testimony: 

Question. Did anyone f1"om the Bank of Brussels or any of the other banks indicate 
that they thought the association with Penn Central would l1take it easier for them to 
place the Great Southwest notes in Ew·ope? 

Answer. Not specifically with the Banque de Brussels. But that conversation 
did come up on a number of occasions, initially, during m~' first eUorts there. 
Actually, the European banking community at t.hat time, less so today, but at 
t.hat time were extremely name-conscious, and they wcrc vcry impressed by the 
size of the railroad and by the fact it was a company that ha,d been in existence 
for a long time, even though therc wa>; no direct lia,bility or direct connection with 
respect to the borrowing by the railroad. And I initially saw it and to take advan­
t.age of that, because it was helpful to the company in terms of its identification, 
and I did so m)'self without the knowledge that the railroad was about to run into 
some tough railroading times, and I had it somewhat backfire later on, in that I 
mean it would have had the same re::;ult anyhow, I am sure, but, basically, the 
only thing I did in that regard, I took copies of the Penn Central statements and 
I put those in a package of material that I gave out and on the first trip when 
I particularly gave out nothing, I would simply lay a copy of the railroad annual 
report on the table and a copy of the Great Southwest annual report. on the table, 
and I didn't leave anything or didn't ask for anything. 

Great Southwest was clearly borrowing on Penn Central's reputation 
in Europe as a blue-chip investment.272 

The borrowings were authorized by the GSC board. At the Decem­
ber 2, 1969 board meeting, Ray obtained approval to borrow $20 

Footnote 27o-Continued 

Date of loan Borrower Lender 

(a) Dec.19,1900 Maeeo ___ c ____ •• _ •••• _ 1'''n''mericaJ'--___ . __ ._ 
(b) Dec. 19,1969, Macco ____ ... __ ._ ... __ UFl'rEC ...... ___ .. __ 
(c) Jan. 15,1970 Overseas. _____________ PO'l"uuneriC3.lL ________ _ 
(d) Fcb.19,IY70 Overseas. ___ . ___ .. _ ... UFJTEC ..... _ .. _ ... _ 
(e) Feb.19,1970 Overseas ...... __ .. __ .. UFI'l'EC_ ....... _ ... . 
(f) Mar. 4,1970 Overseas_ ..... _ ..... __ UFTTEC .. _ ..... _ ... _ 
(g) Mar. 4,1970 Overseas. ___ ....... ___ UJ<'ITEC._ ......... _. 
(h) Apr.lO,1970 Overseas ...... _ .... _ .. MerbatL __ ........... . 
(i) May 4,1970 Overseas ....... _ ...... Mel'ban ........ _ ..... . m May 12,1970 Overseas ____ ._ ........ ll'lerb"n_._ ....... _ .. _. 
(k) May 18, 1970 Overseas ... __ .... _ .. _. Merban_._ ........ _ .. . 
(I) May 21,1970 Overseas ___ .... __ ._ ... Merban. _ ........... _. 

·Face 
amount of 
notes Due date 

11,000,000 S.F. Dec. 17,19,0 
2, ODD, 000 S.F. Dec, 17,1970 

51,000,000 S.F. Jan. 8,1971 
n, 000, 000 S,1'. Feb. 15, HJ71 
7, DOD, 000 S,F. Aug. 18,1970 
7,000,000 S.F. ilIaI'. 2, Wit 
3,000,000 S.F. Sept. 4, 1970 

10,500,000 .. ____ .. Oct. 14,1970 
5,250,000 _ ... _._. Nov. 4,lU70 
6,250,000 ...... _. Nov.ll,1970 
2,000,000 ___ ..... Nov.16,W70 
2,000,000 _ ....... Dec. 17, W70 

271 Some of the mouey was used to repay the banks which were growing hostile to Ray; some was used 
lor acqUisitions, including a baukrupt computer company; the rest disappeared iuto the company's general 
accounts . 
. '" Ironically, Penn Central itself had turned to this market of last resort for the compauy and had placed 
approximately $50 million in short·term notes with UFITEC. American investors knew little of the true 
crisis at Penn Central in the spring of 1970; foreign investors kuew less. Great Southwest was also iu critical 
condition but it is unlikely that foreign investors even considered GSC's condition. 
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million from foreign lend(~rs. At the next meeting, on February 26, 
1970, the authorization was increased to $50 million and at the 
following meeting on April 29, 1970, the authorization was incrCl1sed 
to $200 million. It appears, however, that few people at GSC or Penn 
Cent.ral realized what Ray was doing.273 One GSC director who was. 
asked about his knowledge of the sums borrowed stated that he was 
unaware that any loans had been mu.ue under the authorization. At 
one point Hodge indicated that some restriction should be put on the 
terms of the loans which were au thorized but such restrictions were 
not adopted by the board. The board did require, however, the ap­
proval of the executive committee on loans under the final $150 
million authorization. 

Great Southwest was caught in a financial squeeze which hl1d become 
critical after the abandonment of the public offering. The cash dram 
which had always existed became even worse. Baker's activities had 
produced an impressively large opemtion to support soaring eHITIings, 
but the cost in terms of cash was enormous. At the same time Penn 
Central's inevitable financial crisis was shutting off the faucet at that 
source. Great Southwest was blocked from domestic borrowing because 
GSC could not produce security. After drawing on Penn Central's 
domestic bank of last resort, Provident Bank, Ray had turned to 
Europe. There his inexperience was matched bv the Europeans' lack 
of knowledge of the condition of Penn Central or Great Southwest. 
Nowhere was even u. hh'1t of this fmancial crisis given to GSC investors. 
Instead the in vestors were fed a steady diet of puffing. In a report to 
shareholders in early 1970 GSC boasted, almost wryly, of its financing 
al;>ilities: 

'The primary task of the finance division is to provide financing for the various 
divi~ions. Because of this unique approach to finance, the division has been able 
to develop a staff of specialists in the areas GSC is involved in. This expertise 
allows the finance division to take advantage of unique opportunities in the 
ever-changing financial community. 

FUTILE ATTEMPTS AT AN EARNINGS ENCORE-1970 

The proposed public offering had been abandoned partly becauso of 
Harned's concern that investors would ask what GSC eould do fGr nn 
encore. Many investors hlLe! undoubtedly gotten the impression that 
the earnings boom in 1968 and 1969 represented a trend. In fnct, 
GSC had sold off its principal saleable assets.274 Baker was faced with 
nn impossible task. He knew that Penn Central wanted more re­
portable earnings, not less. Ba.ker obliged. At a present.ation to the 
Transportation Co. board meeting on December 17, 1969, Baker pre­
dicted earnings for 1970 of $63 million.2i5 

Baker was faced with several problems, however, since GSC had 
syndieated its only two amusement parks, which were the easiest 
syndication vehicles. Of equal difficulty were the tax changes and the 
growing concern of the accounting profession. The Internal Revenue 

'" Bevan and PC financial sources knew of the bon-owings partly because they were borrowing from tho 
same SOllrCe. 

, .. Investors were additionally misled into believing the earnings represented cash income. Actually, a 
cash drain was occurring in the company. 

'" The presentation was PC management's response to Odell's objections that PC board members were 
not being adequately informed of GSC activities. 
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~ervice was shortening the period which could be covered by prepaid 
mte~est. At the same time, the accounting profession was increasingly 
commg under attack for allowing earnings from sales of nal estate to 
be taken in the first year where there is only a smaIl downpayment and 
some question about the purchaser's willingriess and ability to make 
full payment. Baker struggled to prevent tightening of the accounting 
treatment. 

On December 23, 1969, Penn Central's comptroller Charles Hill, 
:S3nt Baker a memorn.ndum on proposed guidelines for. accounting 
treatment for real estate transactions. The memorandum had been 
prepared b:y Peat, Marwick for discussion with Penn Central. The 
threat to GSC because of tighter was apparent to Hill: 
. The guidelines, if ultimately ado.pted, viill represent the basis fo.r recognizing 
mco.me amo.ng the co.mpanies affiliated with Penn Central. Therefo.re they warrant 
searching co.nsideratio.n by yo.U and yo.ur acco.unting staff. We expect to resPo.nd 
to. Peat, Marwick with co.mments and suggestio.ns o.n their guidelines by mid­
January. With this target, we Wo.uld appreciate yo.ur evalu1ttio.l1 o.f the Peat, 
Marwick pro.Po.salf! and yo.ur suggestio.ns fo.r making them who.lly acceptable 
fro.m yo.ur Po.int o.f view. 

The Peat, Marwick memorandum noted that the American Insti­
tute of Certified Public Accounts had not addressed itself directly to 
real estate transactions but it cited APB Opinion No. 10: 

Pro.fit is deemed to. be realized when a sale in the o.rdin1try course o.f business is 
effected, unless the circumstances are such that the co.llectio.n of the sale price is 
no.t reaso.nably assured. 

The memorandum further noted that: 
The Securities and Exchange Co.mmissio.n, o.n the o.ther hand, has shown 

.a so.mewhat greaterco.ncern with respect to inco.me reco.gnitio.n and in 1962 
:issued ASR No.. 95, entitled "Accounting fo.r Real Estate Transactio.ns Where 
·Circumstances Indicate That Pro.fits Were No.t Earned at the Time the Trans­
.actio.ns Were Reco.rded." 276 

:In the case of raw land sales, the memorandum concluded that where 
-there is no' effective recourse against nonpayment (for example, 
because of insufficient assets of buyer or State law-as in California) 
a downpayment of at least 10 percent and certain substantial pay­
ments in the first 5 years must be made. 

A meeting among Penn Central and GSC officers was held at GSC 
in early February 1970.277 Baker's views are contained in a memoran-

~16 The memorandum went on to quote from the SEC release: 
With respect to when it would be inappropriate to recognize profits Oil real estate sale the release 

.states g>:~~mstauces sucb as tbe following teud to raise a question as to the propriety of current recog· 
nition of profit: 

1. Evidence of fiDlmcial weakness 01 the purchaser. 
2. Substantial uncertainty as to amount of costs and expenses to be incurred. ., 
3. Substantial uncertainty as to amouut of proceeds to be reali~ed because o.f form of conslderatl0!l 

or method 01 settlemeut, for example, nOllrec~ll:rse notes, nonmtar~st beanng notes, purchaser s 
stock, and notes with optional settlement proVlslOns, all of mdetermmablo value. 

4. Retention of effective control of tbe property by tile seller. . .. 
5. Limitations and restrictions on tbe purchaser's profits Ilnd on the development or diSpositIon 

of the property. . 
6. Simultaneous sale and repurchase by the same or affiliated mterests. 
7 _ Concurrent loans to purchasers. 
8. Small or no downpaymeut. 
9. SinlUltaneous sale and leaseback of property. . . . . 
Any such circumstances, taken alone, might not preclude the recogmtlOu of profit m appr~pn!lte 

amount. However, tho degree of uncertainty may be accentuated by the presence 01 a comhmotlOn 
of the foregoiug factors. . . _ , 

'" A.ttended by Bevan O'Berron Bill Wynne and Baker_ The meetlllg dealt With Baker s concerns 
abou-t the involvement of PC accountantS and P~at, Marwick's Philadelphia officers in GSC's affairs as 
well as with the real estate guidelines. 
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dum he prepared for that meeting.278 Baker was concerned about the 
impact on GSC of a tightening of the rules: 279 

An example of this [the importance of proposed accounting changes] is a lead 
article appearing in the February 2, 1970, issue of Barron's entitled "Castles of 
Sa.nd." An expert questions the accounting pra.ctices of land development com­
panies. Great Southwest is listed by the article as a major land development 
company, thereby purporting to place us in the group practicing the "questionable 
accounting practices." Yet, the entire thrust of the article is an attack on the 
development companies engaged in the sale of recreational lots to the public. 
However, the article is an example of the confused manner in which the account­
ing profession and the SEC may be focusing on the problems of real estate ac­
counting practices. For the most part, such focus fails to take into account the 
variety of business and transactions which make up the field of real estate. In 
order to properly focus on real estate accounting practices, the real estate business 
must be looked at by accountants who have the necessary business knowledge of 
real estate or who have received sufficient input so as to know whereof they speak. 

For longer range matters Baker proposed an aggressive posture to cut 
off SEC or AICPA rules which might curtail GSC activities.280 LateI.",281 
Baker and GSC and Penn Central officers met with several Peat, 
Marwick officials at GSC's Cote de Coza resort in California to discuss 
the [uidelines. As described by Baker, the meeting was an attempt to 
aid reat, Marwick in considering problems and did not involve dis­
cussions of specific transactions. It was, Baker stated, a "scholarly" 
sort of discussion. . 

Aside from the accounting problems, Baker was having difficulty i;) 
setting up sufficient deals to even approach his earnings projections. 
He stated that he was so busy trying to arrange deals that he did not 
have adequate time to oversee the company's operations. Baker in­
formed the GSC board that he had a number of transactions under 
way. They included syndications of various properties including the 
Movieland Wax ]\luseum, Starr Ranch, and River Lakes Ranch. Of 
these properties only the River Lakes Ranch was then owned by Great 
Southwest Corp. Baker planned to do a syndication for a sales price of 
$12 million and a pretax I>rofit of $7 million. Property Research was to 
be the underwriter and Great Southwest was to develop the proper­
ties in order to "generate sufficient cash flow to pay the promissory 
notes received upon the sale." 

Great Southwest intended to purchase the Starr Ranch and then 
syndicate it in an intrastate offering. According to GSC's projections, 
the sales price would have been $28 million and pretax profit would 
have been $13 million. Neither the Movieland Wax Museum nor the 
Starr Ranch was purchased. Apparently Great Southwest was chang­
ing its activities. It was going beyond the mere syndication of prop­
erties already owned and developed, and was, instead, planning to 
move into the area of acting as broker in syndicating property. None 
of the company's officials could explain how GSC had been expecting 

. '" From Baker to Bevan and Wynne, Feb. 3, 1970. 
'" He 81so felt GSC and the real estate industry was misunderstood: 

We cannot permit P.M. & M., in the absence of rulings by the profession as 8 whole or the SEC, to 
attempt auticipated changes in accountiug practice to Ollr detriment or to retroactively apply its 
newly formulated gUidelines to tho transactions which have already beeu consummated in 1970. 
Nor can we afford to delay Ol1r sales, marketing and syndication efforts in 1U70 while we wait for 
P.M. & M. to fannulate its guidelines for 1970. Therefore. we are faced with two problems. They are: 

(a) Tbe immediate problem of the 1970 transactions; and (b) the new rules and guidelines which may 
be established by the accollnting profeSSion and the SEC. . 

2!D Baker apparently felt tbat unscrupulous rer.! estate companies were bringing a crackdown on "repu· 
tahle:' companies such as GSC. 

III Apparently on March 20 and 21, 1970. 
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to make such enormous profits from this real estate brokerage business. 
None of these transactions was ever completed. They do, however, 
mark the last gasps of the attempts to inflate reported earnings. 

Baker was not going to produce an encore to the sale of Bryant 
Ranch and the two amusement parks. For Penn Central, there would 
be no paper profits to conceal the railroad losses. Even allowing for 
fluctuations in real estate company earnings, a quote from the GSC 
minutes of April 29, 1970, tells the story: 

The next order of business to come before the meeting was a discussion of the 
corporation'::; anticipated pretax profit for the year for 1970. In this connection, 
Mr. Bevan asked what the profit was antiCipated to be as of Jllne 30, 1970. Mr. 
Baker replied t.hat the anticipated pretax profit was somewhere between $2 mil­
lion and $28 million depending upon whctqcr or not certain large transactions were 
closed by June 30. 

By mid-1969 the reality of GSC's enormous problems were evident. 
Enormous and growing cash losses were coupled with the loss of PC 
as a supplier of funds and the inability to produce even paper profits 
on transactions. Yet investors were never given a cautionary note 
(the prospectus for the abandoned offering would have helped). In­
deed, the inflated claims about GSC's prospects in the spring of 1970 
continued to mislead investors. The February 27, 1970, news release 
on 1969 earnings is headed "Great Southwest Corporation Announces 
Record 1969 Earnings" and begins: 

Great Southwest Corp., a national land and environment developer, announced 
record earnings for 1969 reflecting the company's continued success since Macc!) 
Corp. merged with GSC in March last year. 

The release was approved by the board of directors. A report to 
shareholders in 1970 begins: 

For Great Southwest Corp. 1969 was a year of merger and expansion. The 
comp_any established itself as one of the most profitable real estate developers in 
the Nation. And our merger with Macco Corp. in March provided a solid founda­
tion for company growth and increased profits in the years ahead. (GSC pl'ogress 
report 1969.) 



I-F. ROLE OF DIRECTORS 

INT'RODUCTION: RESPONSIBILITIES AND FU:NDAMEN'l'AL PROBLEMS 

In light of the critically adverse developments, the lack.of adequate 
disclosure and the dubious conduct of senior management as described 
in the other sections of this report, a . question arises as to the role of 
the' directors. It should first be noted that it is generally agreed that r 
directors are not responsible for directing the day-to-day operations 
of the company arid they are not insurers of the performance of man- I 
agement. It should also be noted that outside directors are undoubtedly \ 
at some disadvantage in terms of monitor~~ and appropriately direct- i 
inga company and its management. Most directors have other 
demanding full-time jobs so that the time and energy that can be 
devoted to a company's affairs is limited. Directors often must rely 
on the company staff officers for information and evaluation. Directors 
rarely have their own staffs to assist them and they usually receive 
only relatively modest stipends for being on the board . 
. Outside directors are, however, ultimately responsible to the share­

hold'ers of the company for the proper monitoring of a company's 
affairs. Among the roles of directors are the selection of competent 
management and review of the performance and integrity of manage­
ment including ~:Jmpliance with laws applicable to the corporation. 
AS"a practical matter, shareholders can rely only on the outside 
directoIs to oversee management and to take corrective action when 
management abuses its authority. The role of directors in the scheme 
of corporate affairs is reflected in some of the general legal principles 
relating to the liabilities of directors: 

Selection oj officers.-There is no question but that the directors 
may be personally liable where their appointee is untrustworthy or 
incompetent, and the directors were negligent in making the 
appointment. 232 

Oversight oj officers.-All the courts doubtless agree that the 
responsibility of a board of directors, or of an individual director, 
does not end with the appointment of honest and capable men to 
be executive officers, and that ordinary care on the part of 
directors requires reasonable oversight and supervision.283 

In other words, a director cannot escape liability merely by 
picking out able and apparently trustworthy men to act as 
president, general manager, and then paying no attention to 
the acts of such executive officer or officers or to the corporate 
business.234 

Being put on notice.-Of course, if a director acquires know­
ledge which tends to raise a suspicion against executive officers 
or agents, in connection with their positions, he must follow it 
up or inform the other directors.285 

'" Fletcher, Cyclopedia of the Law of Private Corporations; 1965 revised volume; vol. 3, p. 688 (§ 1079), 
." rd. p. 674 (§ 1070). 
'" Td. p. 685 (§ 1072) . 
• " rd. p. 687 (§ 1078). 
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Of course, if negligent or wrongful acts of officers are merely 
isolated acts then it might well be that the directors would not 
be chargeable with notice thereof, but if the wrongful acts are 
part of a system which has long been practiced by the wrongdoer, 
the presumption is that the directors, ordinarily, would have 
discovered the wrongdoing if they had been reasonably diligent. 286 

The Penn Central outside directors maintain that they did not 
violate their obligations, including their obligations under the se­
curities laws.287 They maintain that they were faced with a difficult. 
situation caused to a large extent by forces outside of the control of 
management or the board. They cite specifically inadequate tariffs, 
passenger service losses, inability to abandon lines, and the over­
employment of labor. The directors claim that they took what 
measures that they reasonably could under difficult circumstances. 
They also emphasize that they received no personal gain from any 
nondisclosure and that some directors suffered significant losses on 
their Penn Central holdings. They further maintain that they had n.) 
knowing participation and they did not aid or abet any nondisclosure. 
of material facts. It was their belief that all of the company's diffi­
culties were repeatedly made known to the public through statements 
to Congress, the ICC, and the public." 

It appears, however, based on the information in this and other 
sections that the Penn Central board failed in its obligations. In 
particular, it failed to see to the integrity of management and it 
failed to see to the compliance by management with the laws governing 
the company, including the previsions of the Federal securities laws. 

The failure of the Penn Central board to effectively monitor manage­
ment arose from several circumstances. One circumstance was the 
change in the complexity of corporate matters as a result of the merger 
and the diversification efforts. The directors of the Pennsylvania 
Railroad in particular had served on a company with a long and con­
servative financial and operating history. The railroad performed 
basic functi0ns in a largely unchanging way.288 In such a situation, 
a board seat was more a matter of business honor than an active 
business responsibility. On the New York Central, generally a more 
dynamic railroad, the majority of directors were overshadowed by 
the active ownership interest of Robert Young and Allen and Fred 
Kirby 289 and the active management of Alfred Perlman. Under these 
conditions, the boards tended to miss the management and financial 
complexity of the proposed merger. Even after the merger, the direc­
tors only slowly awakened to what was happening. 

Another circumstance limiting the effectiveness of the board was 
the limited amount of information it sought or received. In the 
merged company, directors were furnished only with (1) a volumnious 

za. Id. p. 684 (§ 1072). . 
2&' In t.he course oC its investigation, the stafi' took the testimony oC almost every director who was on the 

board at anytimc during the period Crom the mergcr to the reorganization. The experience oC every director 
was not identical, oC course. For purposes oC clarity" however, tbis portion oC the report will describe many 
oC the activities oC directors in the context oC the board as a whole. Some reCerence is made to individual: 
directors where such reCerence is necessary to explain particular developmeuts. 

28B For example, until the merger. almost the sole financing vebicle was an uncomplicated and conservative­
conditional sales agreement for equipment. Alter the merger. commercial paper and Swiss franes were used .. 

is' Alleghany Corp. acquired control oC the New York Central in 1954. Robert Young was chairman and 
Allen Kirby WIlS president of Alleghany. Young died in 1958 and Kirby became chairman of Allegbany. 
From 1961 to 1963 the Murcbison brothers struggled with Kirby for control oC Alleghany. Kirby, who finally 
retained control, retired in 1967. His son, Fred Kirby, replaced him. Alleghany's control was diluted in 1966-
through an exchan~e offer of its New York Central stock Cor Alleghany Corp. stock. 



docket of routine capital expenditure authorizations for numerous 
individual transactions, (2) a treasurer's report giving the current 
cash balances, and (3) a sheet listing revenues and expenses for the 
railroad for the period between the board meetings.290 291 The directors. 
had no cash or income forecasts or budgets; they had no guidelines to' 
measure performance; they had no capital budgets; they had no' 
information describing the earnings or cash performance of the' 
subsidiaries. For all this vital information, they were forced to rely 
on oral presentations by management. 

The board meetings were largely formal affairs 202 which were not 
conducive to discussion 'or interrogation of management. Some of the 
directors had little opportunity to consult with other directors outside 
of the environment of the board meetings.293 In extreme cuses, directors 
were isolated from the company or other directors. Otto Frenzel, 
located in Indianapolis, spoke with other directors only at board 
meetings, which, as indicated, allowed only limited communication. 
Seymour Knox, who was in Latin America and in North Carolina 
much of the time from September 1969 to May 1970, attended only 
one board meeting during this extremely critical period .. 

The board failed in two principal ways. It failed to establish pro­
cedures, including a flow of adequate financial information, to permit 
the board to undf'lrstand what was happening and to enabla it ·to 
exercise some control over the conduct of the senior officers. Secondly, 
the board failed to respond to specific warnings about the true con­
dition of the company and about the questionable conduct of the most 
irri'f;orte,nt officers. As a result, the investors were deprived of adequate 
and accurate information about the condition of the company. 

PREMERGER PERIOD 

The staff's investigation principally covered the period between the 
merger 'and the reorganization because in this period the decline in the 
affairs of the company was most significant and disclosure was most 
critical. Nevertheless, an examination of developments leading lip to 
the merger is appropriate, particularly in connection with tho role of 
the directors. During the period from 1963 to July 1968, the pricoof 
Penn Central stock rose from around 20 to a high of 84.29

4 The princi­
pal cause of the rise was the prospects for the merged company. NIl­
merous financial analyst3 were repeating the projections of manago­
ment: the merger would vastly improve the performance of the 
ru.ilroads and the real estate diversification of the· Pennsylvania 
Railroad would provide a bountiful growth fuctor. Neither prospect 
was founded on fact. This would have been revealed by a more in­
tensive review of the prospects for the merger.205 

... In late 1969 and early 1970, as directors became more concerned, the flow 01 information increased 
slightly bnt events had so vastly changed that the information was equally useless. 

'" Even the finance committee received no additional written information. 
,,, The board 01 the merged company had 25 directors. These were joined at b~lIJ.·d meet~ngs b~ nmnero.us 

offieers. Some directors testifi ed that the size and the a.rrangement of the meetings effectively limited dis­
cussion betwcen management and the directors. 

'" Directors· associated' with Alleghany Corp. did have a common con.nection. Kirby,. Taylor, Rabe, 
Hunt, and Routh were all Alleghany directors. The Alleghany director:; still on the board ill the Spnng 0 I 
19;0 resigned lollowing an ICC ruling on Alleghany's acquisition of Jones Motor Co. 

'" Adjusted lor the premerger period. ., . . . .. 
'" The directors state that the plslUling 01 that merger and Its ImplementatIOn wero the responSIbilIty 

of management. The directors also noted that the merger proposal was r.evlewed by the ICC and was.litl­
gated in the courts over several years. Governmental approval was ob~lIJ.ned, how~ve.r, on represent!!tions 
made hy the railroads. In addition, management tended to encourage illvestor optImIsm and to mnUImze 
the very serious risks which they knew existed. 
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. As described in the beginning of this report, the proposal of a merger 
between the PRR and the Central was droppad after the de31th of 
Robert Young in 1957. Later, following mergers among the other 
Eastorn roads, Perlman became concerned that the Central would be 
isolated. When this concern arose in late 1961, the idea of merger 
b~tween the PRR and the Central was revived and nego,eiating eOffi­

mlt~ees of the boards of both railroads were formed. Isaac Grainge;o 
chaIred the Central committee consisting of himself, Seymour Kno"", 
a~d R. Walter Graham, Jr. The PRR committee was chaired b~y 
RI?h.ard Ie. Mellon and consisted of Mellon, Jared Ingersoll" and 
PhIlhp R. Clark. The responsibility of the committee was limited C(OJ 
setting the general terms of the merger including the exchange. rate" 
the composition of the board, and the staffing- of th·~ several top, 
management positions. ~ 

The negotiating committees began their work in November 1961.. 
It was necessary for the railroads to complete anarangoment within, 
several months because other mcergers were before the ICC and the. 
Central had to determine its position before the hearings began. The 
committees each selE.ctecl an investment banking house to set the 
exchange rate. The Central selected :Morgan Stanley & Co .. and the 
PRR chose First Boston Corp. These two selected the third, Glore,. 
Forgan & Co. The principal problem facing the negotiating committees. 
was the selection of the top offieers. The Central directors feIt strongly 
that Perlman should have responsibility for the opel'ations in light 0f 
his performance on the Central. James Symes, chairman of the PRR,. 
wanted to be chief executive officer despite his planned retiremc.nt. in 
August 1962. Greenough of the PRR was expected to b8 Symes" 
replacement a,nd so the PRR directors wanted Greenough as well as 
Symes to have a high position in the merged company. An impasse 
developed. On December 27, 19(11, Grainger, Symes, t1nd Perlman 
:met to consider the selection of top management, Upon being' pressed 
about problems in the selection-::::of management Symes said that. 
frankly the PRR directors were having difficulty accept.ing PerIman. 
The Central directors, however, were desirous of having Perlman as 
chief operating officer because of his performance on the Central. A 
caustic discussion followed during which Symes and Perlman bluntly 
stated their dissatisfaction with the other's managem0nt of his road. 
To resolve the basic dispute, it was finally proposed that Syme:s and 
Perlman would become inactivt' vice chairmen of the board and that 
the PRR would name a chief exocutive officer and the Central would 
name a president. The merger agreement was signed, and the merger 
bega.n its course through the ICC and the courts. 

The road to final approval was not wholly harmonious between the 
two railroads, and Perlman occasionally expressed the belief that the 
negotiating committee had given away too much and that perhaps 
an alternative merger was possible. Meanwhile S"'unders had replaced 
Symes as chairman of the PRR on October 1, 1963. Saunders was 
formerly head of the N. & W. and was n.amed chairman of the PRR 
when the railroad was unable to choose one of its own officers (includ­
ing Greenough and Bevan) for the position. While discussing merger 
matters ,vith Saunders in March 1965, Grainger broached the sugges­
tion that the merger agreement be changed so that. Perlman co,ulcl be 
made president. Saunders, who was not an operatmg officer hImself, 

" 
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The negotiating committees became inactive after the signing of the 
agreement in 1962 and, except for isolated instances, neit.her that 
committee nor the board was directly involved in any other matters 
relating to the merger. The only information about the progress of 
the merger which the board received was oral reports from manage­
ment at· board meetings. Other than what was given in the oral 
presentations, the board did not review the savings or costs. which 
were being forecast and they never reviewed the kind of planri.irie: 
being done. ~ 

As explained elsewhere in this repoIt, the merger planning ,ns in­
adequate and fundamentally fln,wed. The Patchell report which was 
presented to the ICC was not a plan for the merger nor was it intended 
to be. It had not attempted to set out savings or costs that ,,;-buld 
result from the actual operations of the merged railroad. Instead it 
was a vehicle for presenting some cost and savings figures to gain 
ai)proval of the merger. The planning for some of the departments, 
other than the operations department was vtllucless. The departments 
of the respective roads did not cooperate and a lot of the planning 
did not take place until the department heads were named at the time 
of the merger. In the area of rail operations, where a detailed plan (, 
wits formulated, the plan was ignored. Apparently no detailed plan 
,,'as iIi effect on merger day. Little or no training was given ,yard 
crews or connecting lines and shippers. 

N one of the directors who testified was aware of these problems. L--­

The directors were under the impression that all necessary planning 
had been done and that the merger was being carried out pursuant to 
tlus plarming. Most of the directors never did learn of the Iud:: of 
meaningful planning or the relation of poor planning to the chaos 
which occurred upon the merger of the railroads. They were also 
unaware that the cost and savings forecasts were not accurate. The 
directors have emphasized that governmental bodies reviewed· the 
merger and that only management could be expected to be faniiliar 
with the details of the planning. It would seem reasonable, however, 
fqr t~e directors to have inf?rmed the~selves about .the underlying 
theones and the actual planrung. Accordmg to the testlIDony of drrec-
tors, however, no director expressed any concern or reservations 
about the merger during the premerger period and the board never 
attempted to verify the representations of management about planning 
progress or expected savings and costs. Neither board had a committee 
established !or the purpose of reviewing or monitoring the feasibility 
of, or plannmg for, the merger.296 The merger of th~ Central and tJ;te 
PRR was probably one of the most complex and difficult mergers m 
corporate history and yet it appears that the directors did not make 
sigp..ificant efforts to analyze it or evaluate it. . 

'" A committee of the board did review one merger related item. Under the terms of the merger agreement. 
the Central and the PRR were limited to :no.o million in additional debt. In March of )966, the NYC board 
considered a PRR request to increase their indebtedness above the eeilinf[. The PRR explained that the 
debt increase arose out of the acquisition of Great Southwest, Macco, Buckeye, and Al"Vida. The Central 
board formed a committee consisting of Grainger, Grahsm, and Odell to examine the request. Upon the 
recommendation of the committee. the board approved the incre""e. The approval recommendation, how­
ever, contained mme reservations about the real estate investment (these had been raised by Odell): 

Independent opinions were exceedingly favorable for the Buckeye·property and for the most part 
favol'able for the real estate acqui.itions. However, questions werc raised over short-term prospects 
for the Arvida properties, and there were negative views expressed in eonnection with the Califonlia 
properties. Therefore, the committee cannot give a definitive appraisal of the overall diversification 
program of the PR R. While there is a feeling that real estate investments at trus time would not be the 
committee's chOice, nevertheless, it. has confidence in the jndgment of its partner in the merger. (Mem­
orandum from Granam, Odell, and Grainger to Central board May 2, )966). 
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POST-MERGER PERIOD 

The merger got off to a bad start.297 For the fIrst 6 months the 
directors generally were unaware of the existence of fundamental 
problems. They were aware, of course, that mergers do not always 
proceed with complete smoothness but the directors assumed that 
all requisite planning and preparations had been done and that the 
merger was being successfully implemented. 
By the summer of 1968 management was admitting to the directors 

that merger difficulties were being encountered. Computer difficulties 
were cited as a principal cause of operating problems. At this time the 
directors were relying solely on the oral presentations of management 
and reports from the news media. They had no written income budget 
information which would enable them to judge the progress of the mer­
ger or to judge the effectiveness of management. They had no written 
cash flow budgets to see the rate of the cash drain. Some of the direc­
tors, however, did begin getting some independent reports on the dis­
astrous performance of the merged railroad. They began getting com­
plaints from shippers, including complaints from their own shipping 
departments. Many of the complaints were sharply worded and de­
scribed extremely poor service.29B The directors, however, continued 
to accept the assurances of management that the company was under 
control. 

'07 Some of the directors, like management, cited the short notice they had of the final government,al 
approval as a major cause of difficulty. They indicated that the roads could not commit t.hemselves to cap­
ital expenditures until they were certain that a merger would occur. The Central's msnagement apparently 
had begun at least some capital items prior to the merger. The PRR, as noted in the section on finance. 
was desperately short 01 cash and could not have afTorded capital items even if they were willing to cOIl1Illit 
themsclves, Neither the directors nor management considered entering into a mere formal corporate merger 
before making any attempt to coniiJine the operations of the two roads so tbat the necessary tmining, orga­
nization and capital investment for the orderly functioning of the merged road could be made.- Sauuders 
did ,ef!lphasize the need to obtain immediate savings through an Immediate- operutiona1.merger. It would 
seem;"however, that merging slowly and well would produce mOre savings than merging Quickly and,poorly. 
Ir the short notice of final approval threatened any difficnlties, the merger conld have'been delayed nntil' 
tbe operating preconditions had been satisfied. 

". Illustrative of the complaints being reccived orally and in writing by directors are the following com­
plants received by a director located in the western rcgion of the railroad: 

(a) ·'Wcaro getting more complaints on our service to Indianapolis at this time fronl various customers, 
brokers and our own sales people than I can ever re.member. Most of it is traceable to onr inability to 
get ears and to get delivery of the cars to the customers after they are loaded. It has reached the point 
wbere 1 dread to see any of our sales people as I know they are immediately going to start complainin!'. 
to me what lousy service they are getting from our master warehouse. Frankly, we wonld like very much 
to materially increase our rail shipments and would certainly do so if the car or servicil problem could 
be solved. . . I do not think we would look with favor on any locat,ion served eXClusively by the 
Penn Central ... We are big rail shippers and could very easily be mnch, much bigger. But fraukly 
we don't know where to turn ... ," (Letter of Nov. 12, 1968, from an Execntive Vice President of a 
major food processing company,) 
, (b) "Apparently, neither company has been successful in promptly getting cars in or out of Indiauapo­
lis under the Penn Central operation. Along these same lines, numerous meetings have been beld with 
area, sales representatives and other Penn Central personnel relating to fantastic demurrage and 
detention bills resulting from improper placement of ears on the siding, lack of written notice of eonstruc­

'tive placement, poor communication and problematical service. (Feb. 27,,1969 'letter.) We sincerely 
appreCiate your interest in this problem and your willingness as our banker and a Director of Penn 
Central to sea that this information is brought to the attention of the right people at Penn Central for 
correction." 

"As 1 explained, customers of ours, such as Morton Foods, Campbell Soup, Kraft, ete., ship products 
for storage and distribution to our subsidiary .... These, are long hauls for the railroad and represent 
considerable volume. We are in danger of losing many of tbese important customers because they find 
it almost impossible to get good service from Penn Central in shipping to our plant in IndianapoliS, 
Tbis poor service is jeopardizing new business for the same reasons. Morton, for example, complains that 
it is taking them from 14 to 17 days to sbip by rail from their manufacturing plant in Virginia to Indian­
apolis. Naturally, they cannot stand this situation." (Feb. 'l:l, 1969, follow-up letter to above.) 

(c) "I dislike very much to find it necessary to bring a matter of this type to your attention, but it 
does seem to me that unless I go hi~her than the local people there is uo prospect of getting these indus­
tries serviced by rail. I am also willing to go on record that our dealings with Penn Central have been 
poor for sometime, but they are much worse since the merger, and I do not feel tbat Penn Central can 
service its shipping customers and tbat tbere is a total breakdown in the management responsibilities 
on a local level." (Apr. 7, 1969,lettor.) 
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As the operational problems persisted and associated costs rose, 
the strain on the railroad's finances grew worse. By the fall of 1968 it 
was al)parent to mttnagement that the cash drain caused by the l' 

operatIOns debacle could not be absorbed for long. The drains were 
enormous and Penn Centru.l had only limited access to cash. The 
directors have testified that while they were aware of some difficulties 
they were unaware of the extreme seriousness of the operational and I 
cash pro~lems at that time. It appears, however, that a more critical 
~xammatlOn of management's statements would have uncovered the 
~normity of the problems and the urgent need for corrective action. 
Even if corrective action would have been difficult or impossible 
(perhaps because of fundamental weakness of the merger) the investors 
could have been warned of the magnitude of the misadventure.299 

Instead they continued to receive optimistic projections. 

FINANCIAL PROBLEMS AND A FIRs'r CHALLENGE TO DIVIDEND 
POLICY 

The seriousness of Penn Central's plight should have been evident 
since the board was required to authorize the revolving credit and 
commercial paper borrowings. The use of commercial paper in par­
ticular should have caused alarm because the use of such paper was 
almost unheard of in railroading.30o The directors have stated that 
these borrowings appeared reasonable to them because of the pre­
vailing high interest rates. The use of short-term debt as a substitute 
for long-term debt may be justified as a teml?orary measure when it 
is decided not to roll over long-term debt at 111gh rates or where long- p 
term capital investments are being made. In PeI1.U Central's case, I 
however, the enormous amounts of sHort-term, high interest, bor­
rowings were going principally to meet current operating losses. The 
significance of borrowing to meet staggering operating losses is that 
no company Ci1n long survive such a condition, regardless of the level 
of prevailing interest rates. 

Most directors did not begin becoming concerned about the con­
ditions of the company or its finances until the spring of 1969 when 
management sought and obtained authority from the directors to 
fureher· increase the revolving credit and commercial paper.30l By 
mid-1969 the directors. had approved an increase of approximately 
$500 million in short-term debt since the merger. Most of this was 
needed to meet operating losses and dividends. 

. During this time Penn Central routinely continued to pay dividends 
at the premerger rate. According to the testimony of the directors, no 
director expressed any reservation about paying the dividends prior 
to the events described below. During this time the company had to 

". In tbe summer of 1968 the price of Penn Central stock had reached a record high level and numerous 
oflieers were solling stock acqUlred under option prices, which at that time were only one-fourth of the 
market price prevaillng at that time. Under these option stock sales some ollicers individually made hun­
dreds of thousands of dollars. 

300 The Chesapeake and Ohio, througb a financial alliliate, had been the only other railroad to ever sell 
eonllnercial paper. Commercial paper is usually used by companies with seasoual cash needs or by com­
panies which routinely have sizable short-term borrowings. Railroads, however, usually have large cash 
flows and are more likely to have need of long-term borrowings. . 

"" One director presciently noted at this time that management's request for more locomotives indicated 
SOme fundamental problems because one of the major premiSes of the merger was that It would require fewer. 
not more, items of equipment. 
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borrow at high interest rates to pay the dividends. At the June 24, 
1969 meeting the directors were faced with approving, as customary 
in prior years, a dividend for the third 'quarter. The board customarily' 
did not meet in July and August when the dividend for the third 
quarter would otherwise come up for consideration. Saunders realized 
that there might be reluctance in this year to declare a dividend so 
far in advance. He inquired of the legal department about the dis­
closure that would have to be made if the dividend decision were 
postponed until a special August meeting. He was told that the post­
ponement of the decision would have to be disclosed. This would have 
an adverse impact on the investing public, and he dropped the idea. 

At· the June meeting, several of the directors began questioning the 
payments of a dividend so far in advance of the third quarter results. 
The same problem of disclosure that had troubled Saunders earlier 
arose again. From the testimony of one director, Franklin Lunding: 

Question: Was this discussed at all at the June [board] 1neeting, the consequences 
that might happen if you delayed the decision [on the declaration of the dividend] until 
AUgtlst? -

Answer. It had been customary to declare the dividend at thi~ meeting. If );OU 
didn't declare it at this meeting, then all kinds of questions would arise, I would 
judge. 

Question. Well, can you recall whether this problem was discussed at the June meet­
ing, that 1:j the decision were formally delayed until August, that this would raise 
questions in the financial community. 

Answer. I am 'not sure, but my impression is yes, this was raised by either 
Bevan 01' Saunders. 

The objections of the few directors were answered by having the 
board declare a dividend payable September 26, 1969 with the under­
standing that a special August meeting would be held so that. the' 
matter could be reconsidered if necessary. According to Stewart 
Rauch, a director: 

It was June that the third quarter [dividend was declared] payable in September. 
It [the question of whether a dividend should be paid] was under discussion and it 
was concluded that further consideration should be given to it, so that the board 
was called in August for that purpose. 

The dividend was then declared at the June meeting and was re­
ported in the press. At the August meeting no objection was raised to 
the payment of the dividend even though Bevan illdicated at that 
time that the cash drain for the year would be $295 million and that 
he had no idea where the $300 million needed for next year would 
come from. The dividend was finally dropped at the November 26, 
1969. board meeting when the fourth quarter dividend came up. 

INVESTIGATION OF BEVAN ABANDONED 

The August 26, 1969 board meeting became an important meeting 
for reasons other. than dividend policy. At that meeting it· was dis­
closed that a suit had been brought by a shareholder and former officer 
of Executive Jet Aviation, John Kunke1.302 The suit named EJA., 
Penn Central, American Contract Co., Glore,Forgan & Co., O. F. 
Lassiter (president of EJA) , Charles Hodge, and David Bevan as 
defendants. Kunkel alleged, among other ·things, that Penn Central 

302 There were no public shareholders of EJA. Severnl insiders held stock and Penn Central bad by far 
the largest investment. 
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dominated EJA through Bevan and Hodge; 303 that under the in­
fluence of Bevan, EJA was acquiring foreign airline interests and 
advancing funds to one Fidel Goetz among others; 304 that Pen phil 
(whose shareholders include Bevan and H,:,dge) had improper arrange­
ments with EJA through Holiday Internati'1nal Tours which caused 
0: waste of EJA funds; 305 that operational losses were in excess of 
$9,500,000 and that indebtedness to Penn Central exceeded 
$19,500,000. The complaint also alleged a waste of corporate funds 
on the personal pleasures of Lassiter and others. Kunkel was in a 
position to know of these matters. He was fOI'mer]y the treasurer and 
the chief financial officer of EJA.306 

The directors had not been successful in insnring the competency 
of management or the company's compliance with laws. Now they were 
confronted with a direct challenge to the integrity of the company's 
chief financial officer. The allegations made by Kunkel were basically 
true. The directors had ample reason to be sensitive to any allega­
tions of impropriety in connection with the affairs of EJA. The di­
rectors had been aware for some time that the Civil Aeronautics 
Board considered Penn Central's involvement in EJA to be illegaP07 
They also knew that sizeable amOLlI1ts of money had been advanced 
to EJA and the Penn Central had received no return on the money. 
Up to this point they had relied on Bevan for information about 
EJA. The fact that Bevan was being sued was of such significimye 
in light of all the circumstances that an independent inquiry by the 
board was certainly called for. 

3D3 Fr0111 Kunkel cOlnplaint: 
"6. Continuously up to the filing of this action defendant Penn-Central Railroad, dominatcd and 

controlled the election of tho board 01 directors and ollicers aud the management and business policies 
01 EJA, Inc. through the American Contract Co., GJoro Forgan, Will. R. Staats, Inc .. Cha"l"s J. flodge, 
and David C. Bevan. Disregarding the corporat6'ivell-being 01 EJA, Inc. and the rights 01 the minority 
shareholders the delendants entered into an illegal conspiracy to enable the Penn-Central Railroad to 
dominate the world air transportation market." 

3D1 From Kunkel complaint: 
"He (Lassiter) directed EJA, Inc. on a course of action designed to gain control oland acquire foreign 

air carriers with lunds supplied through various meBns 01 financial subterfuge by the Penn-Central 
Railroad and Glore Forgan, Wm. R. Staats, Inc. in violation 01 the rules and regulations of the Civil 
Aeronantics Board and the laws of the United States. . . This agreement (on European operations) 
was consummated without the approval or concurrence of the board of directors, the management, or 
the shareholders of EJA except tbe coconspirators named herein. Financial reports later obtaincd by 
the treasurer of EJA showed a loss of approximately $72,000 lor Transavia in the first 3 months of 1968 
and accumulated losses of nearly $500,000 as of May 31, 1968. To finance this and other similar conspira-· 
torlal transactions the Penn-Central Railroad caused $500,000 to be made available to EJA, to be placed. 
in the bank (sic) 01 America and had one Fidel GoetzloanEJA $650,000 lor which Mr. Goetz received 
interest and a warrant for 40,000 shares of EJA. llif. Goetz is a Gennan textile magnate and the con­
trolling stockholder in Sudwesttiug, a German supplemental carrier. 

"Subsequent to the agreement of February 1968 EJA leased a Boeing 707 to Transavia and is pres('ntly 
owed in excess of $1 million by Tmnsavia for the use of this airplane and attempts to collect this bill 
or to have the airplane returned to EJA have not been successful." 

'" From Kunkel complaint: 
"During the month of February 1968 the coconspirators embarked upon a plan whereby EJA would 

control and operate International Air Bahamas and absorb all losses therefrom while the conspirators 
would personally benefit from B wholesale tour ageucy known as Holiday International Tours wbich 
had l)een hIred as general sales agent for International Air Bahamas. Holiday International Tours 
was financed aud controlled by an investment company called Pen phil which had a list of stockbrokers 
including O. F. Lassiter, Charles J. Hodge, and David C. Bevan, iu fact hal! of Penphil's shareholders 
aro either present or retired employees of the Penn Central Railroad or Glore Forgan, Wm. R. Staats, 
Inc. The conspirators charged EJ A, Inc. with large sums of money for plush and elaborate entertain­
ment expense3 and ballyhoo far beyond any reasonable corporate expenditures for promotional plU"poses. 
International Air Babamas is presently indebted (sic) to EJA, Inc. in excess of $1,500,000 in back lease 
payments, maintenance costs and air crews for Boeing 7fJi fW'nished by EJA, Inc. and every attempt 
by tbe 100mer treasurer of EJA, Inc. to (collect) tbis account was hampered and stopped by O. F. 
Lassiter lor reasons unknown. This indebtedness grows monthly while EJA, Inc. goes further in debt 
to Penn·Central Railroad to finance this operation." 

lao The directors were not furnished with copies of the complaint, Apparently no director asked lor a copy . 
• 07 The directors also admitted their growing concern about Bevan's inability to sell EJA as required by 

the CAB. Bevan had repeatedly assured the board that EJA would shortly be sold. At the time of this 
meeting previously reported efforts to sell to U.S. Steel aud Burlington Industries had failed. Penn Central 
was also being fined $65,000 by the CAB for its continuing involvement witb EJ A. 

The directors state that tbey had relied in good faith on the opinion of counsel that the investment was 
legal. 
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The directors in fact realized the significance of the matter. During 
an executive session which was called to discuss Bevan's appointment 
to the board, Stewart Rauch questioned whether Bevan's appoint­
ment should be delayed until an inquiry of the EJA matter could be 
made. The directors finally decided to proceed with the appointment 
of Bevan to the board, but to authorize an investigation into the 
charges. Although Rauch wanted a wholly outside group to conduct 
the investigation it was decided, apparently at the sugsestion of 
Thomas Perkins, who was a member of the conflicts cOIDInlttee, that 
the conflicts committee of the board would conduct the investigation . 

.. ' B.Elvim was out of the board room when this discussion took place. 
After the meeting adjourned, Saunders informed Bevan of the 

board's decision on the investigation. BevHn became angered. He 
stated that he would consider an investigation to be a vote of no 
confidence and that he would resie-n. This alalmed Saunders and the 

, directors who learned of it. Edward Hanley, the chairman of the con­
flicts committee and a friend of Bevan 308 decided that the resignation 
of Bevan would be extremely harmful to Penn Central because of the 
financial crisis being experienced by the company. Penn Central could 
not afford to lose its chief financial officer, expecially one who seemed 
~o.adroit at raising cash. Despite Saunders' general animosity toward 
~'evan, he was aware of ,Bevan's importance at that critical, time. 
Saunders called John Seabrook to warn about Bevan's threatened 
resign a tion : 

Question. Did lvIr. Saunders indicate that he wanted to keep Bevan? 
Answer. He sure did. lIe surely did. 

Question. Had you ttnderstood that there was any animosity between }jib". Bevan 
and Mr. Saunders? 

Answer. Yes. I didn't think they were fond of each other at all. 

Question. Well did you see any reason why.this was not a good time for Mr. Saun-
ders to accept Mr. Bevan's resignation' . 

Answer. Well, keep in mind 1;hat timing, August was 2 months before we passed 
the cash dividend and he regarded Bevan as a wizard at raising cash and so I think 
hc didn't want to lose his services at the time. 

Rauch was prevailed upon by Saunders to call Bevan and mollify 
him. Rauch called Bevan on September 3. It was an awkward call be­
cause Rauch had raised the question of what was happening in EJA 
and it was Rauch who had suggested postponing a salary inClease for 
Bevan until the EJA matter could be examined. Bevan rebuked Rauch 
:a:nd emphg,sized that the company was in serious financial difficulties, 
with the implication that he was indispensible. Rauch's notes r'etlect 
that Bevan spoke of: ' 

Cash drain of $29.5 [million through 1970] 5 minutes on that. 
Near miracle to save company next year $200-$300 million in equipment no 

where to come from. 

Rauch concluded: 
Dave must stay-what action can rectify appt. comti [appointment on August 

27th of committee to investigate EJA and Bevan]. 

3.' Hanley was chairman of the board of Alleghany Ludlum and had caused Bevan to be named to the 
Alleghany Ludlum board in 1967. 
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Hanley conducted a telephone poll of most of the directors and 309 
explained Bevan's position on the matter of the investigation.3lO The 
directors agreed that they could not afford to let Bevan go at that 
critical time. Hanley worked out a compromise. First, reference to 
the authorizatioI! of the investigation would be deleted from the 
minutes. Second, Bevan would prepare a statement explaining the 
EJA and Penphil matters and this statement would be presented to 
the board. Such a statement was prepared by Bevan and reviewed by 
H,:anley. At the next board meeting on September 24, 1969, the 
s.tlLtement was read by O'Hcrron.3u The statement dealt with the 
'foreign investments of EJAand made them appear to be minor and to 
be a result of a misunderstanding: The report mentioned Penphil 
briefly and identified only Bevan as a shareholder.312 The report did 
not discuss the other allegations of the complaints, including the 
wasting of corporate assets. The statement was so innocuous t.hat the 
directors could not recall the mcntion of Pen phil in the report. If the 
board had not abandoned its intention of conducting an investigation 
or if the directors had merely read the complaint the unacceptable 
conduct of Bevan would have been apparent . 
.. The directors explain that the reason for abandoning the inquiry was· 
tb,eir concern because of Bevan's importance and the lack of a suitable 
replacement that he could not be permitted to resign.313 It was an ad­
mission that the directors realized Penn Central's financial condition 
was critical. The public did not know this. Indeed the directors had 
avoided the dividend issue at the very meeting nt which the suit was 
brought up. The shareholders were disserved doubly: (1) Bevan's 
activities were not uncovered and he was not removed; and (2) the 
financial debacle was kept from investors for a further period. 

". Principally the Philadelphia area directors. 
'" Q. Was this matter (of the Kunkel allegatiou) taken uuder advisement by the Conflict 01 Interest 

Committee, at that time? 
A. No, it was not. My recollection 01 What happened was that Tom Perkins said tlillt ho thought an in· 

v~.stigation should be made 01 Executive Jet and Devan took this to be a vote of no confidence. 
Q. What happened? 
A. WolI, I think that Dave submitted a resignation. 
Q. To tne board? 
A. To Saunders. 
Q .. How did you learn 01 that? 
A. I think I learned about it Irom Bevan. 
Q. Did anyone else know 01 this, to your knowledge? That is, did any 01 the other directors indicate that 

they had knowledge 01 the resignation? 
A. Well, if thcy didn't then they did subsequently because I didn't think we should permit Bevan to 

resign Irom his lob at Penn Central at that time, for sure. . 
Q. And was this discussed before the board, as a whole, tben as to how they came to know it? 
A. Well, I did a lot 01 telephoning on it. 
Q. Did yon taUr to everybody on the board? 

. A: I don't think I taUred to everybody ;but I taUred to most everybody. I know I talked to all 01 the people 
Oil thc'board who were from the Pennsylvania Railroad, so I know I talked to a lot 01 them. And, I talked 
to others. I know I talkod to Del Marting, who was recently on the board. Finally, I wound up talking to 
Stewart Rauch. 

Q. Would it be fah' to say that tho main reason for your not going ahead with the Investigation of EJ A at 
this period-sometime between August and September of 1969-was the fact that the financial condition or 
t.he financing status of Penn Centml Was in such a condition that the resignation of Its chief financial ollicer 
would have made its financial coudition 01' status even more precarious than it was? 

A. I think so. We were getting into this. We weren't lull-scale bankrupt at that moment, but were headed 
that way awlul fast. 

'" Bevan was uot present at the meeting. 
112 'I'he complaint identifies Lassiter, Hodge, and Bevan as Penphll shnreholders and states: "in fact half 

01 Penphll's shareholders are either present or retired employees of Penn Central RR. or Olore Forgan, 
Wm. R. Staats. Inc." 

'u The directors stress the dilemma they faced. They believ~d that Be'\"an could not be replaced at that 
time without serious harm to the company and yet tiley were troubled by the charges concerning EJA. 
It should be noted, however, that the board did not attempt to place any constraints on Bevan and he was 
only replaced in June 1970 at the insistence 01 banks and the Govenunent. 



An immediate consequence to the directors' backing down under 
Bevan's threats was that Bevan could continue wasting corporate 
assets in the EJA activities and could continue to conceal the need 
to write off Penn Central's entire investment in EJA in light of the 
effective bankruptcy of the company.314 Bevan had arranged for 
Fidel Goetz, a European investor mentioned in the Kunkel suit,to 
financially support EJA's "world operating rights program" in Europe. 
When EJA was forced to withdraw its application to acquire Johnson 
Flying Service, [t supplemental carrier which was to be Penn Central's 
avenue to the air cargo business, the European plan collapsed. Goetz 
had advanced funds for this project and demanded' compenslttion. 
In August of 1969 the Transportation Co., through American Contmct 
Co., a subsidiary, was obtaining a $10 million equipment rehabilita­
tion loan from Berliner Bank in Germany. As part of a scheme to 
reimburse Goetz f01 his EJA losses and for other reasons, Bevan 
arranged to have the $10 million transferred to First Financial Trust. 
an account set up in Liechtenstein by Goetz and Francis Rosenbaum. 315 
On September 18, 1969, when the $10 million urrived in Liechtenstein, 
$4 million was immediately transferred to another account, Vilede 
Anstalt, controlled solely by Goetz. The $4 million was never re­
covered. This diversion of funds, which occurred just as the directors 
were backing a'vvay from their investigation, was not mentioned by 
Bevan in his memorandum to the board of Sel?tember 24, 1969.316 

The. consequences of Bevan's successful intimidation of the board 
and the board's knowip.~ and willing refusal t.o examine direct and· 
accurate challenges to his integrity were far more serious than the 
continuation of the EJA scunda1. Bevan was the 'sole representative 
of Penn. Central in dealing with lenders. He had responsibility for 
billions of dollars of financings. He was actively involved in 1aising 
several hundred million additional dollars during the period after 
August 1969. While engaged in this activity he made misleading 
statements to Icnders.317 These are set forth in greater detail in other 
sections.318 In connection vvith keeping out $200 million of commercial 

'" The history ofthis and related EJA matters is discussed at page 71. aI' Roscubaum is currently serving a prison sentence for defrauding the U.S. Government. 
316 The loss was not discovered nntil after the iJankruptcy. Tile board apparently had continuing aversion 

to.facing reality. When tile EJ A problem was again raised by a lawyer in Florida in early 1970, the conflicts 
committee referred tile matter to Gorman for investigatiou (partly because there appeared to be a possible 
conflict on the part of the committee's counsel, Skadden, Arps, which represented Pan American, an in­
tervenor in the EJ A action before the CAB). Gorman's investigation was carried out under the supervision 
of Dechert, Price & Rhoades. As in other matters which that firm handled for Penn Central, its conclusions 
did not challenge company practices. It appears that Dechert did not talk to Bovan, Gerstnecker or EJA 
officers, and did not know of the diversion of $4 million to Goetz even though they specifically did conclude 
that the company's ollicers did know they were violating the law through tho. foreign investments. Gorman 
then reported to Hanley by letter on May 28, 1970: 

"During the course of the investigation. there Was concern, or couse, over the recitals in the CAR's 
consent order of possible knowing violations of aviation law by company ollicers. These related to 
EJ A's dealing with foreign interests. Nothing brought out by this investigation persuades me that our 
people knew that EJ A was doing more thl),n having preliminary negotiations subject to CAB approval. 

"The important thing now is to devote the company's efforts to salvaging as much of the investment 
as possible under present circumstances. [EJA was in fact effectively bankrupt and should have been 
wrItten off Penn Centrol's books) ...... 

In fact, no independent investigation of EJA was ever made by the directors. Even a superficialinvestiga­
~~~ c~~~~~~~:;'f~:c~~r~? :~~nCOC!~;~i.the deception and the wasting of assets involving among others, 

.17 Bevan asserted that he was doing what he could to keep thc company going. While his motivation may 
be unclear (he had bailed ont on much of his stock holdings in early 1969 when he could see the crisis which 
the company was in) ,he must have realized that his departure would expose him to liability for the activities 
which his successor might uncover, including EJ A and Penphil. 

316 See in particular, Finance, Underwriting, Great Southwest. 
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paper, Bevan repeatedly made misstatements to the commercial paper 
dealer. Purchasers were continually buyin~ this unsecured debt until 
May of 1970.319 Bevan also made misleadmg statements to bankers 
to induce them to lend an additional $50 million to Pennco. Bevan 
attempted to have an under\VTiter's lawyer who was becoming sus­
picious removed from an underwriting.320 The board never asked 
about his dealings and they had not e'stablished any procedures for 
limiting Bevan's pO"\ver or for monitoring his activities aDd 
represen ta tions. 

FALL, 1969: GORlVIAN/GENGRAS-A BEGINNING REQUEST FOR 
INFORMA'l'ION 

As reflected in their deference to Bevan following the August 1969 
board meeting, the directors were aware by the fall of 1969 of the 
serious finanClal condition of the company. They were also generally 
aware that the railroad operations were experiencing continuing and 
serious difficulties which were cUllsing large losses. They were unaware 
of the precise extent 01' cause of the financial or operational problems 
because that information was not being supplied to the board. The 
directors hoped for some kind of turnaround and cited the employment 
of Paul Gorman, which the board approved at the August meeting. 

Gorman.-None of the directors could comment authoritatively on 
Gorman's hiring because the directors were not kept informed of the 
search. Saunders conducted the search and negotiated with Gorman 
on his own. The directors were not consulted during the search and 
no directors' committee was formed. Gorman was first approached 
:Lbout the job by Charles Hoclgewho knew of Gorman as a member 
of It country club of which Hodge was also a member.321 Bevan and 
Saunders then discussed the position with Gorman.322 

The hirinf; of Gorman was not a solution to Penn Cuntral's problems. 
Without challenging Gorman's reputation as 9, cost controller, it can be 
said that in light of all the circumstances his hiring was an indication 
of Penn Central's dire eondition. Gorman was Saunders' choice only 
after he had tried and failed to get any major railroad executive to 
t;:lke the job.323 Despite tho staggcring crisis at Penn Central, Gorman's 
umployment was not to b9~in until December 1, 1969, more than 3 
months aHer he was hirod. 3 4 Although he had no railroad experience 
he made no effort, aside from reading some annual reports, to inform 
himself about the railroad industry or about Penn Central. When he 
arrived he received some surprises. He had assumed that he would 
'" Commercial paper purchasers lost $83 milliou. Despito misrepresentations by Bevan, the commercial 

papor dealers bad ample warning 01 Penn Central's problems and shonld have taken appropriate action. !;"" tho section of this report on the sale 01 commercial paper . 
• " Bee section on Public Offerings. 
'" The directors cite tbe arrival of Gorman as an example of the efforts to secure competent management 

uft!!r they discovered tbe problems plagUing thc railroad. The directors, however, played virtually no role 
In selecting Gorman or even in deciding whether a new presidont was needed. Saunders presented the whole 
maLtor as an accomplisbed fact. 

mIn lact, Hodge first approached Gonnan at the conntry club. Hod!:e was not a director of Peoo Central 
hut he was influential; he was involved in tho diversification efforts (particularly with GSC and Macco); 
II,· was a member of Penphil; he was involved in EJA. The directors knew nothing 01 Hodge's role io the 
hlrin~ 01 (Jorman. 

'" The directors acl<owledge that they knew this to be the case. They still felt that Gonnan would be the 
right man. This view would appear to be a result of wishfnl thinking and laek of an understanding of tbe 
fundamental problems . 

• :1 One lllOl1th was spe-nt on vacatioll. 
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have control of accounting, but he found that Bevan had been given 
responsibility for accounting. Control over accounting would seem to 
be of particular significance to cost cutting activities. He also shortly 
learned that Saunders' management approach tended to be arbit.rary 
and unrelated to reality. He also began learning of dubious accounting 
practices. This led to his calling a finance committee meeting on May 5, 
1970 (describod elsewhere), at which he confided ,hi's growing concerns 
about management and accounting practices at Penn Central. 

Gengras.-During the time Saunders was involved in a search for a 
new president he acquired a new diroctor, Clayton Gengras, again 
with the aid of Charles Hodge. 325 Gengras was the chief officer of the 
Security Insurance Co. of Hartford. Tho insurance company had begun 
making moderate purchases of Ponn Central stock in 1965. In the e:-trly 
summer of 1969 Gengras learned through investment counsel to 
Secmity that.Hodge was trying to int.erest a number of investors in 
Penn Central with a view to reorganizing thl3 company.326 At Hodge's 
invitation Gong-ras mot with Hodge, Saunders, and Bevan in Hodge's 
office in New York. Hodge made n; presentation in which he outlilleq 
a plan to have the soon-to-be-formed holding company controlled 
by n3W, more active directors than those on tho railroad board. 
Saund~rs supported Hodge's presentation.327 The insurance compan:v 
then purchased 200,400 shares between August. and December 1969 
through Hodge's firm, Glore, Forgan & CO.328 Gengras was t,hen 
nominated to the holding company board by Saunders. Gengras was 
later added to the Transport.ation Company board aft3r one of the 
directors remarked to Saunders about the pp.culiarit.y of having 
Gengras on only the holding company board. None of the other 
directors knew anything about the circumstances of Gengras' acquisi­
tion of stock. They testified that they assumed Saunders Wfl,S naming 
him to the board because'he happened to own a large block of stock. 

Information.-In the fall of 1969, some of the directors were becom­
ing concerned about the lack of information. At the same time, Robert 
Odell began raising questions about GSC openly in the board meetings. 
Under this growing restlessness Saunders asked the directors for 
suggestions on the presentation of information to the board. Louis 
Cabot and William Day responded in writing. 

Cabot was a new member who had attended his first meeting in 
May 1969. His freshness to Penn Central as well as his experience 
with boards of his own companies may have assisted him in cataloging 
with some precision the information that had long been missing: 

I believe directors should not he the mann.gcrs of a business, hut they :;hould 
insure the excellency of its management by appraising the management's per­
formance. To do this they have to meatiure that performance against agreed upon 
yardsticks. 

So my first suggestion is that it would be most l1seful to the director~ to h:we 
management tell us in quantitative terms what it is trying to accomplish. For 
Penn Central this is, of COUl'se, a complicated comiJination of a number of things. 
Even if you yourself have a clear picture of these objectives, it is most difficult 
for your directors to have one unless a careful job is done of painting a clear one 

... The other directors knew nothing 01 the role of Hodge ill Oengrus· eoming to the hoard . 

... Gengras·himsell had a reputation for gaining control of and reor~anizing companies . 
• 27 This description is based on Gengras' recollection, Hodge refused to testify on ruth amendmer.t g .. uunds. 

Bevan and Saunders were vague. Saunders admits to the meeting with Oengms in Hodge's office, but he 
denies having initiated a program of obtaining new directors. 

'" The stock, which was purchased lor $8,127,207,71, was held by Security through the bankruptcy 01 the 
railroad. 
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for 11S. The more complicated it is, thc more valuable it can be to help the direct.or:" 
separate the important from the Ilnimportant; and the more surely they should 
not get involved in details. 

My second suggestion is that the directors be given, perhaps annually, an 
opportunity to review objectives with the management, and endorse them. I 
refer to both long-term direction t.ype objcctives and short-term targets. This is 
the only way we can give any input at all as directors without being in the position 
of second guessing after the facts. Furthermore, it can give management nome 
assurance that the board !iupports what it is trying to do. . 

M'y third suggestion is that the directors be told pcriodically how actual result,;; 
are working out as against the short term targets. Where are their shortfalls? 
What were the reasons? Were they some things not foreseen and beyond our cont,rol, 
or were they Penn Central shortcomings that need more attention. 

To take a specific example, how does the $40 million we have lost in transporta­
tion so far this year compare with what it should have been? Did the direct.ors 
know what anyone thought we would earn or lose? And on the basis of that 
expectation did they agree with what management was planning to do; that is, 
capital investment, cost cllt,ting, services added or abandoned. organization 
changes? Why did we miss? It's not, very helpful to be told the railroad business 
is terrible. What didn't work the way we could have expected? The economy? 
Unusually high strike activity? An unexpected action by the ICC? Furthermore, 
if these kinds of losses are unacceptable, which I presume is the case, what shall 
wC'do different, to reverse them? How and when can we tell whether the changes 
are working? 

I do not think directors should know about every real estate deal, but I do 
think they should know what we are trying to accomplish. Are we trying to use 
up tax credits, or make large capital gains~ or add to current earnings by a steady 
stream of profitable small trades1 or whatr How are we doing? How much capital 
should we devote to real estate'( And what do we think lies ahead? 

I am more concerned about our overall finances. How much longer are we going 
to invest vastly more than our cash flow? Are we trying to borrow all the money we 
possibly can or is there a prudent limit? If so, what is it? Are our plans consistent 
with it? 

I think I can defend myself as having been diligent as a director if I have the 
opportunity to participate in and vote' on such issues as I have listed. If not, I 
don't think I can. I certainly cannot ,merely by listening to a long list of railroad' 
capital expenditures once a month. (Cabot letter ,to Saunders Oct. 28, 1969). 

In reply, Saunders assured Cabot that his letter would receive careful 
consideration but he went on to give his opinion that much that 
Cabot saw as necessary was already being supplied in the reports given 
by Bevan, Perlman, and himself. The information, in fact, was not 
supplied and was not requested by anyone other than Cabot, and, to 
some extent, by Odell. . 

William Day also wrote to Saunders but his views were more toward 
the picture being presented to the Government and the public who 
were responsible, according to Day, for the railroad's problems: 

The other evening I sat beside Harold Geneen of I.T.T. and had an interesting 
talk with him about the outlook for conglomerates and his general philosophy 
regarding the course of American business. He said he thought t,hat Penn Central 
was making a great mistake in not "exposing the railroad in all its nakedness to 
the public" so that the public and, in particular, legislators would realize what a 
poor performance, under present ratemaking practices, the railroads are experi­
encing.339 I mentioned Hal's comments to Jack Seabrook before the meeting and 
I think this is what prompted his comment. 

It seems to me there is a great deal of merit in tllis suggestion. I realize that we 
must present the consolidated pictureto Penn Central stockholders but we have 
been tending to cover up the poor results from the railroad operation rather 
than exposing them.33o As was indicated in the meeting, presenting the railroad 

m Penn Central's problems were much deeper thanTatemaklng; in fact Penn Central·had difficulty in 
gettin·g other roads to apply for the rate increases of the size wanted by Penn Central. 

13' The disclosure of the losses from the rail operations was never made public until the counsel for the 
underwriters put it in the $100 million Pennco debenture offering cu"cular In April 1970. 
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operation by itself would require a number of adjustments but I really feel this 
should be done. We just cannot go on forever having the profits of other operations 
almost completely absorbed by losses in railroad operations.331 (Day letter to 
Saunders Dec. 1, 1969.) 

With this reply, Saunders attached the published third-quarter 
income statement .vhich, he stated, showed the separate railroacllosses. 
Unless the reader knew how the figures were assembled, and could 
thus rearrange the figures, the statements did not show the losses on 
railroad operations. Saunders, however, did touch on the real reason 
for not providing full disclosure: 

I recognize that there is merit, in "exposing the railroad in all its nakedness 
to the public." On the other hand, if we go much further than other railroads go 
in this regard, ollr figures are not comparable.332 Moreover, I think our picture 
is .bleak enough to achieve most of the results that we need from the point of 
view of legislation and regulatory agencies. If we go too far in this regard, we also 
get ourselves in greater trouble so far a~ our financing is concerned. I am, however, 
in complete accord with you that the Board should have all these facti>. 

Penn Central had already overextended itself. on financing and 
Saunders was aware that full disclosme would shut off further financing 
and probably begin a run on commercial paper. It probably also 
would have led to the removal of senior management. . 

Each of these letters reflects the views of two different types of 
Penn Central directors. Cabot was a new director concerned about 
what he was learning and what information he needed to function as 
a director. Day was a director of long standino' from the Philadelphia 
area. He tended to view a director's responsibility to be solely that of 
backing management rather than representing the interests of share­
holders; consequently his letter reflects problems he felt ml1llagement 
was having with the government rather than his concern about disclo­
sure to shareholders. Directors with Day's outlook far outnumbered 
directors with Cabot's outlook. 

ROBER'l' ODELL ON GREAT SOU'l'HWEST AND :MANAGElI1ENT 

The unwillingness of the diIectors to see to adequate disclosure or 
to the integrity of management is demonstrated again in issues raised 
by Robert Odell in late iall 1969.333 Odell had expressed reservations 
about the real estate subsidiaries when the matter came up before 
the New York Central board in 1966 in connection with the increase 
in Pennsylvania Railroad's debt ceiling. As described in the section 
of this report on Great Southwest, Oden had also written to Saunders 
in 1968 about his concern. He was right in his earlier expressions of 
concern and he was right in late 1969 when he voiced his concerns at 
several board meetinO's. At the October bomd meeting an executive 
session (excluding officers who were not also directors) ,vas held at 
Odell's request. At that session he expressed his concerns about the 
real estate subsidiaries. 

The Penn Central management sought to undermine his position 
by emphasizing that Odell had a conflict because he had a California 
real estate company of his own. Many of the directors, principally 

331 Day was apparently unaware that much of the nonrailroad ~arnings were paper earnings. 
332 If any comparability problem existed, an alternative presentation, with appropliateclarification, could 

have been supplied along with the standard format. 
333 Odell had not been able to attend the August and September board meetings and never learned of the 

proposed investigation of EJA and Bevan. . 
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those in the Philadelphia area, accepted this argumen t and even 
cited it to the staff during its investigation. The directors apparently 
ignored the fact thnt Odell's knowledge of real estate development, 
particularly in California, might lend credence to his concerns.334 The 
directors also ignored the simple solution to any conflict problem of 
conducting an inquiry into the affairs of the real estate subsidiaries 
in such a way that Odell would be excluded from nccess to inside 
information. 

It is important to note that at the time Odell was pressing his 
concerns before the board the directors were unaware of the enormolls 
problems in Grel1t Southwest. The directors had been puzzled about 
the Six Flags Over Georgia amusement park sale in 1968 and Saunders 
had sent a reassuring, if misleading, letter to the directors. The 
directors admitted thn,t even after they read the letter they were 
still unable to understand the transaction. In addition, by the fnll 
of 1969 the price of Great Southwest stock, about which Bevan had 
earlier boasted, was plunging. Further, despite the supposed enormous 
"earnings" contribution of Great Southwest, the Ponnco board in 
December 1969 approved a "forgiveness" of a $25,000,000 debt 
owed PenneD by Great Southwest through the exchange of Great 
Southwest stock for the debt. The debt represented cash advances from 
the railroad to GSC to meet the continuing cash losses in the Sllb­
sidiaries. 335 

Many of Great Southwest's problems were of vital interest to the 
parent company. These interests included the earnings (which ap­
peared in the pttrent's consolidated results), the cash flow from the 
parent down to the subsidiaries, and the value of Great Sou thwest 
stock in Pennco's portfolio. Further, the Penn Central management 
dominated tho affairs of Great Sou thwest. This raised the question of 
the obligation of the directors of the parent to see that the dominance 
was not adverse to the interest of the minority shareholders. The 
diJ:ectors failed to make even minimal inquiries into Great Southwest 
when the matter was forcefully and repeatedly brought to their atten­
tion by Odell and by circumstances. 336 

When 04e11 encountered opposition from managemont at the board 
meetings hb decided to invite the nonmanagement directors to a dinner 
meeting on November 25, 1969, the evening preceding the scheduled 
board meeting. The invitation prompted communication botween 
Saunders and several directors and among several directors, principally 
those living in the Philadelphia araa.337 Saunders and the directors 
who rejected the invitation deny that they were attempting to prevent 
Odell from having such a meeting, but it appears from the pattern of 
communication and the pattern of rejections that 3n effort was made 
by management and directors favorable to management to prevent 

'31 A director who was asked whether he had attempted to learn from Odell what information he had about 
the real estate subsidiaries stated that such an inquiry would be meaningless because of Odell's possible con· 
llict of interest. 

'" See page 139. 
'" During testimony, many of the directors even in hindsight viewed Odell as an annoyance. One director, 

When asked what Was done about the questions raised by Odell after he left the board replied that the prob· 
lems ceased. When fw-ther questioned about how he \meW the problems had ceased, he replied that Odell had 
left the board. It became apparent that the problems as seen by the director was not GSC but rather Odell 
himself. 

In The Alleghany contingent and some others, principally those not living in the Philadelphia area, were 
inclined to accept the invitation but Odell canceled the meeting when he learned of the number of rejections. 
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Odell's meeting from taking place. At the board meeting on Novem­
ber 26, Odell read a prepared statement and then moved to have 
Saunders and Beven effectively removed from control and to have 
Perlman placed in control. The motion was not seconded. 

On December 17,1969, a Pennco board meeting was called by Saun­
ders to obtain board approval for the exchange of GSC stock for debt 
owed by GSC to Pennco and to approve a sale of 2 million shares of 

. stock to the three principal officers of Great Southwest.338 339 At the 
Transportation Company board meeting on December 17, 1969, Great 
Southwest officers made a presentation to the board, apparently as 
part of an attempt by management to undercut Odell. The presenta­
tion consisted principally of slide photographs of the Great Southwest 
real estate. No solid information on Great Southwest conditions or 
problems was presented. No detailed information about the properties 
was supplied, nor was information on cash flows or costs presented. 
Directors favorable to mana!!ement testified that they were satisfied 
by the presentation of the Great Southwest officials. Others char­
acterized it as a "slide show" and a "dog and pony show." Odell asked 
for more infOlmation.340 Bevan told the board that Great Southwest 
had an independent board. He neglected to say, however, that Penn 
Central management dominated Great Southwest. Saunders then 
assured Odell that procedures for reviewing the activities of the sub­
sidiaries would be recommended to the board. 

On Jrumary 8, 1970, Odell wTote to the Pennco board about a recent 
new~paper report that Great Southwest had acquired I.C. Deal Co. for 
appro.\.'imately 1 million shares of GSC stock. Odell stated that tIllS 
was yet another demonstration of Great Southwest activities taking 
place without Penn Central knowledge. He stated that the Pennco 
board should consider and investigate transactions of this magnitude 
before they were entered into by GSC. Apparently management saw 
this letter as an opportunity to undermine Odell. They could try to 
say that Odell was not interested in investigating Great Southwest and 
its transactions but that he really wanted Pennco to operate Great 
Southwest. Penn Central management then met with members of the 
law :firm of Dechert, Price & Rhoads, frequently used by Penn Cen­
traP41 Management indicated that problems they were having with 
Odell and indicated that he was something of a "troublemaker". 

Odell's long-standing objections were that Pennco should take a 
doser look at Great Southwest's activities including its management 
and its major transactions. Penn Central management knew that such 
examination would prove extremely embarrassing. Some of Great 
Southwest's earnmgs, which contributed to Penn Central's results, 
were inflated earnings which did not present an accurate. picture of 
the performance of Great Southwest. They al~o knew that ill terms of 
cash the railroad was supporting Great Southwest, contrary to the· 
understanding of the public and the Pennco directors. There were a 
number of other embarrassing facts about Great Southwest including 

'" These proposed transactions are discussed in the section on Great Southwest Corp. 
23'. Gorman had refnsed Saunders' invitation to join the Pennco board at that time bocause he had doubts 

about the reasons behind, and the propriety of, these proposed transactions and did not want to have to 
pass on them. 

340 Odell had shortly before requested information on specific matters by letter. 
31\ Dechert was at that time involved in other matters relating to Great Southwest. They were supplying 

le~al advice to the Pennco board on the proposed sale of 2 million Great Southwest shares to Great Southwest 
officers and on the exchange of stock for debt. Tho Dechert firm later prepared the bankruptcy petition in 
Iune 1970. 
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the. payment of $7 million to four Great Southwest employees to 
renegotiate their employment contracts. Penn Central management 
and Dechert, however, decided to tl'eat Odell's request as though he 
wrmted the Pennco board to operate Great Southwest. Where Odell 
in his January 8, 1970 letter spoke of investigation and consideration 
of major transactions of the size of the I.C. Deal Co. acquisition,342 
Dechert's opinionr'eferred to a question of prior review of "all material 
transactions" and of "formal action" to be taken by the Pennco 
bOltrd on all of such transactions.343 

The Dechert opinion went beyond the issue of "formal action" 
on "all material transactions," however, and referred to the role of 
Great Southwest's "independent board and the independent manage­
ment to estl1blish policies and manage its business" and to the dangers 
of violating Federal secmities laws in having Great Southwest furnish 
"inside" information to the Pennco board.344 In fact, Penn Central 
already dominated Great Southwest.345 Further, Penn Central already 
possessed B.n abundance of vital adverse "inside information" which' 
neither it nor Great Southwest had shared with minority shareholders. 

Dechert's opinion did not go unchallenged. Hanley told Leslie 
Arps 346 in mid-January thaL Saunders had said that the Dechert 
firm would give an opinion that Odell's request would violate the 
securities laws because Great Southwest would be giving Pennco 
inside information. Arps spoke with Carroll Wetzel, the Dechert 
partner who wrote the opinion, and stated his opinion that Pennco had 
an obligation to be informed of Great Southwest's affairs, particularly 
since Great Southwest's earnings were consolidated with Penn 
Central's. Arps stated that the securities laws do not prohibit a 
majority shareholder from having inside information but only from 
abusing it. Arps also responded to Dechert's warning that if Pennco 
got involved in Great Southwest affairs the board would be held liable 

'" From Odell's letter of January 8, 1970 to tho Pennco hoard: 
SA.." FRANCISCO, CALII'., Januarv 8, 1970. 

Again I am distressed to learn from newspaper reports that Great Southwest Corporation has apparently 
lOado a commitmeut valued at between $17 mil!ion and $26 million Without prior approval of the parent 
cOlOpany. 

In my opinion this is absolutely wrong in every respect and places all Directors of the Pennsylvania Co. 
,in jeopardy. 

lOver and above legal nspects, transactions of this size should have careful prior consideration and investiga­
. tion by the directors before any commitment is made. 

Prior to consideration, back-up information shonld he furnished to each director embracing complete 
financial statements, independent appraisals and forecasts from a recognized firm of management consultants 
with complete detail concerning ownership and management of the company proposed to be acquired . 

... From the Dechert opinion of Jannary 21, 1970 addressed to the Pennco directors: 
"We have been asked Whether in our opinion i t would be proper for Pennsylvania Co. to attempt to require 

Great Sonthwest Corp. to advise Pennsylvania Co. of all material transactions contemplated by Great 
Southwest before commitmellts lire made so that prior consideration and investigation of the transactions 
might be undertaken by Pennsylvania Co.'s board and formal action taken with respect thereto by the 
board. 

"Pennsylvania Co. owns more than 90 percent of the voting shares of Great Southwest and the remaining 
sbares are publicly held. A majority of the directors of Great SouthWest have no alIiJiation with Pennsyl-
vania Co. other than in tbeir capacity as Great Southwest directors. ' 

"The procedurcdescribed above Is not required by the laws of any applicablejurlsdlction and in our opiuion 
would not be proper, except With respect to transactions required by law to be approved by the shareholders 
of Groat Southwest or with respect to which Great Southwest deems it desirable to have shareholder ap­
proval." 

.11 "The role of Pennsylvania Co. as a shareholder of Great Southwest is to seek the election to the board of 
Groat Southwest of qualified persons who will pmdently direct its afiairs and elect competent officers to 
opcmte its business. Its role is not to interject itseil in the business afiairs of Great Southwest. Great Sonth­
westis a pnlJlicly-owned corporation with an independent board and independent management to establish 
poliCies alld manage its business. Diverse ownership imposes on Great Southwest the duty under the federal 
securities laWS not to disclose so-calied "inside iniorllllltion" which is not available to the public generally. 
Moreover an attempt by the board of Pennsylvania Co. to exercise a management role as to Great Southwest 
mJght well result in imposing liability on Pennsylvania Co. for Great Southwest obligations. (Dechert 
opinion letter Jan. 21, 1970.)" 

"' See section of this report 011 Great Southwest . 
• 11 or the Skadden, Arps, Meagher & Flom law firm, counsel to the conflicts committee. 
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for Great Southwest's obligations because of the existing relationship 
between the companies. NeIther firm, apparently, knew of the state of 
affairs of Great Southwest or of the true relation between Great 
Southwest and Penn Central but Arps' position was certainly closer to 
reality. Dechert apparently had written an opinion tailored to the 
tactics of Penn Central management and had made no inquiry into' 
the facts. Saunders knew of both opinions but communicated only the 
Dechert opinion to the directors. The other directors paid little at­
tention to the whole matter, particularly because Odell was "solving" 
the problem for theril by leaving.347 

THE FINAL l\10NTHS 

If the directors had dem!1nded adequate information, they would 
have known from the beginning that Penn Central was suffering serious 
operational and financial problems. It is probable that they would 
also have discovered the devices by which management. sought to 
conceal the facts from shareholders and the public. Through late 1968 
and early 1969, the problems became sufficient.ly critical that. the 
directors were forced to note their e}"'-lstence although the direetol's 
were still able to avoid a confrontation with management. In the 
summer and fall of 1969 the situation deteriorated further. The 
directors were aware of the seriousness of the situation as is indicated 
by their reaction to Bevan's threatened resignation. 

By the wiuter of 1969-70 and early spring of 1970 the directors 
kne'w that the situation was grave. Ironically, they were less informed 
about current developments than they had been. earlier because the 
pace of events was accelerating even faster and the web of deception 
was becoming exceedingly intricate.348 Some directors still nourished 
the ephemeral hope that a revival would oc-cur under GOlman, but 
Gorman himself was learning some rude lessons about the. company's 
affail·s.349 Some directors indicated that the bad weather ill late Deccm­
ber and early January made things look ~orse than they were at that 
time. This i'\,ppears to be a thin thread of explanation because even 
though the bad weather increased the difficulties for 11 brief period, 
the decline quickly resumed its normal worsening rate after the bad 
weather passed. 

During this time the management, the directors, and the company 
began to disintegrnte. Some directors talked privately with manage-

'" In a letter to Bevan on Feb. 5, 1970, copies of which wcre ci.rculated to all dh'ectors along with his resig­
nation letter, Odell expressed his views on the origin of the Dechert opinion: 

1 thoroughly disagree with the opinion of Dechert, Price & Rhoads, which is obviously "tsilor-made," 
and the attitude of thc Pennsylvania Co.'s board of directors and mauagement in respect to the Great 
Southwest Corp., as expressed in yoW" letter of Jan. 22. 

AllY time a company or an individual has an investment of over 80 percent in a company or a venture, 
they lire entitled to know and should kuow in detail the poliCies that Bre being pursued and should have 
an intimate knowledge of the company's operations and investments. This does not imply that the 
directors should act as the management but that they should always be in a pOSition to guide the man­
agement if they so desh'e, 

Great Southwest Corp. aud Arvida Corp. are highly speculative and are exposed to possible large 
losses. 

As s stockholder, I will be pleasantly sW"prised by' these operations not becoming a disaster and 
further that the Penn Central and its subsidiaries under present management does not end UP ill 
receivership . 

... One'director·described this pCliod as "The Valley of Frel11.icd Finance." 
.... Because of his growing concern about what he was leaming, he called a meeting of the finaucc committee 

which eventually met on May 5, 1970. Among other things he told the committee was that an analysis of 
earnings of the past 2 years showed that earnings suspiciously ballooned at the ending month of each Quarter. 
According to testimony given by the directors this was the fil'St time they had heard of the practice of in­
flating earnings or of possible improper accounting activities. Most of the directors who Were not at this 
meeting testified that they were never aware ofBny Questioning of the company's accounting practices. 
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ment about individual concerns or suggested solutions. N <> organized 
activity occurred. :Management continued to hide the worst develop­
ments from the shareholders, although there was a decrease in the 
jmblic expressions of optimism. Bevan continued to deal with bankers, 
the commercial paper dealer, the underwriters, and foreign lenders 
while concealing Penn Central's desperate condition. The directors 
were unaware of, and made no inquiries about, Bevan's dealings. They 
made no effort to inquire about what he was telling lenders but simply 
gave blanket approval to his activities. The directors did not know 
of the concern being expressed by the commercial paper dealer about 
First National City Bank's attempt to get more security on the 
revolving credit agreement or about the disclosure problems being 
uncovered by the counsel for the underwriters. 

The directors were aware of some of the earlier discussions \vith the 
ICC and the Department of Transportation on passenger losses and 
equipment financing. Gengras, in fact, assisted Penn Centra,} manage­
ment in brir..ging Penn Central's request for assistance to the attention 
of Secretary Volpe. The first meeting was on :March 12, 1970, in Secre­
tary Volpe's office. Penn Oentral asked the DOT for help on (1) 
llassenger service, (2) track abandonment, (3) State taxes, (4) permis­
sion to diversify into other modes of transportation, and (5) freight 
rate increases. At u. second meeting on April 30, 1970, Penn Oentral 
supplied some 1970 forecasts. The company pointed out that even 
t.hough it had been skimpin~ on equipment and road capital, it had 
reached its borrowing capaCIty. Saunders suggested le<sislation which 
would provide loan assistance on equipment. The DOT, however, 
suggested that this might jeopardize pending passenger assistance 
legislation. rhe DOT asked for information about the company's cash 
losses. 

The discussion still had not gotten to the question of an immediate 
crisis even though Penn Oentral knew at the time of the April 30 
meeting that there was a runoff of commercial paper and that the 
prospects for selling the $100 million Penneo debenture were practi­
cally nonexistent. O'Herron was more of a realist than his snperiors and 
he persuaded them to send a memorandum to Volpe explaining the 
true crisis. Consistent with their form, Bevan and Saunders substan­
tially diluted the memorandum but O'Herron got permission to carry 
it to Secretary Volpe in Washington. O'Herron made the trip on 
Friday, May 8 and located Volpe at his home. O'Henon warned 
Secretary Volpe that the condition of Penn Central was more critical 
than'Saunders was admitting and that the debentUIe offering would 
probubly never be sold. SeC! etary Volpe called Secretary of the Treas­
ury Kennedy and arranged for a weekend meeting between Kennedy 
and Saunders at Hot Springs, Va., where a business conferenGe was 
Laking place. On May 19 Saunders, Bevan, O'Herron and Randolph 
GuthTie met Secretary Kennedy for discussions about an emergency 
Joan. On May 21, 1970, Bevan officially informed the managing under­
writers that the debenture offering had been abandoned. He conveyed 
the same information to First National Oity Bank and Ohemical 
Bank on that day. On May 25 the Penn Oentral officials met with 
Seeretury Kennedy. 

The regularly scheduled board meeting was held on May 27. None 
of the directors knew about the May meetings \ .... ith Government 

-.-2@cials, and, consistent wit.h t.hpiT' fAT'm Ro".n~ n~.J C'~ •• __ 1 __ .•... ,. 
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approval of the board to pledge all the company's assets after telling 
the directors only that the debenture issue had been canceled. Several 
directors were not willing to go quite this far without some explanation. 
Saunders and Bevan finally relented and stated that they had been in 
contact with Government officials about a guaranteed loan and that 
Penn Central was facing a terminal crisis. The board then gave its 
approval. Extensive negotiations with bankers and the Government 
followed. Finally, on June 8, 1970, under pressure from the banks and 
the Government, the directors removed Saunders and Bevan. 

Throughout the entire Penn Central debacle, including the loss of 
many hundreds of millions of dollars by shareholders, the board had 
done nothing. It gave the management, principally Bevan and Saun­
ders, almost unlimited freedom to do as they wished. The board re­
peatedly failed to act despite direct and clear warnings. It is not 
necessary to say whether the bankruptcy of the Penn Central was 
caused by mismanagement and malfeasance. We can say, however, 
that during the decline of Penn Central its management acted im­
properly and engaged in conduct designed to deceive shareholders, 
and that the directors apparently made no effort to. uncover or control 
this misconduct. 



I-G. DISCLOSURE 

GENERAL 

The fact that Penn Central was experiencing difficulties did n~t 
come as a surprise to shareholders but the severity of the difficulties 
did. There had been problems in the railron,d industry for years and it 
was recognized by most knowledgeable persons that the problems 
were more severe among eastern roa.ds than among some other classes. 
Financial results and operational trends were there to be seen, despite 
management attempts to cover them up. However, these trends had 
been present for many years and there was no particular signal that 
Penn Central was now reaching the end of the road. Certainly, nothing 
the company and its officials said in their public statements would 
indicate it. Indeed, steps were being taken which were clearly designed 
to conceal from the public just how desperate the situation was . 

. The adequacy of disclosure depends principally on the fairness of 
the overall picture being presented to shareholders. Shortly after 
bankruptcy, one of the trustees noted in testimony before a Senate 
committee, "I don't mean to be pious but if you think of it iIi terms 
of technical accuracy of what is said, that is one thing. If you think 
in terms of what was reasonably conveyed, that is another. On the 
basis of the second, I think there is a real question about the accuracy 
of the picture that was conveyed." 350 It is clearly the latter standard 
which is the one applicable under the antifraud provisions of the 
Federal securities laws. In this connection, the size and complexity 
of the Penn Central organization, which was compounded by the 
widely varying nature of the different segments of its business, should 
be considered. The fact that relevant information is buried somewhere 
in the data and statements made to the public is not sufficient. It must 
be presented in a manner designed to reasonably inform the average 
shareholder of the significant events, figures and trends. See, for 
example, Robinson v. Penn Central Co., (CCH Fed. Sec. L. Rep. 
~ 93,334 ED Po.. 1971) where the court makes it clear that this is the 
standard to be applied, further noting that significant facts and pos­
sible consequences must be highlighted and "conclusory statements 
and bare facts without a disclosure of the key issues" needed for in­
telligent decision are not sufficient. Furthermore, the concern is not 
with what the sophisticated analyst could ultimately oiscern from re­
ported information but what is understood by the reasonable 
shareholder. 

RAILROAD OPERATIONS: THE MERGE;R 

The merger of the Pennsylvania and New York Central railroads 
. was repeatedly held out, both before and after the merger, as a strongly 

positive factor for the future, despite internal misgivings. The POSI­
tion was publicly held by Penn Central until the end, III mid-1970. 

IJO Hearings on S. 4011, S. 4014, and S: 4016 before the Committee on Commerce, 91st Cong., second sess., 
part3, at 681 (1970). 
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Certainly the industry had basic problems, but public attention was 
distracted from these by the expectations the merger had bred. 

Statements made by management in the early months of 1968 were 
highly optimistic, although the company indicated that railroad earn­
ings were down sharply in 1967 due to industrywide problems.351 The 
letter to shareholders included in the 1967 annual report began: 
"Consummation of the Penn Central merger on February 1, 1968, 
began an exciting chapter in the annals of American business." After 
other remarks, the letter continued: 

A~ a transportation SYf;tem, we are modernizing our properties and making 
technological advances which will improve our service and efficiency. 

Although we are just getting started, the transition and progress of our merger 
has been ;;moother and more rapid than we had anticipated. Sound and compre­
hew;ive planning while we awaited consummation enabled us to evolve a close 
working l'elationlhip between the two companies. 

A remarkable spirit of cooperation and enthusin.sm is manifest throughout our 
new organization. We are confident that we have a talented, experienced, and 
well-qualified management team for the years ahead, and we consider this a very 
important asset. 

One of the great strengths of Penn Central lies in the fa:::t that we are uncom­
mitted to tmditional approaches. We are adopting the best practices and pro­
cedures of each of the former companies. 

We start with a foundation of solid achievement on which to build. Since 1961, 
Penn Central has had the largest capital expenditure program in the railroad 
industry for acquiring new freight cars and locomotives and upgrading facili­
tieR. 

Penn Central is in the forefront of the rail industry in adapting computer 
technology to virtually every phase of the railroad bm;iness. We will stress innova­
tion in transportation techniques, marketing concepts, and scientific research. 

It is clear ",-ith hindsight that the optimistic picture being painted 
in the paragraphs quoted above was not justified. Management could 
not be, and obviously was not, unaware of the very severe personnel 
problems extending through the top levels of management and the 
compromises this had occasioned. While perhaps hopeful of an even­
tual resolution of these problems, it was improper to make assertions 
as to a "remarkable spirit of cooperation and enthusiasm." The 
departure of key personnel in the "talented, experienced, and well­
qualified management team" had already been announced, while 
claims of selecting the best practices and procedures, uncommitted 
to traditional approaches should be considered in the context of the 
prior discussion on premerger planning. Likewise the extent of "sound 
and comprehensive planning" should also be assessed in light of that 
discussion. 

Virtually every sentence of the paragraphs quoted Was misleading. 
·The statements as to modernization, technological progress and the 
capital expenditure program since 1961, suggest an up-to-date modern 
plant which dearly did not exist, a fact which management had been 
swift to point out in the ICC merger hearings, where the witnesses 
bemoaned the sorry state of the road's capital plant and equipment. 
Their state at merger date has been chara.cterized as only "fair" or 
"poor" by witnesses in a position to know.352 In light of the problems 
which developed subsequently ,vith computer operations, and the lack 
of pre merger consensus in that area, the reference to computer tech-

'" Penn Central never completely eliminated mention of industry problems. Such factors Were already 
known to the public anyway and furthermore, did not reflect on the ability of management. In addition they 
were necessary to explain to shareholders the reasons for any earnings decline which did show up ou the 
financial statemen ts. 

'" Several former Central employees testified that upon visiting former P RR properties right after merger 
they were appalled-that they knewit was bad but had notexpeeted it to be this bad. 
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nology appears absurd. It is only in the statement that "the transition 
and progress of our merger has been smoother and more rapid than 
we had anticipated," that is is conceivable that management ma}T 
have been merely myopic. It was very early and the ensuing problems, 
although predictable, had apparently not fully developed by that 
point. However, management might have noted for the benefit of 
shareholders that no significant attempt had yet been made to inte­
grate the operations of the tvvo roads and that the "sound and compre­
hensive planning" for this event had been scuttled in favor of an ac­
celerated, ftd hoc approach. 

The letter to shareholders was dated March 15, 1968. BasicalI}T 
the same position was taken by management at the annual share­
holders meeting held in May and similar claims were set forth in 
various speeches made by management during this period.363 Claims 
were made on several occasions that the improved earnings in the first 
quarter of 1968 ,,,ere an indication of the company's progress in 
realizing the projected merger efficiencies and economies,354 although 
the staff found no evidence on which to predicate such a position. In­
deed, as noted earlier, internal confusion within Penn Central at this 
point in time was such that it seems apparent that no one was in a 
position to assess much of anything.35s 

These generally optimistic statements on the part of management, 
as reflected in public speeches and press releases, continued throughout 
the summer. 356 For example, in a speech given to the New York 
Security Analysts' group in September 1968, Saunders made very 
optimist.ic statements as to merger benefits. They would be a great 
deal larger than projected and ""ould be realized sooner than antici­
pated, he indicated. Implementation of the merger was ahead of 
schedule, with excellent progress in completing connections and 
consolidation of facilities, it was claimed, and the company was 
attaining faster schedules, more efficient yarding and operational 
savings through use of optimum routes. Without attempting to di­
rectly refute these claims, it is clear that at best they presented only 
part of the story. Regardless of what the future might eventually 
bring (and this was highly problematical), Penn Centr,al was at this 
moment faced with severe operating problems, the v'ery real results 
of its attempts at merger acceleration. The high hopes were mentioned, 
the immediate problems were not. 

Saunders' speech also reiterated the party line that· the thorough 
premerger planning would :y-i.eld handsome returns, that there was a 
fine esprit de corps with no major personnel problems, and the presen­
tation included strong praise of the equipment fleets of the two roads. 

'" On some of these occasions overall industry problems were mentioned and on other occasions they were 
not. but the overall picture presented Was decidedly one of optimism. 

". According to reports filed with the ICC the net railway operatiug defiCit for the combined rO:1d showod 
small increase betwcen the first quarter oi 1967 and 1965. The improvement came in other areas. 

,50 Actually, since merger implementation was nat really started until the third quarter, this appears to 
be one of many instances Where managemen t was jumping the gun, aud reporting things as it wished them to 
be rath er than as they actually were. 

, .. In a speech to the Investment Analysts SOCiety and the Transportation SecUlities Club in Chicago on 
April 16, 1968, Bevau painted a somewhat less optimistic picture of Penn Central's outlook, rellecting the low 
rates of return on railroad assets and the fact that merger benefits wonld not come immediately. The low 
working capital and cash position was also alluded to. 

In a memorandum to Bevan dated APlil19, 1968 Saunders indicated that in speeches and intervicwswith 
seCurity analysts all officers shonld "adhere to a common theme" in discussing the merger and its prospects, 
as well as earnings and any related matters. Henceforth, Saunders stated, all officers must obtain his approval 
of the text of major speeches on this subject. 

On May 29, 1968 Bevan made a presentation before the Pittsburgh Society of Financial Analysts. It was 
much more optimistiC than his previous speech. He testified that that speech Was schednled before he re­
ceived the mem01'llndum from Saunders and therefore he went through with it, but that he made no more 
speeches thereafter except at the annual meetings, becanse he wonld not comply with Saunders' directi ve. 
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This was while Perlman was fighting for additional capital expendi­
tures to improve what he was indicating was the highly unsatisfactory 
condition of the facilities, track and equipment. Saunders, in his 
speech also commented on the tremendous savings available in per 
diem costs, although at the end of that year he attributed $15 million 
in extra per diem costs to the merger service problems which had al­
already developed and the record in this area remained poor through 
1969. In the passenger area, it was stated that losses on these opera­
tions were a deplorable drain on earnings but presented a "great 
opportunity in improving earnings and this could be a real asset ovel 
a long period of time." Since the passenger loss area was the one 
which the company most persistently pointed to as a source of prob­
lems, this may well have been one of the occasions where Penn 
Central officers were commenting among themselves on Saunders' 
rose-colored glasses. 

In a yearend statement, released to the public, management 
presented. the railroad situation as follows: . 

It will take several more years to integrate our railroad system completely and 
benefits in terms of savings, service and growth will accumulate as this work 
progresses. We expect in 1969 to reap greater benefits of merger than we did in 
1968. 

During the 11 months of 1968 in which we have been a newly merged company, 
Penn Central hets made great progress in the formidable task of physically com­
bining properties and molding two formerly separate managements into a single 
cohesive organization. 

In physically integrating our railroad system, we are ahead of schedule with 
our program of consolidating yards and terminals, interchange and connecting 
points, and shops and maintenance facilities. . . . 

These and other projects encourage us to anticipate a gain in income from rail 
operations in 1969. We are aiming for an increase in freight revenues reflecting 
strong trends in the national economy .... 

We will continue to make capital improvements during 1969 in order to provide 
better servica and more efficient operations. 

The tone was changing subtly, the enthusiasm moderating somewhat. 
However, no mention was made of the service problems which, accord­
ing to later management claims, peaked at about this time, costing 
the company $65 million in lost revenue, overtime and extra per diem 
costs in 1968. 

Actually, by the time of the year-end statement it was well recog­
nized that there were severe operating problems on the Penn Central, 
this being perhaps the dominant subject of conversation in the railroad 
industry. Considerable management attention was directed, somewhat 
unsuccessfully, to .diverting the press from writing about these diffi­
culties. In mid-January, 1969, Perlman acknowledged the problems 
in a speech to the Atlantic States Shippers Advisory Board, admitting, 
in something of an understatement, "Quite candidly, our service is not 
as efficient as we desired it to be at this p'oint of merged operations." 
He then went on to discuss in some detml various steps Penn Central 
was taking to improve the situation. In a speech to the New York 
Traffic Club on February 20, and included in a company press release, 
Saunders stated "We are eliminating much of the confusion and mis­
routing which occurred in recent months. Our operating department 
now has a much firmer grip on these problems and I believe that our 
service difficulties have bottomed out. Yes, I am satisfied, we have 
turned the corner and this has become more evident to us in terms of 
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the marked upturn in our business in recent weeks." 357 He also 
indicated that "the earning potential of our railroad system has turned 
the corner and is heading for a much better showing." While manage­
ment purportedly took months to recognize the service problem, or 
rather to admit it recognized it, it recognized the purported improve­
ment almost immediately! Management was unable to show the staff 
any reasonable justification for these "turning the corner" claims, in 
light of the uncertainty of the conditions at the time and the very 
short time period on which the claimed improvement was based.35s 

As noted in the section on operations, certainly the accuracy of its 
prior predictions had given management no basis for confidence in its 
ability to predict accurately in this area and subsequent experience 
also bore this out. It is clear that, at best, management did not have 
n. sufficiently accurate picture of what was going on in the company 
to be making any positive predictions for public consumption. Its 
statements have to be classilied as merely wishful thinking, not an 
adequate basis for the statements made. 

In a release in January 1969, announcing prelimina.ry 1968 results, 
management failed to mention directly the existence of the merger 
related service problems. However, the problems were specifically 
alluded to in the shareholder letter contained in the 1968 annual 
report. "We have encountered a number of operating problems in 
combining road operations and consolidating facilities. Some of 
these problems are still unresolved but we have turned the corner 
and the "mrst is behind us." However, statements concerning the 
favorable progress in 1968 in implementing the merger which came 
immediately before the quoted statement, and optimistic statements 
at the close of the letter as to future prospects for improved service 
and savings were obviously designed to downgrade the impact of 
such disclosures.3u9 

The same generally optimistic theme was played again throughout 
the ensuing months. Heavy merger start-up costs were continuing but, 
it was claimed, the company was now realizing significant benefits 
and giving better service than before the merger. The company was 
regaining business lost because of service problems and this would 
COD tinue. Even if this were technically true, and that is open to 
serious question, it gave an impression of overall strength and potential 
in railroad operations not justified by the record. Any improvement 
was minimal when contrasted with the overwhelming problems 
faced. No mention was being made of the arbitrary budget cuts being 
imposed on the operating departments, which it could be foreseen 
would adversely affect service even further. 

At a staff luncheon on December 1, 1969, Saunders spoke of the 
need to re-vitalize the company. He stated: 

We are at a critical point in the history of our company. We face an urgcnt 
need to produce merger benefits of increasing quantity and quality. We must 
make money on this railroad, and in the process improve our service, lower our 
costs, and enlarge our volume of profitable traffic. 

It is entirely possible that thc next 6 months will be the most critical in the 
history of our railroad. Frankly, our customers are apprehensive about whether 

"-', Cole in his testimony characterized Saunders as "the most optimistic man I've ever 
known." 

"'" One security analyst, in a report dated January 2, 1969, indicated that management 
had told him in October that while they recognized that service had been atrocious, by virtue 
of educational efforts and 'heavy capital expenditures for improvements, service had already 
at that early point begun to improve . 
. '10 At the shareholders meeting in May 1969. the operating oroblems were mentioned almn,t 8.' "" M;i!A 
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or not Penn Central can meet the te!'lt of adequate service during the winter 
months. If we do not, it is ccrtain that we will have wholesale diversion of business 
which we could probably never regain. 3Bo 

As you know, we arc being given a !'lecond chance by a number of :;hippers who 
were extremely dissatisfied with our service last winter. If we fl~il them again we 
cannot expect to get another chance. . 

No indic[1tion of this and of the recurrence of service problems on the 
railroad was mentioned in public releases at that time. 

Subsequent to the filing for reorganization, when asked why Penn 
Central had not pointed out its problems sooner, Saunders pointed to 
testimony he gave in connection with passenger aid legislation (which 
eventually led to Amtrak) being discussed before CongTess in Novem­
ber 1969. He stated then that "our problem cannot wait another year 
or even another few months. The house is on fU'e and we cannot sit 
around and talk about the best way to put it out while it burns com­
pletely down." 361 This comment, taken in isolation, might indeed 
appear to be an indication of impending collapse. However, taken in 
the context of other circumstances, it is merely illustrative of one side 
of a dichotomy facing management. Management fully understood 
the immediate desperation of the circumstances. It could not survive 
without outside help. They sought it on one hand by telling the 
Government how critical the situation was. But they also needed help 
from the financial community and could not afford to alarm this 
element.362 

Penn Central was forced to walk a tightrope. Congress was told 
the situation was bleak, but management stressed the problem as 
industrywide without focllsing on Penn CentraJ.3G3 Furthermore, it 
was recognized that the presentation was being made from an advo­
cate's point of view, further minimizing the impact. And this was 
nothing new. S::tunders in his testimony quoted from ::tn ICC study 
made 10 years earlier in which it was concluded that the financial loss 
on passenger business was large and growing, and that it endangered 
the welfare of the industry. And at the 1969 sho,reholders meeting, in 
response to a question from the floor as to whether Penn Central 
could continue to absorb the passenger loss, or indeed the overall 
railroad problem, Saunders brushed this off by sayi.ng that the same 
situation existed in each of the last 10 years except 1966. "This is 
nothing-people act as thou9,h this had never happened before." 

Three weeks before his vongressional testimony, Saunders had 
told a group of security analysts: 

I believe too many people have a negative attitude toward the railroads. 
They are ready to write us off. They claim that we are much more interested in 
diversifying ourselves out of the railroad industry than in making it a success. 
Such notions are, in my opinion, untrue and give a dis tor Lcd picture of our poten­
tialities. 

No one can doubt that our industry, and this includes Penn Central, is faced 
with innumerable problems. I am not prp.pared to helieve, however, that they are 
insoluble. On the contrary I think that they are soluble, hut not today or tomorrow. 
It will t.ake time, perhaps several year3, but it could take place much sooner with 
cooperation from the Government authorities and the railway labor leaders. And 
there are already signs of real improvement in both area.<;. This, in fact, is one of the 
most encouraging developments in our industry. 

". Perlman had taken a similar pOsition many months earlier on tbe necessity to get service problems 
resolved promptly. 

", House Committee on Interstate & Foreign Commerce, November 12. 1969. (S. 1151 . 
. 30' Saunders' reaction to this situation, in respouse to a suggestion from Day that disclosure be more open, 

bas been described previously. See page 165 . 
... Actually, while Penn Central had significant losses on passenger business, this was not tho area 01 

""OGoto,,,t .-'tGtorinl-Cot.inn in t.h,:. nn<:t.mPTP'P.T nprin(1. 



179 

In an article on Saunders appearing in"Nation's Business in January 
1970, William Lashley, Penn Central's vice president of public rela­
tions, pointed out that American railroads, largely because of mergers, 
were in far better financial condition than in many years. Five months 
later, after extended efforts to stave off bankruptcy, Penn Central 
filed for reorganization. And despite the months and years of optimistic 
statements emanating from Saunders' office, he now began to char­
acterize the prebankruptcy situation as basically unmanageable. 

EARNINGS 

The steps being pursued to minimize apparent earnings problems 
and the necessity of full disclosure of the course of conduct adopted 
have been described previously in the section on income management. 
Yet disclosure both as to the overall picture and as to the material 
individual items incorporated in the course of conduct was negligible. 
As with the operational situation just discussed, the picture was 
one of deliberate overoptimism. The pattern was reflected not only­
in an overstatement of earnings, but in deficiencies in other disclosures 
as well. These deficiencies encompassed the manner of presentation, 
as well as the content and emphasis, of information which was pro­
vided, and the omission of significant information required to ade­
quately inform the investing public. Indeed, the situation was such, 
according to testimony from the former Penn Central c<)mptroller, 
that there were some quarterly earnings releases to which he would 
not have put his name. 

RAILROAD EARNINGS 

Since the focus of Penn Central's earnings problems lay in the raii­
road area, it was essential that results in this area be made clear to' 
shareholders, investors, and the public. Instead, the manner in which 
operating results were presented served to conceal the problem. Rail­
road operations were clearly deemphasized, and never presented in a 
form in which their full impact was shown. Consolidated results were 
emphasized and for a period, over the objection of the press, analysts, 
etc., were the only figures presented. Even Transportation Co. results, 
on an unconsolidated basis, contained very substantial amounts cf 
nonrailroad income and expenses, which greatly improved the com­
pany's apparent results. This factor was further confused by the 
company's practice of referring to Transportation Co. results by such 
descriptions as "railroad system" or "parent railroad company" in 
quarterly earnings releases and similar situations. 

The figures showing the full loss in the Transportation Co.'s rail 
operations were available for internal management purposes. Rail 
industry sec.urity analysts also make a practice of computing such 
figures, further emphasizing their significance in assessing company 
results. Saunders' testimony indicates that he fully recognized the 
dominant importance that professional analysts attached to the rail­
road-oilly aspects of the total earnings picture. Furthermore, the 
underwriters in preparing the offering circular for the $100 million 
Pennco debenture offering insisted OIl recasting the reported figures 
to focus on the unsatisfactory status of the rail activities. This form of 
presentation was particularly critical, they felt. in lie:ht of the ranifllv 
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deteriorating trend in this area.364 The suggestion by Day to Saunders 
in December 1969 that "we have been tending to cover up poor results 
from railroad operation rather than exposing them * * * presenting 
the raih'oad operation by itself would require a number of adjustments 
but I really feel this should be done," reflected his concern that the 
Government, rather than the shareholders, be made aware of the 
existing situation.3G5 Nonetheless, it illustrates ODce more the critical 
nature of this information. 

The reported income figures over the postmerger period have been 
included in exhibit IG-1, which indicates consolidated figures, Trans­
portation Company figures, net railway operating income figures, and 
the full loss on railway operations. The emphasis in press releases was 
on the consolidated figures. In no instance was the loss on railway oper­
ations clearly labeled, although in some cases the net railway operating 
income, which did not include such factors as fixed charges, was given. 
The "loss on railway operations" figures were not given to the public 
until 1970, when they were included in the Pennco offering circular. 
However, they have been included herein for comparative purposes. 
I t is suggested that the reader review the annual reports of 1967, 1968, 
and 1969 in light of the results from railroad operations given in the 
chart.366 

While not indicating the full extent of the drain from railroad 
activities, management did attribute the somewhat lower reported 
earnings in 1968 o,nd 1969 to poor rail results. However, they took 
pains to suggest that future results would be better. "We regard our 
railroad as the asset which has the greatest potential," Saunders 
stated in late 1969. Predictions as to earnings, even those for the next 
quarter, were consistently overoptimistic. The merger savings poten­
tial was constantly alluded to. Even 'where problems were admitted, 
they were couched in optimism. The situation was particularly mis­
leading during the later periods where, while citing the potential for 
longer term improvements, the company's immediate solvency was 
at stake. Future improvements were hardly relevant if the company 
could not survive that long. 

NONRAILROAD EARNINGS 

Concealment of the full impact of railroad losses was aided by the' 
policies pursued in the nonro,ilroad area. As noted, the milroad losses 
and total reported earnings, whether on a company-only or a consoli- . 
dated basis, were two very different figures. Helped along by the, 
various investment and real estste transactions described previously, 
Penn Central thus managed to show profits, or at least reduced losses, 
despite the rapid deterioration iIi the railroad. If these represented' 
regular cash earnings which could be maintained over subsequent 
years to offset the inevitable rail losses, it was one thing. But, to 
paraphrase a remark attributed to Saunders as early as 1967, the 
attitude seemed to be that if no other avenue was available, the 

... Under current SEC rules, adopted in 1970~ there is a requirement that total sales and revenues together 
with income or loss hefore taxes and extraordinary items he reported for each line of husiness which pl"Ovidcs 
10 percent or more of either the revenues or the income reported. This rule was proposed and published for 
comment in September. 1969 . 

.. , See further discussion on page 165. 
U' See exhibit 10-1 at end of this section. It should be noted that the calculation of railroad-only earnings, 

at least on a rough basis, was not difficult since it involved merely a reammgement of figures already pro­
vided in tbe company-ouly statement. However, the reader bad first to recognize the relevancy of tbe fig· 
nrQC! anif What. tn hRc;:.~ th~ (1:A.lr.nhlt.inn~ nn. 
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company should mortgage its future, and take the income now.367 This 
is clearly what was happening in many instances in Penn Central in 
1968 and 1969, as earnings were manufactured under the needs and 
circumstances of the moment. To make the situation still more serious, 
despite Penn Central's voracious appetite for cash, many of these 
transactions generated paper, not cash, earnings. 

Such factors, if brought to the shareholders' attention, would 
certainly raise concern. The question becomes whether this was in 
fact done, an issue which in volves not only what information was and 
was not provided, -but whether the information which was given was 
sufficient. The complexity of the Penn Central operation is relevant 
in this context. Illustrative of the problems entailed is a comment 
contained in a letter' from one of Penn Central's directors to Saunders 
in late 1969, complaining about the quality of the information being 
provided to that body: 368 

Even if you yourself have a clear picture of these objectives, it is most difficult 
for your directors to have one unless a careful job is done of painting a clear one 
for us. 

Oole, noting that the writer seemed to have put his finger on the 
problem, commented to Saunders: 

This is a valuable reminder. Being immersed in these matters, it is easy to forget 
that people outside of management may not understand where the various items 
covered in the reports fit into the overall picture. 

However, considering the overall pattern of conduct by the manage­
ment group, as illustrated throughout this report, it is clear that 
management did not "forget" the complexity involved, it "used" it. 
And obviously the shareholders were in a far poorer position to demand 
information than were the directors. 

Some information was provided; e.g. the financial statements 
themselves and limited descriptive data related thereto. However, it 
was left up to the investor to attempt to figure out from the melange 
of information given, just what these earnings consisted of. This was 
difficult to do. Even the limited information which was provided was 
scattered throughout the reports in such a way that it was a real 
challenge, even for the expert, to put it together. Under these cir­
Clln1'3tances, and with management continually extolling to share­
holders the benefits of diversification, it is easy to see that investors 
would be misled. Indeed, considering the comple}.."ities of the situation, 
eyen a complete list of all the questionable items entering into the 
earnings picture would not constitute full disclosure unless the 
presentation was structured in such a way as to make the pattern 
evident. And in the actual situation, not only was the overall pictme 
not drawn by management for the investor or shareholder, but he 
was not even given many of the pieces. The following discussion of 
the various releases and statements concerning earnings will focus 
principally on these individual pieces. 

DISCLOSURES RELATING TO 1968 EARNINGS 

The improvement in. earnings in the first quarter of 1968 which 
was attributed by Penn Central to merger benefits has already been 
mentioned. A 17-percent increase in consolidated income and a 15-

'" See p. 40. _ ___ Ml 0 __ ,. __ ... 1.. __ ..:I.' _. 



percent increase in earnings for the "railroad system" was reported. 
The first full quarter after the merger was the sec(>nd quarter of 

1968. Penn Central reported a 15-percent increase over the earlier 
period. This reflected, it was stated, the continuing benefits of the 
diversification program with a 57-percent increase in net income from 
sources other than railroad operations. "The true index of Penn Cen­
tral's profitability is in the consolidated figure and not those of the 
railroad alone," and thus in the future, only consolidated earnings 
would be reported, the company indicated in its press release. For 
this period, however, earnings of the "railroad system" were still re­
ported. The figure given was profit of $2.1 million. It was not disclosed 
that the railroad had lost $20 million and the difference was derived 
from real estate and investment activities of the Transportation 
CO.369 The release closes with the statement that Penn Central antici­
pated that earnings for the rest of 1968 would surpass 1967 results, a 
reference apparently to rail results, although this is somewhat unclear. 

When third quarter results were mIDounced, they did show an in­
crease over the 1967 period, an increase of 48.6 percent. Reported 
earnings were $15.2 million, compared with $10.2 million reported for 
the prior year. Once again it was noted that this reflected the contin­
uing advantages of the diversification program. Actually, however, it 
reflected the one-shot advantage of the Washington Terminal dividend. 
While the release did disclose that the earnings figure included a "non­
recurring dividend of $13.5 million from a company in which Penn 
Central has a half-interest," shareholders were assured that there 
were substantial nonrecurring items of net income in practically every 
quarter. An 'alert shareholder would have perhaps discerned that 
Penn Central had very little profit except for that dividend, although 
there was nothing from which he could deduce its noncash nature. 
And as indicated earlier, there is a real question as to whether this 
was properly booked as income. 

True to its word, Penn Central did not report railroad earnings for 
the third quarter, although a reference to the fact that results of the 
railroad system had been adversely affected by several factors would 
give some indication of pcssible problems. In fact, net railway oper­
ating income was down sharply and the loss on rail operations, includ­
ing fixed charges, was over $40 million. Saunders, while not giving 
these figures, did indicate that he felt the third quarter marked the 
low point in railroad business for the year. 

The company's decision not to release company-only results had 
repercussions. A memorandum from the public relations department 
to Saunders on November 4, 1968, noted tbe following: 

Attached is the only newspaper account we have seen to dat.e on our figures 
reported to the ICC. I understand that many brokerage firms, however, get Xerox 
copies of our R¢E and IBS statements from a service in Washington which gathers 
this information as soon as it is filed with the ICC. 

In view of this, I suggest that we reappraise our decision not to report railroad 
system earnings when we report our consolidated earnings quarterly. Not reporting 
them has irritated both newsmen and security analysts. Their reaction is to probe 
deeper into railroad figures than they would ordinarily if we give them highlights of 
the railroad picture along with our consolidated earnings. 

If you decided to reinstate giving railroad earnings, it could be announced at our 
November 21 meeting. I am sure that this announcement would be greeted with 
great enthusiasm. 

'" The term "Transportation Co." is being applied to the Company·only operations of Penn Central 
t.hrnnp"hont. t.hp. nnc;;tmp.TI!p.T np.rlnrl althnmrh thp. namp. wn.~ not R.nnnt.p.n nnt.i11n.t.p. in t.hp. np..';nrL 
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And the policy was thereafter reversed. It had been a failure. 
Rather thandeemphasizing railroad losses, as management desired, it 
had merely served to emphasize them. 

On January 30, 1969, Penn Central reported consolidated earnings 
of $90 million for the full year 1968, a 27 -percent increase over 1967, 
and fourth quarter earnings of $38 million, up 32 percent. The release 
indicated that the gTo"wth came through the diversified holdings and 
from certain nonrailroad transactions, mentioning in particular Madi­
son Square GardCll and Washington Terminal. No indication, however, 
was given as to the size and type of these 'two transactions. The Bryant 
Ranch and Six Flags Over Georgia transactions of Great Southwest 
were not mentioned. 

Analyzing first the fourth quarter figures, if the effect of the $36.1 
million in paper profits recorded on the Madison Square Garden and 
Great Southwest transactions were eliminated, the profit would be 
virtually wiped out, anel, for reasons stated earlier, the staff believes 
that these were improperly booked as income. Likewise, elimination of 
the Madison Square Garden profit would have turned a $2 million loss of 
the Transportation Co. in that quarter into a $23 million loss. Further­
more, had it not been for a $5 million profit on the reacquisitiol1 of 
company bonds the Transportation Co. loss would have been larger. 
A $12% million profit of Pennco's disposition of N. & W. securities 
further improved results that quarter, although this item, unlike the 
others, was in part a cash transaction. Nonetheless, considering the 
nature, size and impact of these transactions, disclosure was called for, 
although none was made. 

From the foregoing discussion, it is clear that Penn Central on a 
consolidated basis earned virtually nothing in the second half of 1968 
and on an unconsolidated basis had a large loss. A profit had been re­
corded in the first"half of the year, and on a full year basis, after elim­
ination of improper items, some profit, although only a fraction of 
the original amount, still existed. However, in appraising these earn­
ings, the various items described previously in the discussion relating 
to Penn Central's course of conduct should be considered. This in­
cludes in particular the charging of the mail handlers to the merger 
reserve, the failure to write off Executive Jet or consolidate Lehigh 
Valley, and the $10 million in profits generated from repurchase of 
company bonds. 

The 1968 Penn Central report to shareholders, mailed in late March 
1969, contained basically 370 the same earnings figures as did the 
Janua.ry release, and with the same limitations. The letter to share­
holders included in that report stressed the positive, beginning \,,-jth an 
announcement of the 27-percent increase in consolidated earnings, 
which "underscores the importance of onr diversification program." 
Saunders and Perlman, who signed the letter, further stated: 

We hope this Annual Report will help our stockholders to understand more 
thoroughly the diversified nature of the new Penn Central. Our company has 
grown from traditional railroad operations, which utilize about half of our total 
assets, into a broadly bascd organization with increased earning power. 

They further went on to note that the four companies involved in 
the diversification program of the mid-1960's had doubled their con­
tribution to Penn Central's net incom~ from $22 million in 1967 to 

JiO There was a small diff.erence in the company-only figures. 
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$44 million in 1968,371 and that a holding company would be formed 
during 1969 to facilitate further diversification. An extensive section 
on the system's real estate activities, later in the report, gave an 

. impression of dynamism and sharp growth in this area. 
The report to shareholders, unlike the preliminary release, contained 

complete financial statements and related textual material as well. 
While disclosure will not cure improper accounting practices, there was 
no mention of many of. the major transactions which had impacted 
reported income. The sale of N. & W. shares by Pennco at a profit of 
$10.3 million was noted, although no mention was made of the profit 
on repurchase of company bonds. Sha,reholders were told of the N. & W. 
stock-for-debenture exchange and the 11adison Square Garden ex­
change but no indication was given that large profits had been re­
corded thereon, and obviously the bare acknowledgement of the exist­
ence of these transactions, without more, is of little assistance to the 
shareholder who is attempting to understand the situation. The Wash­
ington Terminal dividend was not even mentioned.372 While fantastic 
rates of earnings growth were cited for l\tIacco and Great Southwest, 
the increasing risk reflected in that growth was not alluded to. Neither 
were the substantial profits claimed to have been generated on the 
Bryant Ranch and Six Flags Over Georgia transactions described, 
although these two transactions accounted for much of the reported 
growth in 1968. Clearly, the ability of these two companies to sustain 
this rate of growth (140 percent in one year), or indeed this level of 
ea.rnings was open to serious question in light of the source of the earn­
ings and the nature of the transactions. Even independent of the ques­
tion of the acceptability of such practices under generally accepted 
accounting principles, in all fairness the shareholders should have been 
apprised of the quality of the earnings and the risks involved. Instead, 
management merely extolled to them the benefits of diversification. 

There were other deficiencies in disclosure. Information as to the 
losses being incurred by Lehigh Valley was included in a footnote to 
the financial statement 373 but there was not reference anywhere in 
the report to the EJA problems, although by this time the application 
to acquire Johnson Flying Service had been withdrawn. The charges 

371 Penn Central on Feb. 13, 1969 had issued a special press release outlining the results· of these four com­
. panies, further indicating the emphasis the company was putting on this aspect of its operations. 

372 As noted earlier, B. & o. and Penn Central each owned 50 percent of WTC and received similar divi­
dends. Compare the extent of disclosures in the two companies. 

B. & O.-The following language was included as a note to the financial statements in B. & O.'s 1968 
annual report to shareholders: 

During 1968 the company received II dividend In property from a 50-percent owned affiliate, the 
Wasbington Terntinal Co. The dividend has been recorded at $3.1 million Which is considered to be 
fair value after allowance for contingencies which exist as to the proposed development and lease of 
the property as a viSitor center under an agreement with the U.S. Government for a pmiod of 25 years 
Witb an option to purchase. The approximate present value of the net cash fiow that would be realized 
upon the completion of the proposed development (after consideration of interest and income taxes at 
current rates but before any allowance for contingencies) is $5 million at December 31, 1968. 

Substantially the same language was included as a note to the 1968 financial statements of the Chesapeake 
& Ohio Railway Co., owner of approximately 93 percent of B. & o. at the end of 1968. 

Penn Gentral.-The following language was inclnded in Penn Central's 19G5 annual report to shareholders: 
An agreement was si/ffied with the U.S. Department of the Interior to convert Washington Union 

Station into a National Visitors Center within the next 3 years. This property was held by Washington 
Terminal Co., a 50-percent owned snbsidiary. A new modern railroad passenger station will be built 
beneath a 4,00O-car garage adjacent to tho Center. 

The above language does not indicate that any income Was recognized upon signing the agreement nor does 
it mention the WTC dividend-in-kind. It might be noted that Penn Central recorded the dividend at 
$11.7 million. 

373 Footnotes to the December 31, 1968 financial statements disclose: 
Principles of Gonsolidation.-The consolidated financial statements include the acconnts of the company 

and its majority-{)wned snhsidiaries, except the Wabash Railroad Co., the divestment of which is an·anged 
as ordered by the Interstate Commerce Commission, and the Lehigh VaUey Railroad Co., which the Com­
mission has required to be offered for inclusion in another railroad system. 

uhigh Valley.-Based on unaudited finanCial statements, the equity in the net assets or Lehigh Valley 
~t D~cel!lber 31, 19.611 was $73,232,000. Lehigh Valley reported a net loss for the yenr 1968 of $5,959,000 amIno 



against the merger reserve were referred to in another footnote to 
the financial statements, but the company was silent on other elements 
pertaining to the course of conduct being pursued to maximize income. 

Thus Jar the focus of discussion on 1968 results has been on certain 
nonrailroad items. However, Penn Central lost $140 million on railroad 
operations in 1968 after fixed charges. Of this, $54 million was in the 
final quarter and $100 million in the last half. These figures were not 
given. Instead, in its 1968 annual report Penn Central emphasized 
the loss of $2.8 million from the "parent railroad company," without 
noting the impact of nonrailroad items on this figure. 

While the full extent of the loss was not made clear, it was indicated 
in the 1968 annual report that railroad earnings were down. Various 
reasons were cited, most of them the industry wide problems which 
had been listed in the prior year's report as well. Only the merger­
related costs were new. The shareholder letter in the 1968 report 
stated that Penn Central had been burdened with $75 million ($3.25 
per share) in merger start-up costs and losses, many nonrecurring, and 
that without these "unusual expenses" railroad results for 1968 were 
better than for 1967.374 In the release announcing the preliminary earn­
ings figures, no merger start-up cost figure had been given but it was 
admitted there were "heavy nonrecurring expenses incurred in the 
initial phase of unifying the two separate railroads." These expenses 
would, however, it was indicated, help produce increased efficiencies 
and earnings as merger implementation progressed. 

These claims are misleading in several respects. First, as indicated 
earlier, the merger-related cost figure could not be quantified with 
sufficient accuracy to justify its public dissemination. Furthermore, 
the company's own schedule indicated that calculated expenses of 
$75 million were offset by purported savings of $22 million, so that 
the comparison of 1967 and 1968 results was inaccurate.370 In addition 
the suggestion that these merger related expenses would help produce 
increased efficiency and earnings is not .justified, considering the 
nature of the majority of the expenses which consisted of costs under 
the labor protection agreements 3." and lost business, overtime and 
per diem costs related to the service problems. Finally, there was no 
mention of the fact that a very large proportion of this $75 million 
figure was attributable not t? anything inherent in the "carefully 
plaDPed" merger, alluded to 111 the shareholder letter, but to costs 
associated with the unanticipated merger-related service disruption 
(i.e., management misjudgment). Indeed, the frequent references 
in company releases and speeches by Penn Central executives to the 
smooth progress of the merger and the fact that physical integration 
was well ahead of schedule leave the opposite impression. 

DISCLOSURES RELATING TO 1969 EARNINGS 

Following the events of the last half of 1968 which greatly overstated 
income, mana~ement was hard pressed to come up with an encore 
when rail earmngs remained depressed in 1969. It was only partially 
successful. 

III Saunders also cited this fllCtor when a shareholder, attcnding the 1909 annual meeting, expressed con· 
cern about the level of 1968 railroad earnings. 

m Saunders gave the $75 million figure at the annual shareholders meeting hut a .. that time he <lid indicate 
that there were otrsetting savings. 

ai, At the 1969 .hareholders meeting Saunders aUu~e<l to a $35.000,000 fignr2 for ,ovPl'Once pay, moving 
expenses, etc. This was mentioned in conjunction with the $75,000,000 figure. although the bulk 01 these 
Inhor rp.IR.f.p.n r.:rnp,nC::f':<I h~iI hp.l3on ,..hntOrrQ,r1 nf'i .......... i ......... fohn .......... __ ... ~~ • ..'I ..I:..lI _ ...... - -- - _ .. ' •• --P ... -- -... - .. 
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As noted earlier, even before the 1968 report to shareholders had 
been distributed, management was indicating .that the earning 
potential of the railroad had turned the corner and was heading for 
a much better showing. The press release announcing the mailing of 
the 1968 report to shareholders began, "A bright outlook for Penn 
Central and its rn;ilroad operations was forecast for 1969 in the 
company's annual report." The same generally optimistic theme was 
played again a few days later in the release announcing first quarter 
1969 earnings. Consolidated earnings were down from $13.4 million 
to $4.6 million, although the company hastened to add that the New 
Haven, which was included in 1969 figures but not 1958 figures, 
had lost $6.5 million in 1968.377 

At this point Penn Central began to include the railway operating 
income figures in its quarterly results, which represented improved dis­
closure but still did not reflect full losses after fixed charges. A first 
quarter loss of $10 million was reported, while the full loss was $42 
million. In report.ing this loss, management mentioned the same 
problems as it had indicated impacted 1968 earnings but left a clear 
impression of confidence in the future via merger savings, regained 
business, and so forth. The company, it was stated, had elected to 
absorb heavy nonrecurring initial costs to more quickly achieve the 
recurring benefits of merger. One analyst examined first quarter results 
shortly after they were announced, labeling them "in typical Penn 
Central style quite incomplete and lacking in necessary detail," but 
noting a further deteriora,tion in net railwa): operating income after 
fixed charges. His prediction of a $200 million loss for 1969 in this 
category was indeed close to the final figure of $193 million reported 
for the year. This was $50 million poorer than in 1968. . 

On top of the improvement in railroad earnings that management 
was proj ecting for the rest of 1969, the April release noted that the 
Arvida-Great Southwest-l\1acco-Buckeye group was still going strong, 
with a 92% increase in first quarter earnings over the like 1968 period. 
A new format was introduced for the consolidated statements, "de­
signed to portray more accurately the diversified nature of the Com­
pany." The revenues and costs were each broken dO'wn into three major 
categories-transportation, real estate and financial operations. This 
helped, since before that time the quarterly releases had not included 
the financial statements but only selected figures. Now all the investor 
had to do was to figure out what was going on within the various 
categories, but the data to do this was not provided. 

It may be noted that this quarter, the first in 1969, was a relatively 
"clean" quarter, as far as unusual transactions were concerned. On the 
other hand, without the benefit of profits of this nature, the company 
was able to record only a nominal profit on the consolidated state­
ments. The company-only income statement, which showed a loss of 
$12.8 million (compared to a $1 million profit in 1969), was helped 
along in this quarter by the first of the two $6 million "special divi~ 
dends" from N ew York Central Transport. 

377 Memoranda in the files of outsido. connsel ren~rt a suggestion by house counsel for Penn Central that 
shareholders be told in connection with the $6.5 million figul'C that: 

" ••• comparisons between operations of the New Haven by tho. trustees [and current year results] 
are impractical because the purchase resulted in a new basis of accounting." 
In the final version this was watNed down to: 

"The New Haven reported a loss of $6,000,000 as it wns then structured and operated in bal,kmptcy." 
The memoranda reflect that outside counsel "did not think that this was fully adequate" but I·hat Peat, 
lI~~lw.ir.~_I?e~.I?I~.relt that it was. The final memorandum ends with the words, "Everyone "'l!Ilized Ibere is 
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Consolidated earnings of $21.9 million for the second quarter of 
1969 were down only slightly from those of a year earlier. All of this 
profit was accounted for by the sale of Six Flags Over Texas which 
had been improperly reported as income. Thus, for the fourth straight 
quarter, if reporting on a proper basis, Penn Central would have had 
little or no consolidated income.378 . 

In its second quarter earnings release, Penn Central reported the' 
profit of $21.9 million. It was stated that the Arvida-Great Southwest-· 
Maceo-Buckeye group had contributed $29.1 million to earnings, an 
increase of $20.8 million over the like 1968 period and that the parent 
railroad company had lost $8.2 million, down from a 1968 profit of 
$2 million. Management disclosed that the $29.1 million from the 
diversified subsidiaries included the sale of Six Flags Over Texas, but 
no amount was given, either in the text or in the attached income state­
ment.m And again, Penn Central sought to downplay the small de­
cline in consolidated earnings by suggesting that the New Haven had 
lost $5 million in 1968 so the results were not strictly comparable. 

Management did not make a similar effort to point out other rele­
vant items that quarter. It was not disclosed that the $8.2 million 
Transportation Co. loss would have been larger were it not for another 
parent-financed $6 million special dividend from New York Central 
Transport. And, while the attached financial statements of the Trans­
portation Co. showed a net railway operating loss of $7.5 million, the 
full railroad loss of $44.2 million was never mentioned. Possible investor 
concern was fmther alleviated by the statement that heavy costs were 
still being undertaken to expedite unification, combined with the as­
smance that the merged system was now realizing benefits from 
merger projects and that service was better than it had been premerger. 
Internally, the financial situation was critical and the dividend in 
doubt, a factor which management was consciously concealing from 
the public.380 . 

By the third quarter, Penn Central could hold off consolidated 
losses no longer. The reported loss for the quarter was $8.9 million, 
although the company was quick to point out that there was a $17.6 
million profit for the 9-month period. rhe third quarter figure reBected 
a $24 million decline in profit from the year earlier penod. While it 
would be possible for the investor to calculate the figme himself from 
the data provided,381 the company certainly did not point out this 
feature. 

The emphasis in the third quarter earnings release WP.s on railroad 
operations, which had been poor. The usual list of factors, plus a $5 
million impact from "unusual occurrences," were cited as the reasons. 
However, "much better results" were predicted for the fourth quarter. 
The relevant figures given included a $19.2 million loss for the "parent 
railroad company" and a net railway operating loss of $14.8 million. 
The full loss on rail operations, after fixed charges, was almost $60 
million, but this was not stated. Neither did the company point out 
that the results for the parent railroad company were inflated by nearly 
$12 million in "special dividends" dmwn up from subsidiaries. 

", It might be noted that the Board continuerl. to declare dividend~ throughout this period. 
ro, The transaction was reported os ordinary Income in Penn Central's statement 'l.lthough it was trpated 

os an extmordinarv item in GSC statements . 
• " See discussio'; on page liS . 
• SI The Washington Terminal dividend had entered into the J96S results. 
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In the release, Penn Central devoted little attention ta nonrailroad 
subsidiaries, although Saunders' ""'ood news behind the bad news" 
speech to the Baltimore Security Analysts/ 52 which was summarized 
in an attachment to the release, did push the diversification program 
iI;l optimistic terms. And in the release itself, although giving no 
earnings figures for the subsidiaries, Saunders did note that fixed 
charges had risen in the Arvida-GSC (Macco)-Buckeye group, because 
of the financing of facilities, which would, however, in the future 
produce higher earnings. It was also stated that real estate revenues, 
which had increased sharply, included the saJe of Rancho California, 
and the reader could perhaps surmise thn.t the transaction was being 
mentioned because of its size. However, no sn.les or profit figures were 
given, 383 and the reference by itself was certainly not very informative. 
As suggested earlier, this was not the routine, everyday type of 
transaction and disclosure to that effect was called for. 

By this period, it should be recalled, Penn Central's interest in its 
diversifieclsubsidiaries had become concentrated on the immediate 
earnings they could be made to produce. And within Penn Central, 
management was engaged in an almost desperate search for income and 
cash. None of this comes through in the sterile statements being fur­
nished to the public concerning earnings. 

By the close of the fourth quarter it was clear that the battle to 
sustain 1969 earnings had been lost. The consolidated profits for the 
year had evaporated, with a $13.2 million loss in the fourth quarter. 
This represented a $50 million decline over the fourth quarter of 
1968, although this was not emphasized in the body of the earnings 
release where management had always been quick to point to favorable 
earnings progress. The various devices which had been used to increase 
earnings in In.te 1968 were now apparently catching up with manage­
ment in the form of unfavorable earnings comparisons. There were 
no substitutes available for the 1969 period. 

The fourth quarter earnings figures issued to the public on February 
4, 1970, showed a net railway operating loss of $9 million for the 
quarter. This compared with n. $35 million loss reported to the ICC. 
The shareholders were not told of this difference, which was based 
primarily nn the capitalization of the New Haven repair costs and 
the deprecin.tion savings on the long-haul passenger facility write off. 
Neither was it pointed out to them that $35 million in fi.xed charges 
should be added to the loss figures given, to get an accurate picture 
of the full railway losses that quarter. On the other hand they were 
told such things as the fact that quarterly results had been adversely 
affected by a $6 million extra charge in accruals for loss and damage 
claims and by abnumally high snow removal costs. The suggestion 
was that these were nonrecurring. . 

Penn Central did manage to show a nominal $4.4 million profit 
on a consolidated basis for the year 1969, down sharply from 1968 
but hardly a harbinger of the impending disaster. The "principal 
railroad subsidiary" reported a net loss of $56 million, compared 
with a much smaller loss in 1968: A loss of this size is obviously not 
a plus factor, but a $56 million loss certainly sounds better than a 
$193 million loss. The latter was the full loss on the Transportation 
Company's railroad activities. And even that was understated if t.he 

'" See page li8 . .. , ase had reported the sales figure earlier in the quarter, however. 
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ICC approach to the New Haven repair costs and the long haul 
writeoff was adopted. While these two items were noted in the foot­
notes to the 1969 fInancial statements, no effort was made to clarify for 
shareholders the complete loss on rail operations. This was true even 
though by the time the report to shareholders was issued, the company 
was on the verge of collapse because of still further deterioration in this 
factor in the fIrst quarter of 1970. 

It might also be noted that anyone of a number of factors could 
have turned Penn Central's meager 1969 consolidated profIts into a 
loss. Elimination of the Six Flags Over Texas transaction, for example, 
would have reslllted in a sharp loss. Reclassification of the gain 
reported on Penn Central's N. & W. investment as extraordinary 
income would have ha.d a similar impact. Consideration should also 
be given to what the effect would have been of the consolidation or 
write-down of Lehigh Valley, the write down of Executive Jet or 
Madison Square Garden, the expensing of the N ew Haven repair costs, 
or the effects of a rnultitude of other possibilities discussed in an earlier 
part of this report whereby management took the route of maximizing 
income. No hint that such a policy was being followed was given to 
shareholders who were expected to blindly accept what was being 
handed to them by management. 

Actually, while the fIgures given in the February 1970 release deal­
ing with 1969 earnings were poor, t.he text itself was remarkably 
optimistic, or at least very bland, considering the problems then 
extant. The 1969 annual report sent out a few weeks later was some­
what more realistic. By this point of course the dividend had been 
eliminated, so the chairman's opening statement in the shareholder's 
letter accompanying the 1969 annual report could have come as a 
surprise to no one, "The year 1969 was a very difficult one for Penn 
Central. Our problems were principally centered in the transportation 
company and some of them were beyond our control." It might be 
noted that by this point management knew the first quarter 1970 
results were a disaster. 

Obviously, no shareholder would be overjoyed by the 1969 decline 
in earnings, especially after elimination of the dividend. Some ex­
planation was clearly required. Saunders, in the letter to shareholders, 
went on to list and describe seven problems-inflation, delays in 
securing rate increases, economic slowdown, passenger deficits, merger 
startup costs, abnormal weather conditions, and strikes, although he 
admitted that even under optimum conditions, the company might 
not have been able to overcome the effect of these problems. He then 
outlined steps management was taking to improve the situation. The 
picture thus painted was one of a management aggressively moving 
to denl with a series of problems, most of which had been listed as 
excuses for poor 1967 and 1968 earnings as well. While management 
was in all likelihood attempting to improve the situation, no indication 
was given of the desperateness of the circumstances. 

The discussion thus far has dealt principally with railroad opera­
tions. However, management in its statements regarding 1969 earnings 
results pointed out that the Great Southwest-Arvid a-Buckeye group 
had increased its contribution to consolidated earnings to $53 million, 
21 percent over the 1968 level. A very careful reading of the report to 
shareholders would further show that the growth came entirely in 
Great Southwest. As described earlier, this company's ability to sustain 
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that rate of growth was in serious question in light of the nature of 
the earnings being reported and the efforts being made to generate 
immediate earnings at the expense of future operations. The thenrecent 
action in calling off Great South'west's proposed public issue because of 
the feared effect of forced disclosure of such factors certainly brings 
into clear focus their critical importance. Instead of warning the 
shareholders about this, Saunders, in his annual letter told them: 

The impressive performance of our real estate subsidiaries is described in this 
report. Ineome of $137 million-derived from real estate operations, investments, 

'and tax payments from subsidiaries was used to support our railroad operations 
during the past year. 

These assets have proved invaluable to us and we are confident of their continued 
success. Their' health and strength will enable us to use them in our financing 
program for 1970. 

While "renewed emphasis was given to diversification through 
growth of [Great Southwest] in order to broaden the company's 
base of earnings," no information was given whereby the investor 
could judge the quality of that subsidiary's overstated earnings.384 

DISCLOSURES RELATING TO 1970 EARNINGS 

Announcement of earnings for the first quarter of 1970 came on 
April 22, 1970, amidst preparation for the $100 million debenture 
offering. While the disclosure requirements on the part of the company 
were not increased because there was an impending offer, it seems 
apparent that the liabilities t.hat could arise from the offering, affecting 
not only the company but others involved in the underwriting process, 
had an impact on the degree of disclosure made. 

The Wabash exchange involving a $51 million profit and the 
Clearfield Bituminous Coal intercompany profit of $17.2 million 
were both of such a size and impact on the disastrous first quarter 
results that they could not safelv be ignored. While in the initial 
drafts of the release announcing the earnmgs for the period disclosure 
as to the items was buried near the end of the release, it was eventually 
pushed up to the front at the insistence of attorneys for the company 
and the underwriters. However, disclosure as to the Wabash exchange 
did not extend so far as to indicate the manufactured nature of that 
$51 million gain, involving as it did acceleration of a transaction 
which was to have occurred later in 1970, nor did it encompass infor­
mation as to the very significant benefits Penn Central had given up 
to enable it to thus paint the first qua.rter earnings picture. Likewise, 
the disclosure that the Transportation Co. statements included an 
intercorporate profit of $17 million represented improved disclosure. 
However, that improvement did not extend so far as to indicate that 
the loss on railway operations was $100 million that quarter, although 

as. In contrast, at the underwriters' Insistence, the following was included in the olIe.ing circular for the 
$100 million debenture ofi"eling: 

"Great Southwest records sale., ofhnd and buildings in the year of sale and !!"enerally takes the full sales 
plice into income evcn though in many inetances a substantial port,ion of the sales plice is payable over 
an extended period of time and may not include, persona! liability of the purchaser so that the collection of 
the total purchase price may be dependent upon succcs.,ful development of tbe property. A substanti!ll 
portion of Great Southwest.'s real estate sales in 19G~ and IP69 are in this categOl"y and were made to a limit.ed 
number of individuals. The Tax Re.form Act of 1069 and other recent tax rulings have mad~ investments 
in properties of this type legs attractive to iudividuals. For thi, and other reasons, including general ecouomic 
couditions and the difficulty in obtaining mortgage financing, tbere can be no assurance that such salps 
will continue. 

"In the pa.t Great Southwest ba.~ been ablp to make substantial real estate sales by accepting the pre­
payment of sevpral years' interest. However, by rea.'on of a November 1968 release of the Internal Revenue 
Service limiting the deductihility of prepaid interest, the number of prepaid interest transactions may 
decrease substantially. and Great Southwest's sales may be adversely alIected tbereby." 
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~his class of .figur~ was, at the underwriters ins!stence, ~eing included 
m the offermg CIrcular then under preparatIOn. ObvIOusly, a $62 
million figure, the net Transportation Co. result, was bad enough­
$100 million would suggest that the entire amount Pennco 'was then 
trying to borrow for the railroad's use could be wiped out in just one 
quarter! 

CASH FLOW AND FINANCING 

Penn Central's voracious appetite for cash was described in an 
earlier section. As noted therein, this necessitated huge amounts of 
external financing. When the company's ability to borrow ran out, 
it was forced into bankruptcy. Neither of these two elements, the 
current cash drain combined with the reasons for it; and the com­
pany's ability to continue to finance these drains, ,vas presented to 
the shareholders in any meaningful way, although by this point it­
must have been clear to management that these were perhaps the 
most immediately critical factors for investor consideration. 

Realistically, shareholder reliance on management to warn them 
of impending financial disaster in a situation such as that confronting 
Penn Central is necessarily great. There are many intangibles involved, 
and management's knowledge and ability to put the pieces together 
obviously far surpasses that of the average investor. :Financial state­
ments, alone cannot be counted on to do the job, and most certainly 
not the financial statements containing the limitations present in this 
case. Thus, the public was clearly dependent on the willingness of 
Penn Central officers to provide them with a realistic appraisal of the 
situation, and management was not "willing." The issue here, however, 
involves not merely good will or free choice on the part of management, 
but involves obligations imposed under the Federal securities laws. 

During the merger hearings of the early 1960's, Bevan, Symes, and 
others had discussed in considerable detail the difficult financial situ­
ation facing the two roads. Railroad operations, they pointed out, were 
consuming huge amounts of cash. On the other hand, because of the 
poor earnings record, the securities of most railroads had a very poor 
reputation and it was difficult to find sources of fmancing. As a con­
seq~ence they had often been forced to rely on types inappropriate to 
then' needs-for example, short-term sources to meet long-term needs. 
Bevan decried the weakened working capital position, which he sug­
gested, reflected a reduced ability to withstand bankruptcy. Symes 
described some of the repercussions of the earnings and cash situation 
including deferral of necessary capital expenditures and maintenance, 
liquidation of assets, and shrinkage of plant and equipment. 

The merger fina.lly came in 1968 and, with it, glowing public state­
ments about plans for fmancing devices which would be employed. At 
the 1968 annual meeting Bevan reported, "We on the financial side 
are takillg such steps as we deem necessa!y to meet the challenge of a 
new and dynamic company by revamping its corporate structure to 
provide management with the most modern tools available to meet 
future capital requirements, which we know are going to be large." 

, Thus, the public was conditioned to view with favor, rather than 
alarm, the very substantial financing which it was recognized the 
future would bring. Bevan noted plans for the issuance of debentures, 
preferred stock, and some time in the future the possibility of a blanket 
mortgage. Suddenly, the avenues for financing: seemed ven hroll,rI. in 



contrast to the bleak picture painted in the merger hearings. Yet 
realistically, the possibilities of implementin~ such grandiose plans, 
although mentioned throughout the 1968 period, were remote. 

The most specific plans alluded to involved the revolving credit and 
commercial paper. These programs, in fact served as the major post­
merger financing devices. Purported advantages in the use of these 
devices were pointed out. At the 1968 annual meeting Bevan noted 
that "they should provide the flexibility with which to meet suddenly 
arising problems quickly." An August 1968 press release referred to 
the flexibility of commercial paper and the lower interest costs it 
offered in the present market. No mention was made of the risks in­
volved in using short-term capital to meet what were essentially, at 
best, long-term needs.385 

In his speech to the New York Society of Security Analysts on 
September 5, 1968, Saunders presented basically the same favorable 
picture concerning the fmancing outlook. Yet, just a week earlier 
Bevan had written him a memorandum describing the critical cash 
situation at the time of the merger, and saying that the difficulties in 
overcoming this problem had been compounded by a $48 million deficit 
on railroad operations in the first 6 months of 1968,386 and a cash loss 
of $131 million in the first 8 months of the veal'. "This drastic cash 
drain is going to have a very serious effect, not only this year, but cer­
tainly through 1969." The entire commercial paper and revolving 
credit lines would be absorbed and Penn Central would require 
nnother $125 to $150 million before the end of 1968, Bevan had 
indicated. 

The first words in the 1968 annual report to shareholders were: 
"The cover sculpture symbolizes Penn Central as a strong and dy­
namic company, supported by the many different elements that 
comprise its diverse interests." No mention of financing, positive or 
negative, was made. 

At the 1969 shareholders meeting, Bevan was again assigned to 
make the financial presentation. He boasted of the company's ability 
to raisc substantial amounts of money required by the merger, $450 
million to date, despite a difficult financial market. Commercial paper 
outstanding had reached $150 million-market acceptance was "uni­
formly good" and the company had no diffi.{;lllty in disposing of the 
paper, he reported. The company had just asked the ICC to approve 
an increase from $100 million to $300 million in the revolving credit 
plan. The use of short-term maturities was "extremely advantageous" 
because they could be refinanced later on a long-term basis at lo\ver 
rates than available in the present market. He expressed publicly the 
company's "appreciation and deep gratitude" to its banks for their 
vote of confidence and cooperation at a time when the market for 
money was very tight. He also noted that Penn Central was now 
going into the Eurodollar market for the first time, speaking also of 
this in glowing terms. This was mid-lVIay and, internally, the financial 
problems were a matter of great concern. Yet the public was left with 

:IS> In a discussion with a railroad analyst in June 1968, Bevan suggested the blanket mortgage as an offset 
to the short-term debt currently being floated, because of the danger of overextending in shOlt-tenn se­
curities. This danger wns not. however, expressed to the public. Actually, the short-term/long-tenn distinc­
tion i< generally drawn between funds put into such items as inventories or accounts receivable, Which will be 
liquidated within a short penod. and those invested in plant or equipment where the funds for repayment 
are generated over a long period of time. The situation here, where the money is going to dividends and 
operating losses, which themselves will never generate a return, obviously presents a particnlar problem . 

• ;8 This was all in<tance where, for internal purposes, management was using the foll railroad loss, rather 
than the far more favorable figures being given to the public. 
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the impression that banks and the institutions which bought com­
mercial paper thought very highly of Penn Central. The poor reputa­
tion noted in the merger hearings seems to have evaporated. The 
deception being practiced on these lenders who purportedly looked 
with favor on the company, and the huge amounts of the borrowed 
funds going into nonproductive uses were decidedly not items which 
management was endeavoring to point out to its shareholders. 

The 1969 annual report was sent to the shareholders in March 
1970. Perhaps reflecting an attitude that if you can't say something­
good, don't say anything, there was no reference in the textual material 
to the financing situation. 

By the shareholders meeting in May 1970, Bevan's enthusiasm 
had blunted somewhat. He noted that the cash position was tight,387 
basically because of the capital needs of themerger,388 he suggested, 
and the company was reviewing all expenditures very carefully. How­
ever, the arranging of $935 million in financing over the past 2 years 
was an "outstanding accomplishment" considering the tight state of 
the money market.3B9 Again he thanked the commercial and invest­
ment bankers for their cooperation.390 

Bevan admitted that the big increase in debt had increased base 
and fixed charges markedly: 

On the other hand, a substantial proportion of this debt is short or medium 
term in nature. Therefore, when market conditions change . . . we should be in 
a position to lengthen our maturities and reduce our fixed charges accordingly. 
We will not be locked into high cost debt for a long period of time for this portion 
of our indebtedness. 

He did not indicate that by this point the runoff of short-term com­
mercial paper, which immediately preceded and contributed to the 
final collapse, was in full swing.391 He did mention, however, that, 
after the sale of the $100 million Pennco bond issue expected in a few 
days,392 the major portion of the 1970 estimated financing requirements 
would be met. A shareholder present at the meeting commented that 
some Wall Street houses were saying that Penn Central would need 
another $100 million after that and wondered whether the company 
had the borrowing power. Saunders indicated that he did not think 
anyone could answer at this time the question of whether Penn Central 
would need more money. There was no mention that approaches had 
already been made to the Federal Government for emergency 
assistance. 

The foregoing statement was clearly misleading with respect to the 
developing financial crisis. Investors were also given very little other 
information to direct their attention to this situation. Bevan had 
earlier stressed the importance of working capital 393 as an indicator 
of financial health. Be had also stated in the merger hearings: 

In the case of the railroads debt due within one year is not included in current 
liabilities, although it is now reported as a separate item in ICC reports. This is 

m This was a p~rennial complaint, but he gAve no indication that financing had been stretched to the 
limit. 

"; This was very clearly not the major cause of the drain. 
'" $245 million in debt bad been paid off durin" the same period. 
a .. He neglected to mention the difficulties the Penn Central organization bad faced recently in obtaining 

fm.ncing, the exhaustion of the bon-owing capacity of the Transportation Co. and the necessity to now 
finance indirectly througb such subsidiaric.~ as Penuco and Penn Central International, operations whicb 
would obviou51y also have their borrowing Jimit. •. 

• " The revised offering Circular, dated tho. sarne day, did make sucb a disclosure. Tbe underwriters were 
writing the one presentation; Bevan wa< wliting the other. 

'" By this point (l\by 12) it was problematical whether the issue could bc marketed. It was only 9 days 
latcr that Bevan met wi th the bankers to tell them the issue could not be floated. 

313 Wnrlrina ,..~nitt.:ll a ..... , ... 1 .. ,.~ .. - ..... -. ~--- ... - '., - . .. - .-, .. 
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contrary to standard accounting procedure and the practice in other industries, 
and in my judgment gives a completely false picture, since obviously there is no 
difference between one type of liability and another if both have to be paid in the 
same period of time. 

HQwever, in the annual repQrt to. sharehQlders Penn Central 
cQntinued to. classify it as lQng-term debt,394 rather than as a current 
liability,395 thereby imprQving repQrted wQrking capital. . 

Perhaps even mQre impQrtant than the wQrking capital situatiQn 
was the rapid exhaustiQn Qf the SQurces Qf credit available to. Penn 
Central. The public statements previQusly described definitely shQwed 
the PQsitive side, with no. indicatiQn the limit was fast apprQaching, 
althQugh this matter was QbviQusly Qf CQncern internally. Each annual 
repo.rt mcluded, in a graphic fQrm, a statement Qf SQurce and a:pplica­
tiQn of funds for the year, but the informatiQn cQntained therein was 
so general as to. be vrrtually useless.396 For example, no. indicatiQn 
was given as the the level Qf nQncash earnings. CQnsidering the ad­
mitted impQrtance Qf the maturity schedule, and the heavy reliance Qn 
relatively shQrt-term debt in situatiQns where long-term finarcing 
was called fQr, an item in the SQurce and applicatiQn of funds labelled 
"financing" is nQt very .infQrmative, and this is doubly true in a 
CQmpany like Penn Central where such diverse activities as railroad 
QperatiQns and real estate develQpment and sales are being cQmbined. 
Actually the co.mpany did prQvide mQre meaningful figures fQr its Qwn 
internal purPQses, althQugh these were not available to. the general 
public.397 

Other financial statements were scarcely mQre useful than the 
so.urce and applicatiQn Qf funds. As nQted earlier, lenders had turned 
mQney Qver to. Penn Central, withQut much inquiry into. the cQmpany's 
ability to repay, because Qf the very great assets and equity Qf the 
firm. How was the average investQr to measure such factQrs? While the 
acco.untants' report generally indicates the CPA firm's QpiniQn as to. 
whether the balance sheets and related statements Qf earnings and re­
tained earnings "present fairly" the infQrmatiQn cQntained therein, 
such statements do. nQt reflect current eCQnomic values Qf the assets in­
vQlved nor do. they attempt to. do. SQ. Thus, at least insQfar as the 
balance sheet is cQncerned, it appears to' be Qf very limited value to. the 
average investQr in gauging the value Qf Penn Central as a gQing CQn­
cern.30S Further, if the investor is nQt knowledgeable abQut accQunting 
practices be might even be misled by the infQrmatiQn cQntained 
therein. This is particularly a danger in a railroad CQmpany where 
fixed assets lQom large in the balance sheet. 

The management of Penn Central clearly recQgnized the limitatiQns 
in such figures, as reflected in their frequent cQmplaints about the 
highly. unsatisfactQry rate Qf return being earned Qn railrQad assets. 
LQW rates Qf return mean low eCQnQmic values Qn those assets. In 

... Penn Central broke this category down into long·tenn debt <lue within 1 year and long·tenn debt due 
aftpr 1 year. 

'" Tn the cnse of commercial paper, tot.aling nearly $200 million by yearend 1969. even Goldman Saeh. 
had to a,k where that item appeared in the balance sheet. The answer was that roughly hall WI\., inr.\udpd 
in current liabilities and the remainder in long-telm debt due in more than 1 year. although all was in feet 
due within 1 year. . 

." See exhibit I 0-2 at end of this section. 
'" At the present time. the SEC requires detailed statements of source and application of funds under 

article llA of Regulation S-X in registration statements and reports filed pursuant to the 1933 Act and the 
1934 Act. Further, thrOlll!h the proxy rules (Rule 14a-3(b)(2) of the 1934 Act). the SEC also requires such 
infonnaHon to be included in annual reports (Section 14A of the 1934 Act and Rule 14a-3(b)(2) thereunder,) 
to sharehelders . 

.. , At December 31. 1969, Penn Central's balance sbeet showed shareholders' equity of $2,800 million, 
whH. t.h. mRr1rP.t value of the outstanding stock was only $700 million. At prpsent prices. market value 



light of this, Saunders' suggestion at the 1969 shareholders meeting 
that, in the railroad, Penn Central held an asset which could not be 
replaced for less than $15-$20 billion (book value was perhaps $3-$331 
billion) was unconscionable.399 This is an example of the situation 
described at the beginning of this section where the distinction was 
drawn between technical accuracy and what was reasonably conveyed. 
While it may perhaps be true that the asset could not be replaced 
for less than $15-$20 billion, the property clearly was not worth 
anything remotely resembling that figure and based on economic 
factors no one would replace it at such a cost. 

Another difficulty which reflected on the financing area was that 
the company's assets were already heavily pledged. It is true that 
the company did indicate in the notes to the balance sheet in the 
1969 annual report that: 

Substantially all investments and properties included in the consolidated 
:-;heet and subHtantially all the properties of the transportation company. toget.her 
with certain of its investments. principally Pennsylvania Co .... have been 
pledged as a security for loans or arc otherwise restricted under indentures and 
10a11 agreements. '00 

This represented a marked deterioration in position over the prior 
year, although that was not stated.401 Furthermore, the burying of 
this information in footnote 7 to the financial statements does not 
meet the requirements of a company which is on the verge of collapse, 
because of the inability to market further long-term debt, to fully 
disclose the imminent danger to its shareholders . 
. Considering Penn Central's financial predicament, it was mis­

leading for management to continue to make dividend payments.402 
When the practice was finally stopped, although it was long overdue, 
management, in a letter to shareholders dated December 1, 1969, 
explaining the reasons, cited "the necessity to conserve cash in keeping 
with responsible management." The possibility of renewed dividend 
payments in 1970 ,vas held ont as a favorable trend in operating 
results. Thus, although dividends were stopped, the true nature of. 
t.he crisis was still concealed. "Responsible management" was merely 
taking prudent and timely steps to conserve cash, it was suggested. ' 
No indication was given that the action was long overdue and t.he 
situation was critical,403 

That letter also pointed out that Penn Central had spent nearly 
$600 million for "merger connected capital projects" since the merger. 
Reports filed with the ICC show that merger related capital expendi­
tures were $43 million in 1968 and $54 million in 1969, far short of the 
figure given above. This illustrated another difficulty the investor 
faced in assessing the financing situation. Huge sums were borrowed, 
it is t.rue, but the investor had been led to expect this-he had been 
warned that capital expenditures would be abnormally high in the 
postmerger period, because of merger-related projects. These expendi­
t·ures of course were to be temporary in nature. This theme was rein­
forced by postmerger statements about the very rapid progress being 

'" He repeated it however in his speech before the Financial Analysts Federation in October 19G9 . 
• '" Generally .accepted accounting principles clearly require such 11 disclosure, so the company was not 

~oing out of its way to make fuji disclosure in light of the perilous condition of the company. See also the 
Commission's Regulation S-X, Rule 3-19 

", The prior year's report did indicate that "substantial portions" of both categories of assets were re­
slrictrrL Apparently, however. tbe final limit had nl)t yet been reached. 

'" Dividends far exceeded income of the Transportation Co. for both 1968 and 1969. 
UD The letter was rife with what had to be deliberate overoptimism. It is included in its entirety as Exhibit 

J G-3. This letter should be contrasted to the toue In other events OCCUrring the slll1le day-Day's letter to _J::..,lInl'ln_ ( .... 1",.., __ ..I "' ___ ._~ ____ • >.-' ... _. _. . 
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made in physically implementing the merger. To state that mergel'­
related capital expenditures were $600 million was definitely mis­
leading. This figure apparently included all capital expenditures, the 
bulk of which would be recurring in the future and were not temporary 
in nature. Many were nonrailroad. Further, the rate of capital ex­
penditures in the postmel'ger period was in line with the expenditures 
in the immediate premerger period. And the statement ill a special 
press release put out for year-end editions and dated December 19, 
1969, to the effect that capital expenditures in 1970 wohld be substan­
tially less than in 1969 and suggesting that tlus was because of a de­
cline in merger costs and plans to improve equipment utilization is 
misleading. It is obvious that the real reason was simply lack of 
financing. . 

The favorable picture painted throughout the entire postmerger 
period of the state of the road's track, facilities, and equipment must 
also be considered misle:1ding in tending to divert attention from 
financing problems.404 If the truth were told, the condition of the plant 
and equipment was highly inadequate, causing serious· service prob­
lems, and this was because the company could not provide the 
financing to do better. 

Further indications of financial strength were also present. On 
January 21,1970, Pennco announced it was acquiring additional shares 
of stock for the $25 million owed to it by Great Southwest. This 
forgiveness of indebtedness would hardly appear to be the action of a 
company whose parent was deeply concerned about where it could 
obtain additional cash to keep operating. 

THE PROFESSIONAL ANALYST 

It is very clear that the average sh:1reholder could not be expected 
to make sense out of the information selectively provided to him by 
management. This is further emphasized by the fact that, as noted 
earlier, apparently the directors of the company, who had access to 
considerably more information than did the public, were unable them­
selves to piece together the then existing situation. 

As indicated, the problem was apparently in part inadequate in­
formation and in part the complexity of the situation. While the pro­
fessional analyst should not be the standard to which disclosure is 
directed, examination of what the professional is able to discem, and 
how, is enlightening. The fact that some astute :1nalysts were able, 
using information from a variety of sources and refieetin.g an aware­
ness that very significant information seemed to be lacking, to obtain a 
fairly reasonable assessment of the situation, militates altainst charges 
made by some persons that criticism levelled toward 1'enn Central 
i.nvolves an unjustifiable use of hindsight. 

It is clear that over the postmerger period Penn Central developed 0. 
large "credibility gap" among sigluficflnt ·members of the investment 
community. It is equally clear that management recognized the prob­
lem. On occasion it went on the offensive. For example, in late 19G9 
some deterioration was showing up in the company's earnings and 

'O! This tendency appears to have been exacerbated by Penn Central's desires to convince the shipplnf 
pnblic, through press releases, that its service was improving. 

However, even before that time, on Sept. 5, 1968, Sannders told the New Yor];: Society of Secnrity An~I)"11' 
"oue of our greatest accomplishments in preparation fm our merger was the remarkable tmnsfonnatJon "~I 

- . • •. u. ··-" ___ 4. "'",H"oUnu I.h"t$l.l billion had been expanded on equipment by II,· 
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operational figures, and rumors were spreading about Penn Central's 
condition. 

Saunders, appearing before the Financial Analyst's Federation 1969 
fall conference in October, opened his prepared speech as follows: 

I don't know whether I sholild ask you to give me a medal for bravery 01' folly 
in appearing before this very influential group today. At least you should be grate­
ful that our merger has provided you so much to write about in the past year and It 
half. Penn Central is enjoying the dubious honor of being probably the most talked 
about company in the railroad industry, if not the business world. 

One phenomenal thing that our merger has achieved is that it has produced a 
host of experts on Penn Central many of whom seem to know far morc about om 
business than anyone 011 our payroll. 

He then moved on to discuss again the industry: 
Speaking to a group of financial analysts at this time is n; particularly challellg­

ing assignment for any railroad inasmuch as it seems obvious that mcmbers of 
your profession are not overly optimistic about our industry. But if I lIlay say so, I 
fear that some of us in our concentration on figures and statistics somctimes tend 
to overlook and underestimate many good things which are taking place in Olll' 

·jndllstry. 

After some discussion, he went on to treat Penn Central individually, 
stressing the positive steps the company was taking to improve service, 
10\"er costs and increase profits. An article to the same effect, bused on 
an interview with Saunders, entitled "Penn Central Sees a Light in the 
Tunnel," appeared in Business Week on November 22, 1969. He was 
quoted as saying that Penn Central's problems had been exaggerated 
out of all proportion on Wall Street and in the press, and that un­
founded rumors were generating pressure on the stock. Four days after 
Ilppearance of I;he article the directors voted to omit the payment of 
the fourth quarter dividend. 

The credibility gap was very obvious by this point. However, 
investment community dismay at the situation had begun as early as 
September 1968 when Saunders gave a talk before the New York 
Socicty of Security Analysts. One analyst characterized the speech in 
It report as follows: "Management's recent presentation at the NYSSA 
was generally disappointing. Wbile many of the known profit poten­
tials were discussed, there was an abun4ance of vague, unsure and. 
contradictory answers." Forbes magazine, indicating that the group 
\\'IlS looking for answers for the sharp decline in the stock's price in 
Ihe past 2 months, labelled Saunders' performance as a "letdown" in 
lin nrticle entitled "Weak Script" appearing in its October 1, 1968, 
j,o;l.1C. Other examples of analyst concern can also be cited. Rumors 
t\'CI'C c.irculating widely by the summcr of 1969 about a likely e1imina­
lion of the dividend, and by September even Equity Research Asso­
"illles, which had distributed a favorable report on Penn Central in 
.TaIiUIlTY ~05 and continued to recommend the company through the 
~!'III', indicated that "ERA hates to give up on this one but v"e have 
'!i for now. The 'explosive' potential we spoke of as recently as last 
.I·,·k is still there and will one day be realized, but before that day 

'L\"agement, hearing the report was underway and fearing an adverse report, had been working very 
.: with the ano.lyst involved. An interesting incident took place in this connection. David Wilson, 
.:. o. cQunscl!or Penn Oentral, called Dechert, Price and Rhoads, ontside connsel, on January 3, the 
. '·r the report was issned and 3 days after the Madison Sqnare Garden transaction was consummated 
. Ilro"5 to whether Penn Oentral would have to make any statement about the profit recorded inMSG. 

·';l.ll1dum indicates that: 
. . ,oU11<11 agree it has no duty to its own sbareholders to do so, despite the magnitude olthe transaction 

·01 tho. accuracy of tbe ERA statement against the background of the rather optimistic release by 
.. i.!<lrrs" [probably his year-end statement issued on December 26,19681. 

-cully. Penn Ccntral Celt that if thev "",,. thn ; .. ,----.. . 
~w.II __ 
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dawns we now believe the dividend will be cut or eliminated." An 
analyst from Spencer Trask in early August pointed to the substantial 
and increasing cash drain from operations as the most significant 
single indication of the company's progress, suggesting that "reported 
eflrnings are a meaningless guide to the position of the company." 
Continuing deterioration in passenger and freight operations and the 
continued dividend payments were making necessary sales of prime 
real estate, extraordinary dividends and debt financing, he reported. 

It is clear that if Penn Central management had been meeting its 
responsibilities to shareholders, it would have been alerting share­
holders to these same factors. 

Other professionals were also evidencing awareness of critical 
problems which were not being stressed to shareholders. After a visit 
with Perlman in August 1969, rVlorgan Guaranty Bank analysts came 
to the following conclusion: 406 

(1) Onr earlier expectations of a rebound in rail operations by the second 
quarter failed to ocem because of continuing merger costs. (2) We are increasingly 
concerned about the weak consolidated financial position in view of the fact that 
approximately 30 percent-40 percent of reported earnings are estimated to be 
of a noncash nature. resulting in a situation whereby the payment of common 
stock dividends might well be from bank lines or short-term commercial paper 
borrowings. (:~) Our 1969 estimate of $4.75 per share now implies that manage­
ment might resort to additional nonrailroa,d sources to meet this objective and 
to raise additional working capital-in this regard management could well decide 
to >,;ell more nonraill'oad investments, that is, Great Southwest Corp., Norfolk 
and 'iVe"tern common stock, or a variety of other low cost assets. While such 
an occmrence would have been indicat.ed to us early in the year, we feel the 
qnality of t.hese efLrnings will be SUbstantially lessened, and more important.ly 
such an occurrence would mark the second straight year of railroad deficits in 
excess of $122 million. (4) The apparent lack of harmony in top and middlo 
management is gradually being resolved, though we feel this is still Bomewhai; 
of an inhibiting factor in achieving operational improvement and also in ob­
taining a successor to Mr. Perlman who will retire in October 1970. (5) Manage­
ment in ~eneral continues to divulge little in the way of analytical information, 
thus leading to investor confusion as to the extent of Penn Central's overall 
problem and resources. 

The contrasts bet\veen these impressions and the official company 
position, described earlier, should be noted. 

Over the ensuing months, the analysts at Chase Manhattan Bank 
continued to view Penn Central 'with suspicion. A check with certain 
shippers in late 1969 indicated that there was still much dissatisfaction 
with service. After reviewing operating results for the fourth quarter 
of 1969, these analysts wTote that the credibility gap between manage­
ment and the investment community seemed to be widening and 
contrasted the poor results 'with recent statements by management. 
They further commented on th.e "lack of meaningful published infor­
mation and the reticence on the part of management to thoroughly 
discuss the now-sensitive area of railroad operations," indicating that 
this further complicated attempts to assess near term prospects and 
the status of certain recognized variables, such as business lost because 
of poor service, high per diem costs and merger costs and savings. 
In like vein, another analyst, this one from Black & Co., wrote in 
early 1970: "with the credibility gap existing in this railroad and, 
keeping in mind the many unique adjustments which this railroad has 
made and can continue to make, it is evident that the course of their 
earnings over the next several years cannot be accurately determined." 



In another development at about the same time, an execnti ve of 
Alleghany Corp., a large Penn Central shareholder, expressed concern 
about the trend he had discerned: 

It is obvious that there is a timetable beyond which the situation can no longer 
continue, that is, railroad operating losses aggregating in excess of $10 to $15 
million per month can only be sustained for a short period of time before in­
solvcncy inevitably results. It is for tins rcason that I wished to speak to Mr. 
Bevan concerning what unhocked assets or resources, if you will, are left to Penn 
Central to use as a source of funds to support inevitable continuing railroad 
deficit operations in 1970. . 

He further noted in the memorandum, which was addressed to 
Alleghany Corp.'s chief executive, a member of Penn Central's board, 
that it would be unfair and possibly clangerous from a director's 
point of view for Penn Central not to make full and clear disclosure 
of the railroad losses and its overall financial position in the 1969 
annun.l report. 

While the average shareholder would have neither the ability to put 
the information together nor the ready access to certain types of 
information relating to the company which could be gathered from 
various sources,407 shareholders could often benefit from work done 
by the, professionals, particularly if they were active customers or 
otherwise in a situation to command this knowledge. Thus, one, a 
well-known attendee at the meetings of various corporations, asked 
at the Penn Central annual meeting held 6 weeks before the company 
filed for reorganization: 

It would be very reassuring to your stockholders, Mr. Chairman, in view also, 
of the comments of some Wall Street observers, if you would comment OR the 
solvency of the Pennsylvania Railroad in light of the heavy deficit with which it is 
presently afflicted. 

, Saunders' response was analogous to that he gave at the September 
1969 analysts' convention noted earlier in this section. He pointed to 
the company's large assets and equity. He admitted Penn Central 
could not continue to lose money as it had in 1969 for an indefinite 
period but added: . 

I do not want to make you think it is going to be easy. It is not. It is going to be 
a very difficult task, there are terrific challenges here; there are terrific potentiali­
ties; there are terrific assets; and it is certainly the intention of management not 
only to keep this company solvent, as you say, but to make it grow and prosper. 

He then went on to point out that while there were bleak aspects, 
there were bright aspects also, which he proceeded to describe in some 
considerable detail. 

The shareholder, apparently unconvinced, tried again: 
Perhaps it would be helpful at this time if I asked the question in a slightly 

different way and that is: Can we keep out of bankruptcy without another 
h~hl~~~? ' 

She went on to suggest, as others had done earlier, a policy of full 
disclosure in order to gain more Government assistance-that the ICC 
should be told just how much the company needed the then pending 
rate increase. Saunders said he felt that he had already answered her 
concern, and he did not feel it was necessary to go as far as she was 
suggesting with the ICC since they were cognizant of the industry's 
'" For example, reports filed with the TCe and the Ameliean Associst.inn 01 Railroads. indllstry st.at.isties. 

contacts with other professionsls, with Pellll Centml management, with ol!icials of other railroads, with 
shippers, and so forth. 
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problems. and anxious to keep it strong and viable. The critical 
financial condition was never clearly revealed. 

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS 

It is doubtful that any knowledgeable investor bought stock in 
Penn Central or its predecessors in recent decades without recognizing 
that there was some risk involved that the company could go bankrupt 
at some future date.408 The risk such investors should not have been 
expected to take, however, was the risk that they would not be given 
relevant information available to management to enable them to assess 
the fact that that day was fast approachin.g and finally was imminent. 
Even less should they have had to accept the risk that management 
was actively taking steps to conceal that information. Hope springs 
eternal, perhaps, and suggestions that there eventually might be a 
turnaround in industry problems, based largely on hoped for Govern­
mept action, might ring a responsive chord in the investor, but if 
there was a significant danger that the compan.y could not survive 
that long, the shareholder had the right to be so apprised. The feeling 
that, if the truth were know, investors or creditors could not be 
expected to furnish additional needed capital, is scarcely a valid excuse 
for such deception, although it appe~red to be a major factor propelling 
management's lack of candor.409 NClther can management be excused 
by the fact that their attempts at deception were partially recognized 
by a disbelieving corps of professionals and that to some extent this 
filtered through the market, as reflected in substantial declines in the 
price of the stock. 

It is clear from the preceding discussion that, throughout the entire 
period from February 1, 1968, until June 1970, when top management 
and Penn Central parted company, the public was being fed misleading 
information on a virtually continuous basis. Disclosure was made only 
to the extent it was not feasible to do otherwise, because it could not 
be hidden. The tone presented to the public throughout 1968 was one of 
great optimism with respect to all aspects of the business--'--financing, 
earnings, operations, etc., an optimism clearly not justified by the 
facts. This picture was altered only when facts about the service prob­
lems became known anyway. The company then admitted the ex­
istence of these merger-related problems and their related earnings 
impact, but indicated repeatedly that the situation had turned the 
cornel' and things were definitely on the upswing. The rest of the 
picture was rosy. The diversification program '-vas a success, and there 
was no indication given of any significant problems in the fiDancing 
area. The policies in reporting earning;s assured that the full impact of 
railroad losses would be hard to detect. 

It was not until early 1970, when the end WaS pear, that the rosiness 
was tempered. There was no mention yet of financing problems or the 
course of conduct being pursued in the earnings area. The company 
did give increased indication of problems in the critical railroad 
segment of the business, although management rejected internal 
suO'gestions that it might be in the economic interest of the company 
to lay these problems bare in their entirety. Losses were only partially 
disclosed and considerable emphasis was being put on steps being taken 

t., There were unsophisticated investors, however, who apparently viewed the company as a real blue 
.•.• - _'l..:_'- .... _..1 __ :..1 A~ ...... ;~ ....... ~C' '" .. Tn.,...,,, "",arc anrl WtII.C: I"nmnlp.tp.lv ~nund. . 
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to remedy the situation-steps which could not realistically be 
expected to yield results in time to prevent disaster . 
. By this point, in early 1970, some people in the Penn Central 
o~'ganization were becoming concerned about potential liability if 
dIsclosure was not made. The focus was clearly not on what they 
should disclose to the public to fairly apprise them of the situation, 
but on what they were forced to disclose because the dangers of 
nondisclosure were just too great. Indeed, the fact that some dis­
closures, which should have been made many months before, were 
now finally being made, is a good indication of just how desperate 
the situation was, as people scrambled for some degree of protection 
for themselves. Collapse of the company would certainly bring this 
information out and require explanations for prior concealment. 
Nonetheless, it was still difficult to convince top management of 
the necessity, and there was constant conflict. O'Herron objected 
strongly to the initial draft of the 1969 annual report, indicating that 
it "essentially duplicates the same bland and relatively optimistic 
tone that was featured in previous years' reports," and that it did 
not convey the true character of 1969 results. "Let's tell the real 
story without all the nuances and details and establish a credibility 
which will be useful when things really do get better." Wilson, the 
legal department's SEC expert, raised cries of anguish at the two 
ini tial drafts of the report and announced he refused to take any 
responsibility for the material contained therein, further indicating 
that the courts ha.d made"it clear that material in an annual report 
could be viewed as evidence of a practice or intention on the part of 
management to mislead investors in violation of the antifraud pro­
visions of the Federal securities laws.4lO He was also disturbed by 
certain disclosures concerning Great Southwest to be made in the 
Pennco offering circular, stating: 

"If everything turns out OK for GSW and none of the plp-ns and programs OIl 
which its carnings have been reported comes to grief, all this worrying does not 
matter. But management should recognize that they are taking a substantial 
business risk in attempting to shortcut disclosure in connection with opemtions 
slich as GSW." 

He again referred to court decisions dealing with such matters. 
Other instances in this period of management's propensity not to 

disclose and contra-pressures to provide better disclosure could 
also be given. A First Boston representative, describing their ex­
perience in connection with the underwriting, testified as follows: 

"And because the Penn Central needed this financing once we had established 
that we were going to obtain the necessary disclosures, we were in a position of 
some strength as fttr as negotiations over exactly what would be disclosed would 
be concerned. They sparred with us for awhile and finally we established thc posi­

. t.ion that we wcre going to have an offering circular that we were satisfied with. 
"The basis of t.he problem was that Penn Ccntral was concerned that we 

would produce an offcring circular that would not make a good selling document. 
They wcre concerned about producing a·document that was a sclling document 
and at this point we were beginning to be more interested in producing a document 
t.hat wa" a disclosure document. 

"So there was a basic difference of objective at this point in time. And conse­
quently, information wa.~ not being volunteered. We would have to ask specific 
questions. We had to make sure we were a.~king the right questions." 

The information contained in the 1970 debenture offering circular 
did represent a considerable improvement in disclosure. And, it 

410 In [mother memorandum orenBr€'d at R.hont. thp. SA.mp. t.imp. hp Warru!.n that, I'D.,.ta;n In'n,......,,,,Hnn ,.,,,,In 
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might be noted, like the earlier aborted Great Southwest offering, 
when the truth was known, the issue would not sell. 

EXHIDIT I G-l 
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EXHIBIT IG-2 
PENN CENTRAL CONSOLIDATED SOURCE & APPLICATION OF FUNDS/YEAR 1968 (;n mm;Qnsl 

SOURCE APPLICATION 

S 55 Dividends 
Earnings Irom Opcralions $ 90 

Deprec.iallon, Amortizalion and Dcplelion 136 

280 . Aeduclion 01 Long· Term Debl 

Financing 457 

306 Addilions. 10 Property 

·Sal~s 01 Capllal Assets and Olher Sources (nel) 32 
128 New Haven Assets Acquired 

Worl(ing Capital Decrease 
(cJltctuding debl due wilhin one year) 54 



203 

EXHmIT IG-2-Continued 

Penn Central Consolidated Sourc~ & AppJic~tjon of Funds / Year 1969 (;n mHlions) 

.,., Source Applica,ic;>n 

Earnings from Ordinary Operations S 4 
S 43 Olvidends 

Depreciation, Amortization and Oeplelion 133 

302 Reduction 01 Long-Term Debt 

Frnancing 635 257 Additions 10 Operating Property 

107 Jnveslmenls-Secu~ilies and Propertlos (Nell 

36 Charges 10 Reserves and Other "uems INtI) 

27 ~~~~~~~n~a8~'~,' ~~~~~s~ne Year) 

TOTAL 5772 TOTAL $772 

EXHlBI'l' IG-3 
PENN CI'NTRAL. 

December 1,1969. 
DEAn STOCKHoLDEn: I am writing you regarding the action taken by the Board 

of Directors on dividends at its November 26 meeting, and to report to you on the 
current status of the Company, particularly our railroad operation~. 

The Board decided that the total dividend for 1969 would be the $1.80 per share 
already paid, and to omit a payment for the fourth quarter. It will, however, give 
consideration during 1970 to dividend payments, either in cash or in stock or both. 

This action was prompted by thc necessity to conscrve cash, in keeping with rc­
sponsible management. Current indications are that railroad operating losses will 
show a favorable trend in the fourth quarter, but obviously the railroad strike 
which might occur. this month would have an adverse impact on earnings for this 
period. 

The following summary shows how your 1969 dividend compares with annual 
payments in recent yeal's: 
1968_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ $2. 40 11964_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ $1. 25 
1967 _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 2. 40 1963_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ .. 50 
1956_________________________ 2.30 1962_________________________ .25 
1965_________________________ 2.00 1961-58______________________ .25 

On a conslidated basis, Penn Central earned $17.6 million, or 73 cents a share 
for the first 9 months of this year. 

In this same period, our railroad had a passenger deficit of $73 million on the 
basis of fully allocated costs, or approximately $47 million in direct costs. But 
for this, the railroad would have been in the black. Other important factors in 
our rdilroad deficit were exceptionally high costs (most of which are nonrecurring), 
of implementing the consolidation of the former Pennsylvania, New York Central, 

,and New Haven Rg,ilroads into a single system, higher operating expenses inci­
dental to the startup of the merger and inclusion (since January 1, 1969) of the 
New Haven, the impact of inflated costs of wages and supplies and the sharp 
increase in interest rates. 

No compensating increases in freight rates were granted this year until Novem­
ber 18, when a 6 percent increase became effective. Penn Central will gain about 
$7.5 million during this qu.uter from the increase, and about $80 million on an 
annual basis, but we also faee further inflationary wage demands for 1970. It 
will be necessary for the railroad industry to request an additional rate increase 
during the year. 

Penn Central is makina a determined effort to reduce costs and we are showing 
progre~s in this respect. Our ex~cutive payroll is the lowest of any major railroa.d 
as ,1!'"I?~rcenta~e ,of ~o~a! ?o.mpe?Sation. 
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officers and supervisory employees since the merger. We will retire 143 more by 
the end of the year, and every department is being asked to submit a list of 
ca.ndidates who will be eligible in the near future. 

In the fourth quarter, we expect to cut our per diem payments (to other rail­
roads for their freight ca.rs on our lines) by about $6.5 million, and we estimat,p' 
thnt the<;c costs will run some $9 million less than for the la'St . half of 1968. 

In addition, a rccent Supreme Court dccision upholding a time-mileage formub 
for per diem payments is cxpected to become effective in the ncar future and should 
produce additional savings of $16 million in 1970. 

As you are aware, Penn Central is burdened with a far greater passenger service 
deficit than any other railroad, since wc now operate more than a third of all the 
Nation's rail pa..'iSenger service. We are continuing to develop public assistance. 
plans for improving commuter scrvice and cutting operating deficits in the Phila­
delphia, New York, New Jersey, and Boston areas. 

Undcr terms of an agreement executed on November 25, Penn Central will sell 
for $11.1 million its equipment and p:ut of its right-or-way and will receive ap­
proximately $4 million in annual rentals from the States of New York and Connec­
ticnt for its commuter line bctween New York City and New Haven. The two 
States and the Federal Government will spcnd $80 million to acquirc new eqnip­
ment and modernize fncilitieB. 

Our railroad's new Metroliner trains arc producing a 14-percent gain in overall 
passengcr traffic between N ew York and Washington. 

Penn Cent.ral has spcnt nearly $600 million for mergcr-connectcd capitnl 
projects since thc merger of the Pennsylvania and New York Central railroads in 
February 1968. The biggest single new facility for 1969, a $26-million electronic 
classification yard at Columbus, Ohio, will be.opened in December. Several other 
key yards have been expanded to accommodate heavier traffic. 

The largest and most costly of our mergcr projects are now behind us. We have 
combined 32 major terminals and have made virtually all important rail connec­
tions. Thesc new facilities are tools with which we can improve our efficiency and 
productivity in the years ahead. 

Our llew president, Paul A. Gorman, took officc today. He was formerly presi­
dent of Western Electric Company, an organization largcr than Penn Centra!, 
and an exccutive vice president of American Telephone & Telegraph Company. 
Mr. Gorman, I am sure, will give fresh impetus to cost control and management 
efficiency programs. He is recognized as a leadiI).g expert in corporation manage-
ment and we are fortunate to get him. . 

Our diversification program' has been extremcly successful since the former 
Pennsylvania Railroad initiated it in 1963. We have branched out in two direc­
tions-(I) development of our own railroad-related propcrty and (2) acquisition 
of real estate properties in California, Texas, Florida, and Georgia, and a pipelinc 
system in the Northeast. 

We are expanding our wholly owned subsidiary, Buckeye Pipe Line Company, 
which now operates a 7,800-mile distribution network. Buckeye, together with 
our two real estate subsidiaries, Great Southwest Corporation and Arvida Cor­
poration, contributed more than $50 million to our consolidated income during 
the first 9 months of this year. 

Weare in the process of acquiring three companies which will add more than 
$100 million to our revenues next year. Southwest Oil & Refining Company 
operates a 50,000-barrel-per-day refinery and Royal Petroleum Corporation 
wholesales fuel oil and operates a deepwater marine terminal in the New York 
City area. 

Richardson Homes Corporation of Indiana, which is being acquired through 
Great Southwest, a Penn Central subsidiary, has built mobile homes for more than 
25 years. Its 1969 sales volume will reach $2f) million. Richardson has plants in 
Indiana, North Carolina, Texas, and Florida, and is now planning to enter the 
modular home field, for the manufacture and distribution of prefabricated housing. 

I would like to call your attention to legislation pending in Congress which will 
provide Federal aid for passenger-carrying railroads. We are seeking Federal 
assistance to cover deficits incurred in operating passenger trains which cannot 
pay their own way and to finance acquisition of modern passenger equipment. 

Penn Central's best hope for real progress in curtailing its passenger deficit lies 
in this legislation. Propects for its enactment are better than they have ever been. 
I urge you to write immediately to the Members of Congress whom you know or 
represent you asking them to approve this vitally essential measure. Favorable 
action by the gist Congress will be in the public interest as well as your own. 

C1.! ____ .... 1 ..... 

"'J. _: ___ _ 




